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Chairman’s Statement

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group adheres to strategic guidance for development,
continuously introducing new initiatives to shape new momentum
and advantages for development, demonstrating a firm determination
to accelerate the development of new quality productivity. Upholding
the mission of “a healthy life building Hing Yip Holdings”, we are
committed to becoming a leading technology and wellness service
provider in the Greater Bay Area. It focuses on building a “1+X”
industrial system, with the wellness and elderly care business as the
main direction and technology, financial leasing, and civil explosives
business as strategic support. According to the established strategy,
the operating income of the wellness and elderly care business was
able to continue to grow significantly, increasing by approximately
HK$45,417,000 compared to the previous year. Meanwhile, the
financial leasing business continued to deepen its focus on leading
domestic environmental protection businesses and municipal
environmental protection industry segments, resulting in an increase
in operating income of approximately HK$15,389,000. However,
due to reduced market demand and an increase in competitors,
the operating income of the civil explosives business decreased
by approximately HK$70,882,000 compared to the previous year.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, taking into account other
factors, total income of the Group decreased by HK$22,461,000 to
approximately HK$798,962,000, representing a slight decrease of
2.7% compared to last year.

Operating performance of major segments has steadily developed,
with the comprehensive results from continuing operations turning
from loss to profit, increasing by approximately HK$105,884,000
compared to the previous year, representing a substantial increase of
approximately 455.4%. Additionally, the profit from the discontinued
operations of Guangdong Sino Rock Tyco Construction Co., Ltd.”
(“Sino Rock Tyco”) amounted to HK$41,366,000, taking into
account other factors, the Group recorded a decrease in profit of
HK$31,937,000 and a net profit of approximately HK$123,999,000.

After the change of company name as mentioned below, a
memorandum of association and bye-laws with the new company
name was uploaded to the website of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. Save for aforesaid, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

4 HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B2 A B2 5]
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4F#t

TS &

e E)

AEBBIFHIKS|IBERE > FE#EHIE
BESERMBE -FEDR 2RBESN
BEENMREBNRERL BIEFEMER
ANEBERE | ZEHG BIORAEE—TRE
EEERBREE  ZEO0MEN1+X1EXR
FoOUABREEEZEBEATEFA UA
B RMERE RERAVEEREABRKSZE
ZHRTEEE AEEEZEEBELERAEU
SEANBER HIEEFEEMTHAEE
45,417,0007T ; MAEREEB R EIFER
HERNBEENRRERRMBIRFRITEMAD
B BEWAF U EF4HE 15,389,000
TT; AT BRVFEEBRENBEREL 5
FHFEMNTS CEWABLLEFERLDT
#B1870,882,0007T ; BIEZZEZMFE+Z
B=T—HIFE ZEREMERESHER
EEBW AR BEE22,461,0007T » #1549
75#798,962,0007T > tE R F EME2.7% ©

FEIEMBEREXERITER FasdF
BRSSPSR AEEEMABE
105,884,0007T » KRG MNA455.4%; 0 &
BRAERMNELZERAR (MPEHH)
BARIERSEEFE 2 RBFBE41,366,000
TG HEMEEREABRAER LT
B 131,937,000 BB BN BB
123,999,0007T ©

TABLBENE T - UM AS%
B aNEBERERERASDMEIELEE
Bt P R A A B B IE o BR EAIB RSN AR
BINEE X I EEE o



Chairman’s Statement (Continuea)

WELLNESS AND ELDERLY CARE BUSINESS

The Group adheres to the goal of developing a three-tier elderly
care system comprising institutions, communities and households
in Nanhai District, securing its position as the largest institutional
elderly care brand in Foshan City. Throughout the year, we have
strategically expanded to enhance brand influence and promote
high-quality business development. In October 2024, our elderly
apartment opened, adding 700 elderly care beds. As at 31
December 2024, we had a total of 3,425 elderly care beds,
representing an increase of 717 elderly care beds (including 700
beds in elderly department), an increase of approximately 26.5%
year-on-year, with an occupancy rate of approximately 61.1%
(excluding the 700 additional beds at the end of the year: the
occupancy rate was about 76.8%). Additionally, we have 500 elderly
care beds under construction, bringing the total to 3,925 beds upon
completion, making us the enterprise with the largest number of
operational beds in Foshan. At the same time, the Group has 455
medical nursing beds, with an occupancy rate as high as 74.2%.

The Company continues to invest in the construction of elderly
care services and facilities, persistently expanding and renovating
elderly apartments, conducting comprehensive upgrades and
improvements, systematically advancing the upgrading and
expansion of elderly care facilities, and promoting star-level
construction. We have also vigorously promoted the construction
of a standard system, completing the standardization system for
institutional elderly care, laying a solid foundation for industry
expansion. To promote high-quality standardization of business
and deepen the integration of medical and elderly care services,
accelerate the construction of integrated medical and elderly care
facilities and equipment in various branches, and carry out the
informatization upgrading and renovation of rehabilitation hospitals,
and we have successively launched several new departments
featuring geriatric medicine and rehabilitation. The operating
income of our wellness and elderly care business achieved
substantial growth. For the year ended 31 December 2024, this
business segment recorded operating income of approximately
HK$202,858,000, representing a continuous increase of 28.8%
compared to the previous year. For the year ended 31 December
2024, this business segment turned to profitable from loss-making,
recording an operating profit of approximately HK$9,577,000,
representing an increase of 188.2% year-on-year.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continuea)

SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY BUSINESS

Due to the unfavorable economic conditions of the traditional
manufacturing industry in Mainland China, a complex and volatile
market environment, and the government’s tight fiscal situation, the
progress of obtaining corporate subsidies of the Group’s science
and technology business is delayed. The Company is closely aligning
with the Group’s development strategy and action plan, aiming to
stabilize business, ensure sustainable development and expand
scale, actively responding to challenges and continuously adjusting
and optimizing our business strategies.

The Group continues to consolidate existing principal business
projects and advance the expansion of new businesses. In the
area of industrial Internet tags, the cumulative number of registered
enterprises has reached 2,680, with tag registrations exceeding
9.1 billion and tag resolutions surpassing 1.5 billion times, and we
have once again received national honors by being selected for the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology’s industrial Internet
pilot demonstration.

During this period, operating income decreased by 32.7% compared
to the previous year to approximately HK$14,124,000. However,
due to tight government fiscal funds, the situation has not eased,
and the progress of enterprises receiving government subsidies has
been delayed, turning last year’s operating profit of approximately
HK$1,092,000 into a loss of approximately HK$1,400,000,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$2,492,000 from the
previous year and a decrease of 228.2%.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continuea)

FINANCIAL LEASING BUSINESS

With the strategic goal to become a leading eco-friendly and
professional financial leasing company in China, the Group’s main
target clients are players in environmental sectors, such as the
following municipal environmental protection industry: sewage
treatment, waste incineration, biogas power generation, biomass
power generation, solid waste treatment, leachate treatment,
soil waste disposal together with cogeneration, city heating and
city water supply sectors. The Group is deeply engaged in the
subsectors of the municipal environmental protection industry, mainly
targets enterprises that provide municipal environmental services,
and plans on deep developing into the municipal environmental
projects of quality state-owned enterprises (SOEs) in Foshan. The
Group vigorously solicits clients through the local environmental
associations and other platforms, referrals from clients, referrals from
banks and business partners in the industry, and the management
and business personnel’s visit marketing. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group had transacted with approximately 81
SOEs including 26 in the Greater Bay Area and 55 in other areas.
Many of these enterprises are subsidiaries of listed companies. Of
these 81 enterprises, approximately 66 are in the environmenta
industry, including about 36 mainly engaged in sewage treatment
and 30 involved in multiple sectors such as waste incineration, water
supply, cogeneration, hazardous waste treatment, biogas power
generation, and sludge and soil treatment. The other 15 enterprises
are mainly engaged in other industries such as public utilities and
electromechanical equipment. The segment’s operating income
for the year increased by approximately 4.4% to approximately
HK$368,025,000, 68.5% of which was contributed by clients in the
environmental industry.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continuea)

This year, the finance leasing industry has entered an era of stringent
regulation, accompanied by intensified industry competition and a
downturn in the macroeconomy, leading to a period of heightened
overall market competition. Focusing on environmental protection,
the Company seeks progress while maintaining stability, closely
aligning with the strategic goal of becoming a leading specialized
environmental protection financial leasing company in China. We
continue to deepen our involvement in the municipal environmental
protection industry, actively develops cogeneration, heating and
gas supply businesses at the same time, and explores new courses
of business in medical equipment leasing. Additionally, we strictly
review and promote investments, strengthening risk control to
ensure returns, and employ multiple measures to raise and utilize
funds, enhancing our independent financing capability. This year,
our registered capital was increased to RMB1,100,000,000. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, the operating profit of the segment
increased by 37.4% to approximately HK$162,590,000.

CIVIL EXPLOSIVES BUSINESS

During the period, the domestic economy remained under
pressure. In terms of the civil explosives business, there were still
core challenges such as slow industry consolidation, imbalanced
employee structure and shrinking of sales market. The Company
continued to intensify efforts in developing key regional markets
and flexibly adjusted sales strategies to boost market share. At the
same time, through continuous technological transformation, we
empowered high-quality development, effectively achieving cleaner
production, energy saving, consumption reduction, cost reduction
and efficiency enhancement. For the year ended 31 December
2024, operating income decreased by 26.7% to approximately
HK$194,868,000, and operating profit declined by 33.1% to
approximately HK$25,925,000.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continuea)

INVESTMENTS IN PROPERTIES AND
INDUSTRIAL PARKS

The Group has entered into a disposal agreement on 6 December
2023 to dispose of all its 72% equity interest in Sino Rock Tyco,
which was approved at the extraordinary general meeting of
shareholders on 18 January 2024, and the disposal procedures
have been completed. Sino Rock Tyco and its member companies
will no longer be subsidiaries of the Group. Prior to the disposal,
the industrial park and property development business has been
classified as discontinued operations, compared to the previous
year, the profit contribution of this segment decreased by
approximately HK$137,821,000 to approximately HK$41,366,000,
representing a decline of 76.9%.

As for other properties, due to the bearish market sentiment, certain
tenants of China Holdings Building did not renew their leases upon
expiration. Additionally, the average rent per square meter for new
tenants is lower than that of the previous tenants who moved out,
resulting in a decrease in total rental income by approximately 20.5%
to approximately HK$7,647,000. Specifically, the occupancy rate of
China Holdings Building was adjusted from approximately 92.40%
to approximately 80.0%; while the properties in Hong Kong were
successfully leased only by the end of 2023, the rental income for
the year was HK$600,000.

HOTEL BUSINESS

Starting from October 2023, Guilin Plaza Hotel transformed
its operating model, the entire property was leased to a hotel
management company, the hotel then received a stable rental
income. However, under this leasing model, the turnover shrunk to
HK$11,440,000, representing a decrease of approximately 23.7% or
approximately HK$3,558,000 compared to last year, while the profit
for this year turned from a loss to a profit, increasing by 420.8% to
HK$5,562,000.

PROFIT FROM INVESTMENTS IN AN
ASSOCIATE

Due to the increase in the proportion of clean fuel this year, the
cost of sales increased correspondingly, leading to a decrease
in gross profit margin. Coupled with a reduction in the unit
price, the operating performance decreased as compared to
the previous year. Changhai Power Plant recorded a profit of
approximately HK$135,875,000, contributing profit of approximately
HK$40,335,000 to the Group, representing a decrease of 21.5%
compared to the previous year.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continuea)

FINANCIAL POSITION AND ANALYSIS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had total
assets of approximately HK$7,484,410,000 (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$9,755,709,000), total liabilities of approximately
HK$5,647,165,000 (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$7,636,412,000), a gearing ratio (being total liabilities divided
by total assets) of 75.5% (31 December 2023: 78.3%), net
assets of approximately HK$1,837,245,000 (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$2,119,297,000), and equity per share attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK62.53 cents (31
December 2023: approximately HK57.23 cents). The Group had
net current assets of approximately HK$741,909,000 (31 December
2023: approximately HK$645,022,000), a current ratio (being current
assets divided by current liabilities) of approximately 1.42 (31
December 2023: 1.15). The Group had bank balance and cash of
approximately HK$717,173,000 (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$592,181,000),
operation and new projects or business development of the Group.

sufficient for capital requirements for future

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, properties of the Group for own use and
investment, bank deposits, beneficial interest in a subsidiary and
26.794% interest in an associate held by the Group and the carrying
value of finance lease receivables amounted to approximately
HK$4,259,921,000, with approximately HK$3,788,252,000 of
finance lease receivables pledged to banks as the security for
bank borrowings granted to the Group (831 December 2023:
properties of the Group for own use and investment, bank deposits,
beneficial interest in a subsidiary held by the Group and the carrying
value of finance lease receivables amounted to approximately
HK$4,548,702,000, with approximately HK$3,580,931,000 of
finance lease receivables pledged to banks).
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Chairman’s Statement (Continuea)

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group held a certain amount of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in RMB, an exchange loss or gain would arise from the
appreciation or depreciation of RMB. In 2024, due to political and
economic factors such as the US election, the continued escalation
of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine, the subversive changes
in the situation in the Middle East, the continued turmoil and
slowdown of the world economy, the exchange rate fluctuated
repeatedly in both directions. Therefore, the Group has established
a foreign exchange risk monitoring mechanism to deal with foreign
exchange risks. The board of directors will continue to closely
monitor the dynamics of the foreign exchange market and take
effective measures to prevent foreign exchange risks in a timely
manner.

OUTLOOK

There remains considerable uncertainty in the global economy. The
onset of the trade war would bring instability to inflation, interest
rates, exchange rates, and imports and exports, adding further
uncertainty to economic growth. The Group adheres to the strategic
“14+X”

further focuses on the core business of wellness and elderly

orientation, continues to deepen the industrial structure,
care, and takes science and technology, financial leasing and civil
explosives business as strategic support to solidify the foundation of
the Group’s core business and promote high-quality development to
a new level.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continuea)

For our wellness and elderly care business, Guangdong Taoyuan
Comprehensive Health Operation Company Limited (“Taoyuan
Comprehensive Health”) will continue to consolidate its elderly care
business and continue to expand the construction of elderly care
facilities. With the completion and commissioning of the elderly
apartment project, it will actively connect and negotiate with multiple
prospective projects within and outside Guangdong Province to
expand the number of beds, aiming to reach 5,000 beds by the end
of 2025. It will implement and promote the standardization system
of institutional elderly care business, and carry out optimization
according to the status of implementation; continue to advance
the upgrading and expansion of branch facilities, and carry out
preliminary planning and design, economic estimation, and other
preparatory work for the third phase reconstruction project of the
rehabilitation hospital. On the basis of optimizing and improving the
Nanhai District Informationized Elderly Care Service Platform, it will
actively develop community elderly care and home-based elderly
care services. In March 2025, Taoyuan Comprehensive Health
successfully secured inclusion in the “Guangdong Residential Care
Service Scheme” and will further enhance elderly care services for
seniors from Hong Kong and Macau. At the same time, it is actively
pursuing investments in institutional elderly care business in Hong
Kong, seeking opportunities to expand and promote the northward
elderly care services for seniors from Hong Kong and Macau,
facilitating their relocation to the north for elderly care.

For our science and technology business, the Group will focus
on nurturing the science and technology sector, exploring the
direction for sustainable development, and continue to advance
investment and acquisitions. To closely align with the Group’s
strategy and science and technology industry development plans,
broaden the scope of project engagement, establish an investment
project database, and accelerate the implementation of industrial
investment and acquisition work with the aim of completing mergers
and acquisitions of quality projects. Additionally, we will ensure the
steady advancement of implementation and delivery of existing
business, expedite the expansion of new business segments, so as
to build a sustainable operational business system.

12 HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B P2 A R 2 7
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Chairman’s Statement (Continuea)

For our financial leasing business, we will continue to focus on green
finance leasing, continuously improve risk control management,
adhere to the environmental protection characteristics of the
principal financial leasing business, and continuously optimize
the Environmental Leasing Pass products, to issue bonds in the
open market when appropriate to reduce funding costs. We will
actively develop cogeneration, heating and gas supply businesses,
and explore the medical equipment finance leasing business.
To improve the risk management and control system, enhance
compliance internal audit and review of institutional processes, and
to establish various systems for management of non-performing
assets, strengthen on-site supervision and management, regularly
conduct credit rating classification for existing customers, provide
early warnings for potential non-performing events, reduce the non-
performing rate and achieve reduction in asset losses.

For our civil explosives business, we will deepen cost reduction
and efficiency enhancement initiatives, strive to expand blasting
business, independently release mixed assembly capacity and
maintain stable release, and promote Huaxin Blasting to upgrade
its qualification to the next level, stimulate personnel capability
and improve the personnel performance assessment mechanism,
enhance the level of safety management and advance the second
level standardization acceptance of work safety. In addition, we will
strengthen cooperation to increase production capacity, actively
participate in industry consolidation, and enhance collaboration with
industry leaders.
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Corporate Governance Report

Hing Yip Holdings Limited (the “Company”) puts great emphasis
on corporate governance and is committed to maintaining the
high standard of corporate governance which is reviewed and
strengthened on a continued basis. The board of directors (the
“Board”) and the management of the Company maintains and
enhances the policies and practices of the Company in a timely,
transparent, effective and responsible manner, so as to maintain
good, solid and reasonable corporate governance structure. The
Board believes that the Company and shareholders as a whole can
derive maximum benefits from good corporate governance.

The Company has adopted all the code provisions under the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) as its own code on corporate governance.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has complied
with all code provisions under the CG Code.

CORPORATE MISSION, VALUES, VISION AND
CULTURE

As an enterprise committed to wellness and elderly care business
as its strategic focus, the Group’s vision is to become a top-tier
healthcare solution provider with technology by improving the level of
healthcare services through technology empowerment and creating
a leading healthcare service benchmark in the Bay Area. The
Group lives up to its core values by gathering the love and strength
of the Company, fostering a positive atmosphere and providing
broad space for growth for its staff, and providing the society with
meticulous, caring and humanized services, thereby achieving the
mission of “a healthy life building Hing Yip Holdings”. Guided by
the Group’s core values mission, shape the Group’s strategy and
direction so as to achieve the aim of sustainable development and
creation of values for the shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Company’s corporate governance structure includes the
Board and four committees under the Board, namely audit
committee, remuneration committee, nomination committee and
strategy committee. The Board stipulates the terms of reference
of all committees in writing and specifies clearly the power and
responsibilities of the committees.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continuec)

THE COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

The Board comprised six directors, including two executive directors
who have extensive business experience, one non-executive director
and three independent non-executive directors who possess
appropriate professional qualifications. Throughout the year 2024
and up to the date of this annual report, the composition of the
Board is set out below:

Executive Directors
Mr. He Xiangming (Chairman)
Mr. Fu Weigiang (President)
Mr. You Guang Wu

(retired on 26 June 2024)

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Shi Xuguang

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai

Mr. Peng Xinyu

Ms. Lin Junxian

Mr. You Guang Wu retired as an executive director with effect from
the conclusion of the 2024 annual general meeting of the Company
(i.e. 26 June 2024). At the same time, Mr. You also ceased to act
as a member of the strategy committee of the Company. Save that,
there was no change in the composition and functions of directors
during the year.

Every director has sufficient time and attention to deal with the
affairs of the Group. Each director discloses to the Company for
the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organizations and other significant commitments every year. The
Board considers the composition of executive and non-executive
directors (including independent non-executive directors) complies
with the Listing Rules requirements and provides adequate checks
and balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders and the
Group.

The independent non-executive directors provide the Group with
diversified experience and expertise. Their suggestions, opinions
and participation in the meetings of the Board and each committee
bring independent opinions, suggestions and judgements on
issues relating to the Group’s strategy, development, operations,
performance, risk control and conflicts of interest, to ensure that the
interests of all shareholders are taken into account.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continuec)

In accordance with the bye-laws of the Company, subject to
the manner of retirement by rotation of directors as from time to
time prescribed under the Listing Rules and notwithstanding any
contractual or other terms on which any director may be appointed
or engaged, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement at
least once every three years.

Personal information and responsibilities of all directors are
contained in this annual report on pages 34 to 37.

There are no business, financial, family and other relevant interests
among directors.

THE OPERATION OF THE BOARD

The Board is principally responsible for establishing the
development direction of the Group, formulating targets and
business development plans, approving major agreements and
matters, monitoring the performance of senior management and
is responsible for corporate governance with a view to increasing
shareholders’ value. Led by the president, the management is
responsible for implementing the strategies and plans developed by
the Board. The Board authorizes the management to manage the
day-to-day business operations of the Group. Each committee under
the Board has its own specified terms of reference which clearly
define their powers and responsibilities.

The Company has developed a schedule of matters reserved to the
Board for its decision and has separately identified those functions
reserved to the Board. The Board will review those arrangements on
a regular basis to ensure that the arrangements meet the needs of
the Company.

The Board performs the obligations regarding corporate governance,
including :

1. develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance including the board diversity policy,
mechanisms to ensure independent views of the Board and
shareholders communication policy;

2. review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

3. review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and 4.
compliance manual applicable to employees and directors; and

5. review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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pursuant to the deadline as required by the Listing Rules and the
code provisions so that directors can keep abreast of the information

to perform their duties and responsibilities.
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HE B REREEREFTE

BERERAADEHTERREE

FAHY#

R ARNBABTEEEATRIRESR

o Cr=E=
E—R) NEEEREREEGSE T2

BITHBENMEE

EHEFETER EFIXHLRELT

¥

EFXENEERGB2ELAATNESE S

Company’s Board meetings to discuss the overall strategy and #H sTmAEENEREEEER - EFF

business of the Group. The Board convened nine meetings in 2024

RIZ-_NEHERNARER EFHERS

and the attendance of directors is as follows: MU -
Number of
Attendance/
Number of Attendance
Meetings Rate
HERE
Name of Directors EEN4 BIRH HE=R
Executive Directors HITER
Mr. He Xiangming (Chairman) fAImBB L (F/E) 9/9 100%
Mr. Fu Weigiang (President) @SR (E4) 9/9 100%
Mr. You Guang Wu HERALE (W22 ZTMEF 3/3 100%
(retired on 26 June 2024) NAZ+/RHED
Non-Executive Director FFHITESR
Mr. Shi Xuguang SERBI L E 9/9 100%
Independent Non-Executive Directors BB ITESE
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai ek [ 12 5 4 9/9 100%
Mr. Peng Xinyu ZMBRE 9/9 100%
Ms. Lin Junxian MEELZ L 9/9 100%
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

MECHANISMS TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT
VIEWS

The Board has adopted effective mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. Subject to approval of
the chairman of the Board, directors may seek, at the Company’s
expense, independent legal, financial or other professional advices
from advisors independent to those advising the Company as and
when necessary in appropriate circumstances to enable them to
discharge their responsibilities effectively. To ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board, the selection criteria
and process of independent non-executive directors set out in
the Company’s Nomination Policy and all any requirements on
independent non-executive directors set out in the Listing Rules
(as amended from time to time) shall form an integral part of this
mechanism.

The independent non-executive directors, all of whom are
independent of the management of the Company and with
professional and commercial backgrounds. They ensure adequate
checks and balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders and
the Company as a whole. Through serving on the Board committees,
taking active participation and sharing of valuable impartial view on
matters discussed at the Board and/or Board committees meetings
and taking lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of
interests, all independent non-executive directors have provided the
independent view to the Board.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
such mechanisms on an annual basis. The Board considers that the
mechanisms are effective in ensuring that independent views and
input are provided to the Board.

ROLES AND DUTIES OF CHAIRMAN AND
PRESIDENT

The chairman is responsible for the operation of the Board and the
president is responsible for managing the operations of the Group.
Their functions have been clearly divided to ensure a balanced
distribution of power and authority so that they will not concentrate
on a single individual. During the year, the chairman of the Board
is Mr. He Xiangming and the president of the Company is Mr. Fu
Weigiang.

The chairman of the Board is principally responsible for leading
the Board and ensures the Board acts in the best interests of the
Company. The chairman shall ensure the Board operates effectively
and performs its proper duties and discusses all important and
proper matters in a timely manner. The chairman is responsible for
convening board meetings, consulting, determining and approving
the agenda of each board meeting, and ensuring that directors are
provided sufficient information on current matters in a timely manner.
The chairman is also responsible for ensuring that the Company
formulates good corporate governance practice and procedure.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The president is principally responsible for the daily operation and
management of the Group’s overall operations and implementing
the Board’s operating strategy and policy and delegating tasks
to all departments for implementation so as to realize the
Board’s objectives and decisions. In addition, the president is
also responsible for coordinating close cooperation among all
departments, uniting efforts of staff and encouraging the initiative
of staff so as to ensure smooth and effective operation of the
Company’s operations and systems.

TRAININGS OF DIRECTORS

All newly appointed directors are provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/
her responsibilities under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and
regulations. The company secretary and representative of auditor
update directors on the latest development and changes regarding
the Listing Rules, accounting standards and other relevant regulatory
requirements from time to time.

In addition, the directors are provided with monthly updates on
the Company’s performance and position to enable the Board as a
whole and each director to discharge their duties.

All directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
According to the records provided by the directors, all directors have
participated in continuous professional development for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

During the year under review, all directors participated in continuous
professional development to update their knowledge and skills by
reading materials relevant to the directors’ duties and responsibilities
and/or their relevant professional and by attending the training
programs arranged by the Company and/or talks and seminars
organised by different professional institutions.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“the Model Code”) set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by directors. After making specific
enquiries, all directors have confirmed that, in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2024, they have complied with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors with extensive experience in accounting, economic or legal
aspects respectively. The audit committee is mainly responsible for
reviewing the financial statements, annual reports and accounts
and risk management and internal control systems of the Company,
providing advice to the Board, and making recommendations on
the appointment, remuneration and any matters related to the
termination of the auditor of the Company. Mr. Chan Kwok Wai is the
chairman of the audit committee and is responsible for reporting the
meeting results and recommendations of the audit committee to the
Board after each meeting.

In 2024, the audit committee convened four meetings. Members and
their attendance are as follows:
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Number of

Attendance/
Number of Attendance
Meetings Rate

HERE
Name of Members REHH BITRY HE=E
Chan Kwok Wai e B 12 4/4 100%

(chairman of the audit committee) (BRZEEET/E)

Peng Xinyu EE I 4/4 100%
Lin Junxian HEE 4/4 100%

Tasks undertaken by the audit committee during the year included
reviewing the 2023 audited financial statements and the annual
results announcement, reviewing the interim report and the interim
results announcement for the six months ended 30 June 2024,
considering the accounting standards adopted, reviewing the
financial reporting, internal control and risk management systems,
reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function,
reviewing the management letter about audit work of the auditor
submitted to the management and the basis of opinion made by the
auditor in their report and recommendation to the board of directors
for the change of auditors, etc.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors and two executive directors. The remuneration
committee is principally responsible for reviewing remuneration plans
for directors and senior management, making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration package of executive directors and
senior management, including benefits, pension rights and payment
of compensation. Mr. Peng Xinyu is the chairman of the remuneration
committee and is responsible for reporting the meeting results and
recommendations of the remuneration committee to the Board after
each meeting.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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In 2024, the remuneration committee convened three meetings. AR OE CHNEESHRRET =R
Members and their attendance are as follows: ZOHNERHERBRAOT
Number of
Attendance/
Number of Attendance
Meetings Rate
HEXRE
Name of Directors EENL BITRY HE=R
Peng Xinyu EZ =] 3/3 100%
(chairman of the remuneration committee) FWZES & +/E)
He Xiangming Bl 3/3 100%
Fu Weigiang FFE=R 3/3 100%
Chan Kwok Wai e B f2 3/3 100%
Lin Junxian HEE 3/3 100%

Tasks undertaken by the remuneration committee during the
year included considering the code of transferring to non-
senior management and the proposed amendments to the
performance management code of the Company, reviewing the
performance assessment results and incentive payment and making
recommendations to the Board. The remuneration committee also
ensures that no director or senior management member determines
his/her own remuneration.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Group is to determine the
remuneration based on the responsibilities, qualifications and
working performance of staff (including directors).

The remuneration of directors is determined with reference to their
functions and responsibilities and the results of the Company in
accordance with the remuneration and performance management
code of directors and senior management which was approved by
the shareholders of the Company at the second special general
meeting held on 18 January 2024. Any director is not allowed
to participate in determining his/her own remuneration. The
remuneration received by directors from the Group during the year is
set out in Note 13 to the financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee comprises two executive directors
and three independent non-executive directors. The nomination
committee is responsible for reviewing the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy. It shall consider
the suitability of a candidate to act as a director on the basis of
the candidate’s qualification, experience, integrity and potential
contribution to the Company, and assess the independence of
independent non-executive directors under the requirements set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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During the year, there was no change in the composition of the
board of directors save for the retirement of Mr. You Guang Wu as an
executive director.

In 2024, the nomination committee convened one meeting. Members
and their attendance are as follows:

e 321
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AR NERREEEERT—X
FZoNERHERBROT !

Number of

Attendance/
Number of Attendance
Meetings Rate

HERE
Name of Directors EEES BITRH HE=R
He Xiangming EIEEE 1/1 100%

(chairman of the nomination committee) (ELZEEEEE)

Fu Weigiang FF1ER 1/1 100%
Chan Kwok Wai ek R 2 11 100%
Peng Xinyu EZ N 1/1 100%
Lin Junxian MEE 11 100%

The work carried out by the nomination committee during the year
included reviewing the Board structure of the Company, reviewing
and recommending the re-election of the retiring directors at the
annual general meeting, assessing the independence of independent
non-executive directors, considering and reviewing the Board
diversity policy and making recommendations to the Board.

All independent non-executive directors of the Company have
complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules and have
presented annual confirmations of independence issued pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules to the Company. The nomination
committee has assessed their independence and confirms that all
independent non-executive directors are independent parties as
defined in the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the letters of appointment,
the term of office of Mr. Chan Kwok Wai, Mr. Peng Xinyu and Ms.
Lin Junxian are until 30 June 2026, 30 June 2026 and 30 June
2025 respectively. They are subject to the retirement by rotation and
re-election requirements of the bye-laws of the Company.

HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B P2 A R 2 7
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4F#t

22

RAZESHEFEANMEN TIFEERS
AEMEFERBE RAEZFERRBEX
CLEERFEREE FRBUFRITE
ENBIMAEERBTEFTTZ TR
ROTHEFGREES

KABBEBUIERTESERTS LHRAD
ERARAFRIIBE EHRAIE3 13K
BHENBIMBFRIEZ - ELEEETEF
ERENBUMN CEBMEBIIENTE
EHE ETRAUMATHNEILA LT RIEE
R REREE - TZHARERMES
ZTHEMRAMNEZZZRFA=1+H"
TEZRERB=TBERZIEZAFRA
=+ H - BRERBETFTAREMAIAGREERE
BEREEEENRE -



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and procedure of
appointing and re-appointing a director. The selection criteria used
in assessing the suitability of a candidate include, inter alia, such
candidate’s academic background and professional qualifications,
relevant experience in the industry, character and integrity etc. The
procedure of appointing and re-appointing a director is summarised
as follows:—

1. The nomination committee reviews the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of the Board periodically and make recommendation on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy.

2. When it is necessary to appoint an additional director or fill a
casual vacancy, the nomination committee identifies, selects
and recommends candidates to the Board pursuant to post
nature and the criteria set out in the Nomination Policy.

3. The nomination committee shall submit the candidate’s resume
and recommendation, including terms of appointment, to the
Board for consideration. If the process yields one or more
desirable candidates, the nomination committee shall rank
them by order of preference based on the assessment result
and presents the same together with its recommendation to the
Board for consideration.

4.  Based on the recommendation from the nomination committee,
the Board will consider and approve the appointment of new
director(s).

5.  Each director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years and shall be eligible for re-election at
the annual general meeting of the year.

6. The nomination committee shall review overall contribution,
performance, professional knowledge and qualifications of the
retiring directors and make recommendations to the Board for
consideration for their re-election.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board. With a view to maintaining competitive advantage, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element. Therefore, a Board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) has been adopted by the Company and set out that the
nomination committee of the Company reviews and assesses the
composition of the Board, makes recommendations to the Board on
appointment of new directors of the Company, oversees the conduct
of the annual review of the effectiveness of the Board in order to
achieve the objective of Board diversity and ensure there is no
single gender board. In addition, mechanisms including supervising,
reporting and policy reviewing etc. ensure that the Board Diversity
Policy will be implemented effectively.

The nomination committee has reviewed from time to time the
diversity of the Board of the Company to ensure that the policy
will be implemented effectively and considered that there is no
immediate need for setting up the measurable objectives.

The nomination committee monitors the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy. The nomination committee reviewed the Nomination Policy
and the Board Diversity Policy, and considered that the said policies
were appropriate and effective.

As at 31 December 2024, the members of the Board consist of five
male members and one female member. The Company will consider
to enhance gender diversity in the Board in terms of gender ratio
from time to time. The nomination committee reviews annually the
need for achieving higher gender diversity in the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company has 1,232 employees in
total comprising of 719 females and 513 males (a female-to-male
ratio of approximately 1.4:1). The Group when hiring employees
considers a number of factors, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and education background, qualification, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service,
and the Group will make sure achieving gender diversity across the
workforce.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
which does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio.
In considering dividend payment, the Board will take into account
factors such as the Group’s expected financial performance,
business conditions and strategies, expected working capital
requirements and future expansion plans, business cycles and other
internal or external factors that may affect the Company’s business
or financial performance and financial position, return and interest
of the shareholders and other factors which the Board considers to
be relevant. The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to
time and the Dividend Policy does not constitute any commitment or
obligation of the Company to declare dividends.
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STRATEGY COMMITTEE

The strategy committee was set up on 30 March 2023 and
comprises of two executive directors, namely Mr. He Xiangming
(chairman of the strategy committee) and Mr. Fu Weigiang, one non-
executive director namely Mr. Shi Xuguang and one independent
non-executive director namely Mr. Peng Xinyu. The strategy
committee is principally responsible for planning the Group’s overall
medium and long-term development strategies and goals, annual
business plans and budgets. In 2024, a meeting of the strategy
committee was held.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are to provide a clear governance structure,
policies and procedures, as well as reporting mechanism to facilitate
the Group to manage it risks across business operations.

The Group has established a risk management framework,
which consists of the Board, the audit committee and the senior
management of the Company. The Board determines the nature
and extent of risks that shall be taken in achieving the Group’s
strategic objectives, and has the overall responsibility for monitoring
design, implementation and control of the risk management and
internal control systems, so as to ensure the Group has set up and
maintained a suitable and effective risk management and internal
control systems. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Group has formulated and adopted corporate risk management
policy in providing direction in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the senior management
identifies risks that would affect the achievement of the Group’s
objectives, and assesses and prioritizes the identified risks according
to a set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners
are then established for those risks considered to be significant.

The Company has adopted an anti-corruption policy to govern
acceptance of advantages by employees and a whistleblowing policy
to provide guidance to employees and external stakeholders to
report concerns about any suspected or actual improprieties relating
to the Group.

In addition, the Group has established an internal audit function to
assist the Board and the audit committee in ongoing monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group,
identify deficiencies in the design and implementation of risk
management and internal controls and recommend proposal for
improvement. Significant risk management and internal control
deficiencies have been reported to the audit committee and the
Board on a timely basis to ensure prompt remediation actions are
taken.
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Risk management report and internal control report are submitted to
the audit committee and the Board at least once a year. The Board
has performed annual review on the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions and the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, including but not limited to the Group’s
ability to cope with its business transformation and changing external
environment; the scope and quality of management’s review on risk
management and internal control systems; result of internal audit
work; the extent and frequency of communication with the Board in
relation to result of risk and internal control review; significant failures
or weaknesses identified and their related implications; and status of
compliance with the Listing Rules. The Board considers the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems are effective.

Procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

The Company has adopted a policy on disclosure of inside
information which sets out the obligations, guidelines and
procedures for handling and dissemination of inside information.
The Group discloses inside information to the public as soon as
reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the
safe harbours as provided in the Securities Future Ordinance. The
Group ensures the information is kept strictly confidential before
the information is fully disclosed to the public, if the Group believes
that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained
or that confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would
immediately disclose the information to the public. The Group is
committed to ensure that information contained in announcements
are not false or misleading, or false or misleading through omission
of a material fact in view of presenting information in a clear and
balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and
negative facts.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary is Mr. Lo Tai On, who is engaged and
appointed by the Company from an external secretarial services
provider. The primary contact persons with the company secretary
of the Company are Mr. He Xiangming (executive director and
chairman) and Ms. Ella Chong (assistant to the chairman). During the
year, the company secretary of the Company duly complied with the
relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

After the change of company name as mentioned under the section
“Change of Company Name”, a memorandum of association and
bye-laws with the new company name was uploaded to the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company. Save for aforesaid,
there was no change in the content of Company’s constitutional
documents in the year of 2024.
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CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

Subsequent to the passing of the special resolution approving the
proposed change of company name by the shareholders of the
Company at the second special general meeting of the Company
held on 18 January 2024, the certificate of change of name and
the certificate of secondary name were issued by the Registrar of
Companies in Bermuda certifying that the name of the Company has
been changed from “China Investments Holdings Limited” to “Hing
Yip Holdings Limited”, and the secondary name in Chinese “E 24
B BR/AE]” has been adopted in place of the unregistered Chinese
name of “FPEIE £ ZFERBR/AF", and the new names have been
entered into the register maintained by the Registrar of Companies in
Bermuda with effect from 18 January 2024.

The certificate of registration of alteration of name of registered non-
Hong Kong company was issued by the Registrar of Companies in
Hong Kong on 31 January 2024 confirming the registration of the
Company’s new English and Chinese names of “Hing Yip Holdings
Limited” and “E 2R A BR/A T respectively in Hong Kong under
Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

With effect from 9:00 a.m. on 9 February 2024, the stock short
name changed to “HING YIP HLDGS” in English and “BZ3Z/8” in
Chinese for the purpose of trading in the shares of the Company on
the Stock Exchange. The stock code of the Company on the Stock
Exchange remained unchanged as “00132”. The corporate website
address of the Company changed from “http://chinainvestments.
tonghaiir.com” to “http://hingyiphk.quamhkir.com” with effect from 6
February 2024.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors acknowledge their responsibility in preparing financial
statements of the Group.

The financial department of the Company is managed by a qualified
accountant. With the assistance of the financial department, the
Board will ensure the preparation of the financial statements of the
Group complies with relevant regulations and applicable accounting
standards.

(&

e 321

B

ERAT)ATE

RIZZWEF—-—RB+NHETHNEZRR
HENARE LRARBREBBE RS
ZUHMERZRFARALBE BREQT
AMEERECELENRBERBEREC
ZIBEHE  BEALRBNATEERT China
Investments Holdings Limited ] 8 2% Hing
Yip Holdings Limited | B X5 — g &
EZERABRAE BEEM UERRLT

AL IFREHEEZERBRAT MM
LBERABRELNDAMEREBEENE
st B2 ZWE—B+/\BEEM -

EARNAEMEREER _Z-_NFE—A
=+ —HEHFMIEEERDEFELBEM
IS HRRARBNMEN BT Hing Yip
Holdings Limited J Kz AR 3% #85 [ 2 130 A%
BRABIEDBIRIEEBEAHIFE6228 A F]
1RABIB16MILEBEM

R TE_NEF_RBAHLEFARERE X
RERMIBMIMEERERZREXKN
EBENA THING YIP HLDGS | R X
DEBENR THEEZER) - ART IR
Rz R AR A ERT00132) o AR
BZARMELEE T _MF_B/NHEH
[http://chinainvestments.tonghaiir.com | &
2 % T http://hingyiphk.quamhkir.com J ©

BEREZ

ESERIBANRRNEAERMBRRAERR
Bffe

FRRYHHRFIHEERSSAMEEEE
EUHBHFENGS T  EFERFAERY

BRERNBRNSARERRBERNG 5%
Ao
HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED BUEPEREA L2 7]
\NNUAL REPORT 2024 . 27



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024,
approximately HK$1,040,000 and the non-audit services fee

the audit fee was

mainly included services provided as reporting accountants was
approximately HK$O0.

The statement of reporting responsibility issued by HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited, the auditor of the Company, in respect of
the financial statements of the Group is set out in the independent
auditor’s report on pages 90 to 99.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company understands the importance of good communication
with shareholders and investors, and recognizes the value of
providing current and relevant information to shareholders and
investors. The Board has established a shareholders’ communication
policy setting out the principles of the Company in relation to
shareholders’ communication, with the objective of ensuring that
both shareholders and investors can obtain the complete, identical
and current information of the Company in a timely manner.

The Company has maintained communication with shareholders
through the annual general meeting or other general meetings and
encourages them to participate in general meetings. Registered
shareholders can access the notices of general meetings on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The notice of
general meeting contains the agenda, the proposed resolutions
and the voting form. Any registered shareholder is entitled to attend
the annual general meeting and special general meetings provided
that their shares must be registered in the register of members.
Shareholders who are unable to attend the general meeting can
fill in the proxy form attached with the notice of general meeting
and return the same to the Company so as to appoint their
representatives or the chairman of the meeting as their proxies.

During the year, the annual general meeting was held on 26 June
2024, two special general meetings were held on 18 January 2024
and a special general meeting was held on 26 September 2024.
At the said general meetings, all the directors were present to
answer questions from the shareholders and separate resolution in
respect of each separate issue was proposed for shareholders to
vote thereon. The Company appointed branch share registrar of the
Company to act as scrutineers and to ensure votes cast are properly
counted and recorded, and announced the results of the poll on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company in accordance
with the bye-laws of the Company and the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a shareholders communication policy
in 2012 which sets out the Group’s commitment of maintaining
an effective ongoing dialogue with shareholders. In summary,
the Company establishes different communication channels with
shareholders and stakeholders including: (i) provision of printed
or electronic copies of corporate communications; (i) provision of
timely corporate information on the company website; (i) holding of
annual general meetings to provide platform for shareholders to raise
comments and exchange views with the Board; and (iv) arrangement
in serving the shareholders in respect of all share registration
matters. The Board reviewed the validity of implementation of the
shareholders communication policy during the year and considered
that it remained effective in enhancing timely, transparent,
accurate and open communication between the Company and the
shareholders.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for special general meetings requisitioned by the
shareholders

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company (“Requisitionists”) shall have the right to require
a special general meeting to be called and propose any matter
to be considered at the general meeting of the Company. The
Requisitionists may deposit the written requisition for special general
meeting (which shall specify the full name of the Requisitionists,
the business and proposal to be considered at the general meeting
of the Company, and shall be signed by the Requisitionists) to the
principal place of business of the Company for the attention of
the Board. If within twenty-one days of such deposit, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting in specified days as
provided by the bye-laws of the Company and the Listing Rules,
the Requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance with the
provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election
as a director

In accordance with the provision 86 of the Company’s bye-laws,
no person other than a director retiring at the meeting shall, unless
recommended by the directors for election, be eligible for election
as a director at any general meeting unless a notice signed by a
member (other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to
attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given of
his intention to propose such person for election and also a notice
signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness to be
elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the branch
share registrar and transfer office of the Company at least seven
(7) business days prior to the date of the general meeting. For
further information, please refer to the “Procedures for Shareholders
to Propose a Person for Election as a Director” published on the
Company’s website at http://hingyiphk.quamhkir.com.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
general meetings

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act, either any number of the
registered shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth (5%) of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company (“Proposers”), or not less than one
hundred of such registered shareholders can request the Company
in writing to: (a) give to shareholders of the Company entitled to
receive notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution
which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting; and (b) circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of
any general meeting sent to them any statement of not more than
one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in any

proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the Proposers may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
Proposers; and it must be deposited at the principal place of
business of the Company with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet
the Company’s relevant expenses, not less than six weeks before
the meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or
not less than one week before the meeting in the case of any other
requisition. Provided that an annual general meeting is called for a
date six weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the
requisition though not deposited within the time required shall be
deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

For any enquiry to the Board, shareholders may put forward a written
enquiry to the Company setting out details of contact (including
name, address, telephone number and email address etc.) by the
following means:

Address: Unit 501, Wing On Plaza, 62 Mody Road,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Fax No.: 852-23013878

Email: general@hingyip-hk.com
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Directors’ Report

The directors present the annual report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note
43 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s fair review of the business during the year and
discussion on the future business development of the Group are
set out in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 to 13 of this
annual report. In addition, the discussion on the principal risks
and uncertainties which the Group is exposed to, the relationships
with the Group’s suppliers, customers and other stakeholders, the
Group’s environmental policies and performance, compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the

Group and the employees are set out in below paragraphs.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year with financial
key performance indicators is set out in the Chairman’s Statement on
pages 4 to 13 of this annual report.

The events significantly affecting the Group that have occurred since
the end of 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual
report are set out in Note 44 to the financial statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses
and prospects would be affected by a number of risks and

uncertainties including business risks, operational risks and financial
management risks.

Details of financial risk management policies and practices of the
Group is set out in Note 5 to the financial statements.

There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those
mentioned above which are not known to the Group or which may
not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.
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Directors” Report (Continued)

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers and customers to meet its immediate
and long-term goals. The Group continuously enhance relationships
with individual and corporate customers, which enjoys good
relationship with suppliers and customers. During the year of 2024,
there were no material and significant dispute between the Group
and its suppliers and/or customers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to
comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection
and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources,
energy saving and waste reduction. Relevant environmental
management policies and procedures have been formulated in
different segments by the Group to manage the use of resources
like water, electricity and various fuel. An environmental, social and
governance report is set out on pages 46 to 89 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries established in the mainland China while the Company
itself is incorporated in Bermuda with its shares listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”). Our
establishment and operations accordingly shall comply with relevant
laws and regulations in Bermuda, mainland China, Hong Kong and
British Virgin Islands (“BVI”). During the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this report, the Group have complied with
all the relevant laws and regulations in Bermuda, mainland China,
Hong Kong and BVI that have a significant impact on the Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 100 to 101 of this annual report.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group revalued all of its investment properties at the year end
date. There was a revaluation surplus of HK$O for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: surplus of HK$209,212,000). Details of such
revaluation are set out in Note 17 to the financial statements.
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Directors” Report (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment are set out in Note 18 to the financial statements.

Particulars regarding the Group’s major properties are set out on
pages 258 to 260 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 33 to the financial statements.

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 104 and 105 and Note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had reserves available
for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie in the amount of
HK$163,158,000.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. He Xiangming (Chairman)
Mr. Fu Weigiang (President)
Mr. You Guang Wu

(retired on 26 June 2024)

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Shi Xuguang

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai

Mr. Peng Xinyu

Ms. Lin Junxian

HEGRGE @
ME BB R

FEBXFEZYE MBS
BEN M BHRRMEE18

Sz BENEE

FEERFBEZETEBYEFIINKRERE258
FE260E

g s

KANBIERFERNREAESE) 25515
IR MIFEIG 0

WM
Epy AABREEDHBATSREE
i £ S MO A A B L s 3 o

&

AEERAADENZ HESDHHERNE

10410582 e R EEFR M EIRE
MT5¥45 0

TRB AR IRZ#E

RZZEZWE+ZRA=+—H &x28H
HIRE DR/ RNEY DI FEERBIE
163,1568,0007T °

BEF

rEEARBEEFREERE
ZEFEWMT:

A= /NS

HITEF
RmERLE (Z/EF)
FTRBITE ()
HERLLE
(M ZEZMFERBEZ+7-HBED

FFRITEE
LB E

BUIFHTEE
BREE 2SR
B ERE
MEBEZ+

HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B £ B2 5]
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4F

33



Directors” Report (Continued)

Mr. You Guang Wu (“Mr. You”) retired as an executive director with
effect from the conclusion of the annual general meeting held on 26
June 2024. At the same time, Mr. You ceased to act as a member of
the strategy committee of the Company.

Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Fu Weigiang (“Mr. Fu”)
and Ms. Lin Junxian (“Ms. Lin"), being the directors longest in office
since their last re-election or appointment will retire by rotation from
office at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Mr. Fu and Ms. Lin,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

Pursuant to the letters of appointment, the terms of office of Mr. Shi
Xuguang, Mr. Chan Kwok Wai, Mr. Peng Xinyu and Ms. Lin Junxian
are until 30 June 2025, 30 June 2026, 30 June 2026 and 30 June
2025, respectively.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

He Xiangming, aged 58, was appointed as an executive director
and chairman of the Board of the Company on 23 July 2014. Mr.
He is the chairman of the nomination committee and strategy
committee, a member of the remuneration committee of the
Company, the chairman of the board of directors of Guilin Plaza*,
Canton Greengold Financial Leasing Ltd.* and Guangdong Taoyuan
Comprehensive Health Operation Co., Ltd.* and a director in a
number of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. He holds a master
degree in Geography from South China Normal University. He has
extensive experience in business management and environmental
public utilities. Mr. He is also a director of Nanhai Listing Promotion
Association*. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. He was the chairman
of Grandblue Environment Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange).
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Directors” Report (Continued)

Fu Weiqgiang, aged 46, was appointed as an executive director
and the president of the Company on 1 October 2021. Mr. Fu is a
member of each of the nomination committee, the remuneration
committee and the strategy committee of the Company, the
chairman of the board of directors of Guangdong Sinsing Technology
Ltd.* and Guangdong Tiannuo Investments Co., Ltd.*, the managing
director of Guangdong Taoyuan Comprehensive Health Operation
Co., Ltd.* and a director in a number of subsidiaries of the Company.
He holds a master degree in public administration from Wuhan
University and a bachelor of science degree in economic geography
and urban and rural planning from Sun Yat-sen University. He has
extensive experience in industrial planning, resource development
and integration, organization reform and corporate operation and
management. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Fu worked in
several government departments in Nanhai District Foshan City,
among others, including the deputy officer of Land Reserve Centre
of Nanhai* and the deputy director of the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administrative Bureau of Nanhai District, Foshan
City*.

Non-Executive Director

Shi Xuguang, aged 46, was appointed as a non-executive director
of the Company on 28 June 2023 and is a member of the strategy
committee of the Company. Mr. Shi holds a master degree in
Automation from Harbin Institute of Technology and a doctorate
degree in Engineering from South China University of Technology in
Control Theory and Control Engineering, and holds the professional
qualifications of a senior economist and a senior engineer. He is
currently the deputy general manager of Guangdong Nanhai Holding
Group Co., Ltd.* which is a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Mr. Shi has many years of work foundation and extensive practical
experience in industrial research, equity investment and business
management.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Chan Kwok Wai, aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 22 September 2004 and
is the chairman of the audit committee and a member of each of
the nomination committee and the remuneration committee of the
Company. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor degree in Accounting and
Commerce, and is a member of the CPA Australia and a member of
Hong Kong Securities Institute. He has over 30 years of experience
in the finance and accounting industry. Mr. Chan is also currently
an independent non-executive director of 3 other listed public
companies in Hong Kong, namely Chinese Estates Holdings Limited,
Tern Properties Company Limited, National Electronics Holdings
Limited, and was an independent non-executive director of Far East
Consortium International Limited for the period from 18 November
2005 to 30 August 2022.
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Directors” Report (Continued)

Peng Xinyu, aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 23 June 2022 and is a
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of each of
the audit committee, the nomination committee and the strategy
committee of the Company. Mr. Peng holds a doctoral degree in
Science from Sun Yat-sen University and is a professor at the School
of Business Administration of South China University of Technology.
He has a solid theoretical foundation and rich practical experience
in economics, investment and financing, financial management and
enterprise management. He had served as the person in charge
of investment and financial management, chief economist, general
manager and independent director of several companies, and
has rich experience in corporate mergers and acquisitions and
investment.

Lin Junxian, aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 28 June 2023 and a member
of each of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and
the nomination committee of the Company. She holds a bachelor
degree in Law from Sun Yat-sen University and a master degree in
Economics from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law. She
had worked for a number of law firms and currently serves as a
vice director and senior partner of Guangdong Truth Leading Law
Firm*. In 2019, she was admitted as a criminal and administrative
lawyer by the Guangdong Provincial Department of Justice and the
Guangdong Lawyers Association. Ms. Lin has a solid theoretical
foundation in the fields of law and economic law, and has
extensive practical experience in handling various cases including
administrative, civil and commercial affairs, state-owned assets,
company equity and equity of collective economic organizations.

Senior Management

Huang Zhihe, aged 56, is the deputy president of the Company
and a director in a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Huang holds a bachelor degree in industrial management and
engineering and a master of business administration from South
China University of Technology. He has extensive experience of
corporate management, investment and development in real estate
and management in hotel industry.

Cheng Weidong, aged 54, is the deputy president of the Company
and a director in a number of subsidiaries of the Company. He holds
a degree in economic management from the Party School of the
Guangdong Provincial Committee of Communist Party of China. He
has extensive experience in corporate investment and development
planning. Prior to joining the Company, he worked as the chief officer
of the Planning and Development Division of the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administrative Bureau of Nanhai District, Foshan
City*.
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Directors” Report (Continued)

Yao Xiaohui, aged 46, is the deputy president of the Company. He
holds a bachelor degree in land planning and utilization from South
China Agricultural University and Master of Public Administration
from Wuhan University. He also holds the qualifications of land
appraiser and real estate appraiser. He has extensive experience
in modern enterprise management and asset valuation and
restructuring. Prior to joining the Company, he worked in Cushman
& Wakefield and several government departments in Nanhai District,
Foshan City.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interest of the Company’s directors
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)), as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
C38 to the Listing Rules were as follows:
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Long positions in the shares of the Company REATRMPNTFE
Approximate
percentage
of total
issued shares
Number of as at
Nature of ordinary 31 December
Name of director Capacity Interest shares held 2024
RIEZMNE
+=B=+—H
Fifs AMEREEET
BEEEg 515 EmEE BiEREE BipZzBE 7L
He Xiangming Beneficial owner Personal 1,441,000 0.08%
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Directors” Report (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
directors or chief executive of the Company had any interest or short
positions in any shares or underlying shares or interest in debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2024, according to the register of substantial
shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO, the persons who were interested in 5% or more in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company are as follows:
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Approximate

Number of percentage of
shares/ total issued
underlying shares as at
Name shares  Capacity 31 December 2024
RZEZ_NEF
+-BA=+—H
Bin,/ NILREBET
218 HERGNEE &) RHZERL
Glories Holdings (HK) Limited 1,441,439,842 Beneficial owner 84.18%
BER%E (5H) BRAS (Note) EBREAA
(P5T)
Prize Rich Inc. 1,441,439,842  Corporate interest 84.18%
(Note) ~EJEZE
(P5T)
Guangdong Nanhai Holding Group Co., Ltd.” 1,441,439,842  Corporate interest 84.18%
EREESERERFRLAR ((K’}ITO}‘G)) NE
DS

Note: These 1,441,439,842 shares/underlying shares are held by Prize
Rich Inc., which is wholly-owned by Guangdong Nanhai Holding
Group Co., Ltd.*. On 25 July 2022, Prize Rich Inc. agreed to transfer
1,222,718,527 shares and HK$166,232,000 convertible bonds (with
underlying shares of 218,726,315) to its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Glories Holdings (HK) Limited, pursuant to the equity and convertible
bonds transfer agreement.

Save as disclosed above, no other parties were recorded in the
register as having an interest in 5% or more of the issued share
capital of the Company.
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Directors” Report (Continued)

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Save as disclosed below, there were no connected transactions
which need to be disclosed as connected transactions pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year:

(1) Disposal of Guangdong Sino Rock Tyco Construction Co.,
Ltd.

On 6 December 2023, CIH Finance Investments Holdings
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) (the
“Vendor”) and Guangdong Nanhai Holding Group Co., Ltd.*
(the “Purchaser”) entered into a disposal agreement, pursuant
to which the Vendor agreed to sell and the Purchaser agreed
to acquire 72% equity interest in Guangdong Sino Rock Tyco
Construction Co., Ltd.* (a non wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company) at a consideration of RMB972,000,000 (the
“Disposal”).

The Purchaser is a controlling shareholder of the Company,
interested in 71.41% of all issued shares of the Company and
hence a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the
Disposal constitutes a connected transaction of the Company
and is subject to the reporting, announcement, circular and
Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the transactions
are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 6
December 2023, circular dated 29 December 2023 and
announcement dated 18 January 2024.

(2) Extension of maturity date of convertible bonds

On 15 August 2024, in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the convertible bonds, the Company and Prize
Rich Inc. entered into an extension deed to extend the maturity
date of the outstanding convertible bonds in the principal
amount of HK$166,232,000 by 3 years from 13 October 2024
to 13 October 2027 with all the other terms and conditions
of the outstanding convertible bonds unchanged (the
“Extension”).

Prize Rich Inc. held 1,222,713,527 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 71.41% of the issued share
capital of the Company, and is a controlling shareholder and
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules and
hence the Extension constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company.
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Directors” Report (Continued)

The independent board committee had been established to give
recommendations to the independent shareholders of the Company
on the Extension. Independent financial adviser had been appointed
by the Company as to advise the independent board committee and
the independent shareholders of the Company in this regard. Details
of the Extension are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
15 August 2024 and circular dated 5 September 2024. The special
general meeting for the independent shareholders to approve the
Extension was convened and held on 26 September 2024.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions are set out in Note 42 to the
financial statements. Those related party transactions constituted
exempt connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted by shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting held on 26 April 2013 (the
“Share Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme was for a term
of 10 years from the date of adoption and was expired on 26 April
2023. No option had been granted during the effective period of the
Share Option Scheme. There is no share option scheme adopted by
the Company since the expiration of the Share Option Scheme.

For details of terms of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to
Note 34 to the financial statements.
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Directors” Report (Continued)

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S
FINANCIAL LEASING BUSINESS

The financial leasing business mainly provides financial leasing and
related consulting services in China, and its business model is as
follows:

The Group usually enters into a (sale-and-leaseback) financial lease
agreement with clients having assets suitable for financial leasing,
with the client (as the lessee) retaining control over the assets and
the Group (as the lessor) will be secured by having title over the
assets and security interests for the duration of the lease. However,
the Group (as lessor) can also enter into a supply agreement with a
third-party supplier pursuant to which the Group pays the supplier
for the purchase of certain assets selected by the client (as lessee),
in addition to a finance lease agreement pursuant to which the lessor
directly leases the assets to the lessee in return for lease payments
by the lessee (direct leases).

In addition, the Group used finance lease receivables as collateral
to raise funds by various means including bank financing and bond
issuance to meet most capital needs of the financial leasing business
(while the remaining needs were met with its own funds), and
continuously diversified financing channels, including but not limited
to equity and debt financing, to enhance the financial strength of the
financial leasing business.

Despite the challenges facing the financial leasing business
arising from intensifying market competition, the Group upheld the
established strategic positioning and business objectives, sought
progress in stability, carried out risk management, and remained
focused on the environmental industry to develop financial leasing
business. We have set up a professional financial leasing team
familiar with the environmental industry to more effectively conduct
risk assessment on environmental clients, control business risks
in line with the Group’s risk appetite, carry out stringent pre-lease
review of financial leasing projects to select the best from the good,
and implement post-lease management and supervision to reduce
the risk of bad debts. Furthermore, we have developed the following
credit risk assessment policy and internal control measures:
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Directors” Report (Continued)

A)

B)

42

Credit risk assessment policy

The Group adopts a hierarchical approach to risk assessment
and strictly reviews potential financial leasing projects to
ensure that the risks involved are in line with the Group’s risk
appetite. The whole process for a project covers (i) the project
establishment and approval process where the project manager
conducts a preliminary risk assessment of the project; (i) the
investigation and evaluation process where the risk control
manager evaluates the risks of the project and issues a risk
report; (iii) the review and decision-making process, including
a preliminary assessment meeting and a review meeting,
where members of the risk review committee conduct an
overall assessment of the project risks and vote on the project;
(iv) the project implementation process where relevant risk
control personnel participate in project implementation to
prevent operational risks; (v) the loan issuance process where
strict loan approval procedures are adopted to ensure that
suitable conditions for loan issuance are met; (vi) the post-
lease supervision process where project risks are continuously
monitored and assessed; and (vi) the risk warning process
where project alerts with risk signals are flagged and monitored
and response plans are developed in advance.

During credit risk assessment, the Group will review the
relevant documents of the target client, including but not
limited to its business permit, credit reports, bank statements,
tax payment receipts, financial statements, build-operate-
transfer contracts, environmental impact assessment reports,
subsidy income certificates, project asset evaluation report,
contracts and invoices relating to project assets, and proof of
ownership of the assets mortgaged or pledged for the project.
The factors considered by the Group before entering into a
finance lease include whether the lessee’s cash flow can cover
the credit amount, the future cash flow of the project, the form
and value of security and the amount covered by the collateral,
the lessee’s cost of default, the lessee’s gearing ratio, etc.

Key internal controls and ongoing monitoring of loans

In order to minimize the risk of default on loans, the Group
has developed internal control measures to determine credit
limits, conduct credit review, and monitor the recoverability and
collection of finance lease receivables.

A credit limit is usually determined with reference to, among
others, (a) the value of the leased assets; (b) the value of the
client’s pledged assets and the guarantor’s ability to perform
guarantee obligations; and (c) the lessee’s cash flow and ability
to meet its debt obligations.
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Directors” Report (Continued)

In terms of credit approval, the risk review committee will
conclude the overall credit arrangement after taking into
account the opinions of the project manager and the risk
control manager at the review meeting.

In terms of ongoing monitoring procedures, the relevant
business manager of the financial leasing department will
conduct off-site and on-site post-lease inspections on the
lessee and the leased assets from the lease commencement
date to the date of recovering all rents and receivables, then
issue an inspection report to the department head and the
chief risk officer for approval. Once approved, such report
will be forwarded to the post-lease management team of the
risk control department for evaluation. The Group will carry
out: (i) monthly off-site post-lease inspections, including
searching for litigation proceedings involving the lessee or its
controlling shareholders and guarantors, monitoring changes
in its pledged assets, and issuing warnings about any major
risks that may affect the lessee’s ability to make repayments
to the Group; and (ii) quarterly on-site post-lease inspections,
including collecting the latest financial statements, credit
reports, environmental inspection reports, bank statements,
invoices and recent photos of the leased assets from the
lessee, and monitoring the changes in the asset-liability
structure of the lessee. The frequency of post-lease inspections
will vary depending on, among others, the risk level determined
during each inspection.

As to the risk warning process, risk signals are divided
into three levels: general, medium and high risks. Upon the
identification of risk signals in a project, the relevant business
manager will propose preliminary actions and measures in the
inspection report after investigating and evaluating the risk
level. The relevant project manager and risk control personnel
will then determine the risk level and action plan for approval by
the chief risk officer. In addition, the Group will set up a working
group to monitor and follow up on projects with high risk levels.
Depending on the actual situation of the relevant project, the
procedures or measures taken by the Group to address the
risks identified, including the recovery and collection of finance
lease receivables, include but are not limited to: (i) adjusting the
internal quality rating of finance lease receivables; (i) adjusting
the overall credit arrangement; (iii) expediting the lease
arrangement and demanding payment of rent; and (iv) taking
legal action and disposing of pledged or mortgaged assets in
accordance with the law. Risk alerts issued against a client
may subsequently be cancelled if the risk signals identified
are found to be inaccurate or there is no longer a risk to the
Group’s credit assets after further investigation and evaluation.
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Directors” Report (Continued)

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SHARES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors as at the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules of the
Stock Exchange.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, charitable donation amounting to approximately
HK$372,000 was made within the Group (2023: approximately
HK$134,627).

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the year, the largest supplier accounted for 5.79% of the
Group’s purchases and the five largest suppliers accounted for
13.46% of the Group’s total purchases. The largest customer
accounted for 21.23% of the Group’s turnover and the five largest
customers accounted for 25.54% of the Group’s total turnover.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) has an interest in the Group’s five largest
suppliers and customers.

EMPLOYEES

The total number of employees of the Group is approximately
1,232 (2023: 1,302). The remuneration of the employees of the
Group is determined on the basis of performance and responsibility
of the employees. The Group provides education allowances to
the employees. The Group also provides internal training to its
employees to enable them to achieve self-improvement and to
enhance their job related skills.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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Directors” Report (Continued)

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company’s bye-laws provided that the directors for the time
being of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profit of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
or any of them, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty or supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts, except
such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or
dishonesty.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against directors of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the convertible bonds as disclosed in Note 31 to the
financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were entered into
by the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024.

AUDITOR

HLM CPA Limited, the former auditor of the Company, resigned
as the auditor of the Company on 27 November 2024 and HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited was appointed by the Board on the
same date as auditor to fill the casual vacancy.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 have
been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited who shall hold
office until the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting for reappointment of HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Hing Yip Holdings Limited
He Xiangming

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025

*

For identification purpose only
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THE GROUP

Aiming to promote the long-term sustainable development of
its business, Hing Yip Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”, “we”, “our” or “us”) have been striving
to continuously optimize various businesses of the Group and
actively invest in high-growth industries in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) to gradually achieve the goal of enhancing
and maintaining stable shareholder returns. The Group’s diversified

businesses cover:

()  Wellness elderly care business: The Group will continue to
head toward the direction of developing a three-tier elderly care
system comprising institutions, communities and households
in Nanhai District, advance the premium elderly care services
“integrating medical and care services” and endeavour to forge
the “Taoyuan” elderly care brand into an industry model;

(i) Financial leasing business: By comprehensively building
the core competitiveness of financial leasing in environmental
protection segment, the Group will strive to develop into a first
class environmental-friendly and professional financial leasing
company in the PRC;

(i)  Civil explosives business: The Group is actively implementing
technological upgrade and transformation projects and cost
reduction reform measures, striving to explore domestic civil
explosives manufacturing and distribution business;

(v) Big data business: By taking advantages of the opportunities
arising from the new smart city construction plan in Nanhai
District, the Group will continue its research and development
efforts in the big data industry projects, leverage market
forces in technological research and development, strive to
improve corporate qualifications and merits. We will focus on
the business strategic direction of developing the industrial
Internet platform business, and make every effort to become
a first-class industrial Internet platform service provider in the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area;

(v) Hotel business: The Group operates the Guilin Plaza
Hotel located in Qixing District, Guilin City, Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, providing thoughtful accommodation
services for travellers; and

46 HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B2 A B2 5]
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4F#t

B | ALE ROETR

B AEE

BEZERARAT ((RAAF)) REWBAF

(BT REm) 3 T3 LUEBIEFH R
TRERSER —HROFEEBEEER
BEED BRERETEARAME (THEH
mith)) BIERITHE > UBS BREA RER
RERRLOHBHER - AEBOZTEER
WA

s ARBREEEEB FEVBEMBE
KB HERER=ZHREERERHTAE
RouwE—SERBEESINEDR
ERB 2T E R BEIEER
hE

s HMENEER ZEERRAFAMDED
MEMENZORF N BENEERRS
PEAM—RRRERCREEER
& ;

e EARKFG(TRR) EH: CHEGHE

TEMARNEIRRBERARNE
Bt RAORABERARBRERDIHE
7

s AEEERK . GERSEMAESEET
ERSTEINEZE  BIFERBRANER
RBBEXER $RMAEDTHE
RACEEELE, P TEXEHMETE
AREBERBRERAR 2NITEARTE
BRAEE—RANTEEHBETER
Bl &

o BEEHR KEUNEARATERAELEHE
MH Lt EBEMEICAIS > RIkE IR H#
B ORI (ETE IRFS o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report”) outlines the Group’s overall environmental, social and
governance (“‘ESG”) performance, risks, strategies, measures and
commitments.

Reporting Period

Unless otherwise stated, the ESG Report covers the period from
1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting Period” or
“2024”).

Reporting Scope

The ESG Report covers all the Group’s continuing operations
included in the annual report (excluding those with less revenue
share and less environmental impact). This ESG Report covers the
Group’s major businesses and obtains key performance indicators
(“KPIs”) from the operations of the Nanhai headquarters, Hong Kong
office, wellness elderly care business, financial leasing business, civil
explosives business, big data business, and hotel business.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Reporting Framework

The ESG Report was prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG
Reporting Guide”) set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). For the corporate governance structure and
other relevant information of the Group, please refer to the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 14 to 30 of this annual report.

During the preparation of the ESG Report, the Group adopted
the following reporting principles as set out in the aforesaid ESG
Reporting Guide:

Materiality: The Group conducted materiality assessment to identify
material issues in 2024, and regarded the identified material issues
as the focus of preparation of its ESG Report. The materiality of the
issues has been reviewed and confirmed by the board of directors
(the “Board”) and the ESG working group (the “Working Group”).
For further details, please refer to the sections headed “Stakeholder
Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment”.

Quantitative: The criteria and methods used to calculate the KPI
data and the applicable assumptions have been supplemented in the
notes.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the ESG Report has been
prepared using the same methods as that for the year ended 31
December 2023 (“2023”) for comparison purpose. If there is any
change in the scope of disclosure, data collection system and
calculation method which may affect the comparison with the
previous reports, the corresponding data will be explained.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear stakeholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the ESG Report
to demonstrate the Group’s commitment to continuously improving
ESG performance in the following five areas: corporate governance,
environmental protection, employment practice, operating practice
and community engagement.

Over the recent years, the PRC government has been committed
to promoting the transformation of the green economy, and has
implemented the goal of “carbon peaking by 2030 and carbon
neutrality by 2060” to promote the development of clean energy. The
Group is committed to following the pace of national development
and moving towards a circular economy business model so as to
help promote sustainable development. The Group will capitalize on
opportunities of developing green bond projects to gain investment
returns, continue to develop its financial leasing business, firmly
follow the path of professional development in green environmental
protection, and always stay focused on municipal environmental
protection fields such as solid waste treatment, sewage treatment,
and biogas power generation. In response to the national energy
transformation and development, we will continue to improve energy
efficiency across various business sectors, such as replacing with
energy saving lighting. The Group will continue to explore and
research its big data business, with a focus on the industrial Internet
of Things (IloT), aiming to expand it business and develop projects
related to the intelligent upgrading of the manufacturing industry.
The goal is to provide manufacturing enterprises with solutions that
improve quality, increase efficiency, and reduce costs.

In recent years, people from all walks of life have been attaching
increasingly great importance to the sustainable development and
social responsibility of enterprises, which should incorporate ESG
factors into their core decisions during their business operations. The
Group also strives to develop sustainable development approach
and a sound governance structure to effectively manage ESG issues
related to the Group. The Board is required to assess the potential
impact of ESG issues on the Group’s overall strategy, formulate ESG
management approach and strategies, and monitor the Group’s ESG
issues. Information on the Group’s ESG governance structure is set
out in the section headed “ESG Governance Structure”.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

In order to identify and prioritize material ESG issues that have
relatively significant impact on our operations and our stakeholders,
we continuously communicate with our internal and external
stakeholders. The Board has appointed the Working Group to
conduct materiality assessment. Information on stakeholder
engagement channels and materiality assessment that has been
conducted by the Group are set out in the sections headed
“Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment”
respectively. In order to develop a deeper understanding of
stakeholders’ expectations for the sustainable development of
the Group, the Group will further strengthen communication
with stakeholders, and formulate relevant policies and measures
with reference to their opinions to enhance the Group’s ESG
performance.

As a company that honors its corporate social responsibility,
the Group recognizes the importance of reducing emissions to
minimising its environmental impact. In order to fulfill the Group’s
commitment to corporate social responsibility and to allow the
Group’s stakeholders to better understand the Group’s continuous
improvement in ESG performance, the Group has decided to
formulate quantifiable environmental targets in response to the
national vision of carbon neutrality so as to enhance corporate
reputation. To this end, the Group has proactively implemented
the principles of sustainable development and adopted relevant
measures at the operational level. To ensure the effective
implementation of these measures, the Board has appointed the
Working Group to collect relevant ESG data, track and review our
performance, and assess the Group’s progress in achieving relevant
goals.

Finally, on behalf of the Board and management team of the
Group, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to our valued
stakeholders for their continued support and to our employees
for their valuable contributions to the development of the Group.
Looking ahead, the Group will continue to integrate ESG concepts
into its business strategy and management system, stay committed
as a responsible enterprise, operate its business in a more
responsible and sustainable manner, create sustainable value for its
shareholders and pursue a sustainable future.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group has developed an ESG governance structure to ensure
that ESG governance is in line with our business strategy and
integrate ESG management into our business operations and
decision-making process.

The Board assumes overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG issues
and is required to formulate ESG management approach, strategies,
priorities and objectives. In order to better manage the Group’s ESG
performance, related issues and potential risks, the Board discuss
ESG related matter at least annually, and regularly assesses and
determines the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities, and reviews
its performance and progress in relation to ESG-related goals.
The Board is also responsible for ensuring the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems, and approving the
information to be disclosed in the ESG Report.

In order to systematically manage ESG issues under the
authorization of the Board, the Group has established the Working
Group, which is comprised of core members from different
departments, aiming to assist the Board in oversight of ESG issues.
The Working Group is responsible for collecting and analyzing ESG
data, monitoring and evaluating the Group’s ESG performance,
following up and reviewing the progress of achieving the Group’s
ESG-related goals, ensuring compliance with ESG-related laws and
regulations, assisting in materiality assessment and preparing the
ESG Report. The Working Group regularly schedules meetings at
least annually to assess the effectiveness of existing policies and
procedures, and develop appropriate solutions to improve the overall
performance of ESG policies. The Working Group is required to
report to the Board on a regular basis to assist in the assessment
and identification of the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities, and to
ensure the implementation and effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

As a responsible enterprise, while actively developing business and
improving profitability, the Group also attaches great importance
to the relationship with stakeholders and their feedback on
our business and ESG issues, so as to proactively balance the
interests of all parties and promote the sustainable development of
enterprises. To fully understand, respond to and address the core
concerns of different stakeholders, we have been working with key
stakeholders, including but not limited to senior management and
the Board, shareholders and investors, employees, customers,
suppliers, the government and regulators, as well as the public, non
governmental organizations (“NGOs”) and the media to maintain
regular and close communication.

We incorporate stakeholders’ expectations into our operations and
ESG strategies by employing the diverse collaboration approaches
and communication channels as shown in the table below.

Stakeholder
FinE

Communication channel
BREE

B AL RIS A

FHRESH

AEBFA—XEEENEE ERGERE
X RABANENZG TEBERER
MNEZENEAEREHRMAEFRESGER
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Expectation

HE

Senior management and the Board Board meetings

o Compliance-based operation

SREEEREES EFXggR ERLE
° Daily communication and ° Economic performance
reporting BB RIR
BHEEBRER e To improve risk management and
internal control
TERREERANIPEEE
Shareholders and investors o Annual general meetings and ° Financial result
BREREEES other general meetings Bifs
BREBFEATREMKEEASZ o  Corporate transparency
e Financial reports, EFERE
announcements, circulars and e To improve risk management and
other public information internal control
MBRE - AE - BEE TERBREIRERANEREE
REER
Employees ° Regular job performance o Career development
=] assessment HEERE
EH TERIATE e Competitive salary and benefits

° Training and seminars
B S

) HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B2 A B2 5]
5 ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4F#t

B E IR E N B AR R

° Equal opportunity for
advancement
TEHESHKSE

o Healthy and safe working
environment

REZEMNIIFIRIE



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Stakeholder

Communication channel

R e ERES @

Expectation

FipE BBEE HE
Customers ° Customer hotline and email ° To provide quality products and
=R EREGHEE services
REEENERRRE
o To protect customers’ interests
RIER R F] &
o To protect customer privacy
RIEE RRA
° Compliance-based operation
SREE
Suppliers ° Supplier performance o Fair and open sourcing
HEB assessment NFEFREERE
HErKRRFTME . Responsible supply chain
° Phone and email management
Bt R EE EEENHEREEIR

Government and regulatory bodies

BB EHE

The public, NGOs and the media
R IFBUT VAR K 1R B8

To participate in improvement
plans organized by industry and
Iooal government regulators
SEITE M H BUN B E 8P
HBR St E

ESG reports

ESGIR &

Charitable activities and
donations

BEEBMIBW

o Business ethics and reputation
HEEEREE

o Fair and open competition
RERFAZRSE

o Compliance-based operation
BREE

o Risk management
Rk EIE

° Tax payment

5 GAETEN

° To implement green
management
BT EEE

° To provide employment
opportunities
RMEMERS

o To support public welfare
FESYNGEE

° Open and transparent
information
REAZERER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

To better understand the opinions and expectations of stakeholders
on the Group’s ESG performance, we have adopted a systematic
approach to conduct annual materiality assessment. With reference
to the Group’s business development strategies and industry
practices, the Group has identified and confirmed a list of material
ESG issues, which covers the following five major areas: corporate
governance, environmental protection, employment practice,
The Group
prepared a questionnaire according to the list, and invited relevant

operational practice and community investment.

stakeholders to rate potential material issues based on the influence
of ESG issues on the stakeholders and the significance of impact on
the economy, environment and society. We analyzed the results of
the questionnaire and formulated a materiality matrix. The materiality
matrix and identified material issues are reviewed and confirmed by
the Board and Working Group and disclosed in the ESG Report.
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s materiality matrix is as
follows:

High Materiality Matrix
EEHERE

o

Corporate social
respon3|bll|ty
e

Carbon emission management and

Tl BOREM

2
@

Supply chain management
HIEEEE

Influence on Stakeholders Assessments and Decisions
HiFHE

\{F:}wz

Employee development and

BB L@ RAERWS @

BEE#HETM

BEBMT RENENASEEZESGREN
BERRBE RAREAERRNTTRETE
EEEWTE TR AERS £ R EE LT
%%”%&ﬁ%ﬁ%’ﬁ%iﬁw%kme
SEEE ERERARE  02EA -
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R ITIR - BFIN B FEENERETH
Mt ENEE M EE - EEMEEROHT
MEAZBECHESER T NMNABER
S A AESGIR S (E I E o IR
R AEENEEMIEEEN T

Integrity construction
BRIEIERE

ustomer service

;@yén countermeasures 1o ciimate change Protecting customer pnvacy Product quality and safety
il P PN and r|ghts management

hic BIEREHREEL ae

BREE pe e RIS PR ESHERZRHEE

Data protection and
cybersecurity
2 171 \é

BERENPRZE

training
B3R EE|
Employment practice
EEIES
Waste treatment Responsitéle $resciutce: ‘c,onsumption
syl BEEERHFE l
L%W Significance of Economic, Environmental and Social Impacts H%gh

RERIRI EEEEE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

Al.

Emissions

The Group has always attached great importance
to environmental protection, with particular focus on
reducing exhaust gas and greenhouse gas (“GHG”")
emissions, improving resource utilization efficiency and
waste management. For the hotel business, the Group
has formulated policies including the Environmental
Quality Management System ((IRIZEEEIEHIE)), the
Detailed Implementation Rules for Energy Conservation
and Environmental Protection ((EISEIRREHAHA))
and the Code of Practice for Energy Conservation and
Environmental Protection ((Ei#Y8E /R IR IR RESFA))
to standardize the implementation of our environmental
protection-related work. The Group will continue to
improve the environmental protection management
system for each business segment, aiming to minimize
the pollution and environmental damage caused by our
daily business operations.

The Group strictly abides by environmental protection
laws and regulations, including but not limited to the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China ((FFZEAREMEIRIZEREL)), the Water
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China (A ZE AR HEME KI5 ZEHEZED)
and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by
Solid Waste ((FRZE AR HEMBEIE BEY) S RIRIZFH A
7£)) in the PRC, and the Air Pollution Control Ordinance
and the Waste Disposal Ordinance in Hong Kong.
During the Reporting Period, there was no incident of
non-compliance with the relevant local environmental
laws and regulations relating to exhaust gas and GHG
emissions, discharges of pollutants into water and land
and generation of hazardous or non-hazardous wastes
that have a significant impact on the Group.

Exhaust Gas Emissions

The Group’s exhaust gas emissions are mainly derived
from diesel and unleaded petrol consumed by vehicles,
and liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) consumed for heating
and insulation purposes in Civil Explosive business. The
reduction of nitrogen oxides (NOx) and particulate matter
(PM) generated in 2024 were mainly due to a year-on-
year decrease in the production of packaged explosives
in the civil explosives business by 2,250.67 tons and a
year-on-year decrease in sales by 1,230.58 tons, the
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

56

decreased volume of raw materials and finished products
in transit, which led to decrease in mileage of medium-
duty and heavy-duty vehicles. In addition, Starting from
August 2024, the production line stopped using steam
generated by boilers, resulting in a significant reduction
in boiler fuel usage throughout the year, thereby reducing
liquid natural gas energy consumption. In order to reduce
the impact on the environment, the Group will reduce
the total exhaust emission density by 5% over the next
five years based on the year ended 31 December 2021
(“2021”), which is currently under way. The Group will
actively take the following emission reduction measures:

° Gradually phase out passenger fuel vehicles owned
by the company, replacing them with hybrid or
fully electric passenger vehicles to further reduce
exhaust emissions from passenger fuel vehicles;

° Discontinue the use of natural gas boiler heating
systems in the civil explosives business, switching
to electric steam generators combined with air-
source heat pumps, and waste heat recovery from
air compressors, to reduce exhaust emissions from
heating system to zero;

° Gradually phase out and upgrade the existing in-
plant cargo transport vehicles (fuel vehicles) in the
civil explosives business, adopting fuel vehicles
with lower exhaust emissions or hybrid/fully electric
cargo transport vehicles that meet industry safety
requirements, further reducing exhaust emissions
from in-plant cargo transport fuel vehicles;

° Divest the product delivery transportation operations
of the civil explosives business, transferring them to
entities with more efficient and advanced transport
vehicles to further reduce the exhaust emissions
generated from company’s product delivery
transportation.

The Group’s exhaust gas emissions performance is
summarized as follows:
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Type of exhaust gas' Unit 2024 2023
EERTEE B —TZE ==
Nitrogen oxides(NOx) tonnes 223.50 400.58
RKATYI(NOY 145

Sulphur oxides(SOx) tonnes 0.01 0.01
W& 1E4(SOx) 45

Particulate matter(PM) tonnes 0.55 0.76
BRI (PM) Mg
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Note:

1. The calculation method of exhaust gas emissions and the
related emission factors were based on, including but not
limited to, “How to Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix
2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued
by the Stock Exchange and the “4430 Industrial Boiler
(Heat Supply) Industry Coefficients Handbook” {4430
HIBNE (BVOMHIE) TEREFM)issued by the Ministry
of Ecology and Environment of the People’s Republic of
China.

GHG Emissions

The Group’s GHG emissions are mainly derived from
the direct GHG emissions (scope 1) caused by the
consumption of diesel and unleaded petrol consumption
by vehicles and LNG consumed for heating and insulation
purposes and natural gas consumption by boilers,
and the indirect GHG emissions caused by purchased
electricity (scope 2). In response to the national carbon
neutrality goal, the Group will, taking 2021 as the base
year, reduce the total GHG emission intensity by 5% in
the next five years, the current status is ongoing. For the
aforesaid emission sources, we will strive to reduce our
carbon footprint through the following measures:

° Adopting emission reduction measures on vehicles
and LNG consumed for heating and insulation
purposes and relevant emission reduction measures
on boilers, the relevant measures of which are
described in the section headed “Exhaust Gas
Emissions” of this aspect;

° Adopting electricity-saving measures, the relevant
measures of which are described in the section
headed “Energy Management” section of Aspect
A2; and

° Staying committed to educating and training
employees on the aforesaid environmental policies,
and encouraging them to put forward feasible
suggestions to continuously improve energy
conservation and emission reduction.
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The Group’s total GHG emissions decreased significantly
from approximately 10,306.59 tCO2e in 2023 to
approximately 10,849.84 tCO:ze in 2024. This was mainly
attributable to the new building of Nanhai Taoyuan
Rehabilitation Hospital began operations in 2024,
with all departments across its 13 floors put into use.
Additionally, the original outpatient building and inpatient
building of the hospital were renovated in 2024 into a
Traditional Chinese Medicine Center and a Medical-
Nursing Integration Center (Internal Medicine Section ),
respectively, and put into operation. Throughout 2024,
the bed occupancy rate of the entire hospital continued
to rise, and electricity consumption increased compared
to 2023. Furthermore, the outpatient and inpatient visits
at the subsidiary Taoyuan Nursing Home significantly
increased compared to 2023, leading to a corresponding
rise in electricity usage. As a result, the group’s externally
purchased electricity increased.

The Group’s GHG emissions performance is summarized
as follows:
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Indicator? Unit 2024 2023
F51T2 B —_T_ME —_B_=f
Scope 1 — Direct GHG emissions tCO2e 1,538.60 2,248.23
HE-——BERRERBIN M|t EE
e Diesel consumption tCO2e 1,000.36 1,275.22
o SHUHFE M|t EE
e Petrol consumption tCO2e 76.90 78.09
o JSUHIEFE WE_EEREE
e | NG and natural gas consumption  tCO:ze 461.34 894.92
o RIERARKKRARIEFE M| ICEE
Scope 2 — Energy indirect GHG tCO2e 9,311.24 8,058.36
emissions
HE - - REFRERBIN M| ICREE
e Purchased Electricity tCO2e 9,311.24 8,058.36
e SNEE M| ICER
Total GHG emissions (Scopes 1 and 2) tCOze 10,849.84 10,306.59
BERBHREE BE—RI) M| ICREE
Total GHG emission intensity tCO2e /HK$ million 13.35 11.29

revenue3
RERBHREERE “HIEWREE
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Notes:

2. GHG emission data is presented in terms of carbon
dioxide equivalent and are based on, but not limited to,
the “2006 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
(“IPCC”) Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas
Inventories”, the “Global Warming Potential Values” from
the “IPCC Fifth Assessment Report” in 2014, “How to
prepare an ESG Report — Appendix II: Reporting Guidance
on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, the
“2023 Sustainability Report” published by the CLP Power
Hong Kong Limited and 2023 baseline emission factors for
the regional power grid in the PRC for emission reduction
project issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment
of the People’s Republic of China.

3. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s revenue of
approximately HK$812.62 million (2023: HK$913.13
million). This data is also used to calculate other intensity
data.

Waste Water Discharges

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s property and
industrial park investment business, wellness elderly
care business, hotel business, and civil explosives
business, in aggregate discharged approximately
199,795.00 m® (2023: approximately 230,318.00 m?) of
wastewater, wastewater treatment included recycled by
the municipality in a centralised manner and discharged
processed waste water through the sewage treatment
system. Industrial waste water generated by the civil
explosives business is also required to be filtered by
biological substances before being discharged to the
organic composite soil ecological water purification
system. Waste water discharged from other business
segments is directly discharged to the public sewage pipe
network and piped to the waste water treatment plant
for treatment. Water consumption of these segments
represents the waste water discharged. In addition, the
financial leasing business also places great emphasis
on sewage discharge treatment. Its core business,
which involves sewage treatment-related leasing and
consulting services, may cause secondary pollution
during operations. In terms of exhaust emissions, the
primary concern is the odor generated from areas
such as the engineering pretreatment zone, sewage
treatment ponds, and sludge concentration ponds.
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These are collected through sealed covers and treated
by deodorization facilities to meet emission standards.
Production wastewater meets the Class A/B standards
of the “Pollutant Discharge Standards for Urban Sewage
Treatment Plants” (15385 7K iR B MRS oW HEUIZ 2 )
(GB18918-2002), and online monitoring devices for flow
rate, pH, COD, ammonia nitrogen, and total phosphorus
are installed at the tailwater discharge outlet, typically
connected to local environmental protection authorities.
The sludge generated is processed by sludge disposal
equipment and, after treatment, is mainly used as cover
soil for landscaping. According to the calculations in the
“Green Enterprise Assessment Report of Guangdong
Green Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.” {(ER#&SREH
EERABBEEFTHBE) (hereinafter referred
to as the “Green Enterprise Assessment Report”), the
environmental benefits generated by the core green
business (sewage treatment-related) of Green Financial
Leasing in 2024 are as follows: a reduction of 30,234.08
tons of biochemical oxygen demand (BOD), 75,119.11
tons of chemical oxygen demand (COD), 8,098.20 tons of
ammonia nitrogen, 11,256.01 tons of total nitrogen, and
4,532.26 tons of total phosphorus. Water consumption
data and related water targets and measures are
described in the section headed “Water Management”
Aspect A2.

Waste Management
Hazardous waste

The Group’s wellness elderly care business produces
medical waste, which will be temporarily stored in
government hospitals or directly disposed by qualified
medical waste disposal companies. Hazardous wastes
are inevitably produced during the operation of Nanhai
headquarters, such as waste batteries, waste ink
cartridges, waste fluorescent tubes, etc. Due to the
building renovations for the Taoyuan Welfare Center and
Taoyuan Rehabilitation Hospital in the Nanhai District
under the wellness elderly care business, the number
of beds has increased, and bed occupancy rates have
also seen significant improvement. Coupled with the
expansion of physical examination and medical services,
the volume of medical business continues to grow,
resulting in an increase in medical waste emissions.
On the other hand, according to the calculations in the
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

“Green Enterprise Assessment Report,” the environmental
benefits generated by Green Financial Leasing regarding
the solid waste recycling and solid waste treatment
businesses in 2024 are as follows: a saving of 144,400
tons of standard coal, treatment of 42,900 tons of
hazardous waste, disposal of 8.12 million cubic meters
of construction waste and soil, recycling of 417,500
cubic meters of construction waste and soil, treatment of
68,000 tons of food waste, processing of 410,000 sets
of discarded electronic appliances, treatment of 18.3
tons of aluminum-containing waste residue, production
of 7.6 tons of solid aluminum sulfate, and 1.06 tons of
liquid polyaluminum chloride. The operations of Green
Financial Leasing have made significant contributions
to the environmental benefits of society as a whole. In
order to reduce hazardous waste discharge, the Group
will, taking 2021 as the base year, reduce the emission
intensity of hazardous wastes by 5% in the next five
years, the current status is ongoing. The Group is
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committed to waste management implementation and TERIRIZ A HIER o
stipulates that the hazardous waste produced shall not be
discharged, disposed or transferred at will, and disposal
arrangements should be arranged by government-
approved and qualified waste recyclers to comply with
relevant environmental laws and regulations.
The Group’s hazardous waste discharge performance is KEBRNEEEZEYHNREMR
summarized as follows: PN -
Type of waste Unit 2024 2023
BE Y48 R B —EZmE —EZ=
Total hazardous waste tonnes 17.97 16.11
BEEEEYESR i
e Medical waste tonnes 17.95 16.09
o BEEY U
e Others, include (waste ink cartridges, tonnes

waste motor oil, waste fluorescent

tubes and waste batteries, etc.) 0.02 0.02
o Hith > 611 (BE=2 > EREEME>  NE

BE )G E R EE B M E)
Total hazardous waste intensity tonnes,”/HK$ million

revenue 0.02 0.02

EEBEEMEERE Mg A EEWA
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Non-hazardous wastes

The non-hazardous wastes produced during the
operation of each business segment of the Group are
mainly general domestic waste, kitchen waste and
paper. Kitchen waste is derived from restaurants and
canteens operated by our wellness elderly care business,
and Science and Technology Park under Nanhai
headquarters, etc.

In order to reduce non-hazardous waste discharge, the
Group will, taking 2021 as the base year, reduce the
emission intensity of non hazardous wastes by 5% in the
next five years, the current status is ongoing.

The Group has refined the implementation measures
for domestic waste diversion, classification and
reduction, regulates, improves, and urges and guides
various business segments to carry out domestic
waste classification and recycling. The Group has also
been committed to developing paperless office and
endeavouring to save paper by encouraging double
sided printing. Waste paper is delivered to environmental
recycling companies for disposal.

For the non-hazardous waste produced in the operation
process, we also maintain a garbage chamber for our
hotel business that meets the National Standard of the
People’s Republic of China on the Classification and
Accreditation for Star-rated Tourism Hotels ((FFZE A
EHNBEBERRERERIEZHKNEN D ETED) . All
non-hazardous wastes are recycled and disposed of
by government-designated environmental and health
administrative authorities. The kitchen waste produced
is mainly used as animal feed and compost to reduce
the impact on the surrounding environment. For the
hotel business, we have actively implemented various
measures including reducing consumables for guests,
reducing the amount of packaging materials and not
providing disposable tableware. By internally adopting
hierarchical utilisation of food raw materials and providing
takeout service for dining customers with packaging
and wine storage services, the hotel also minimized
the consumption of food raw materials and significantly
reduced the production of kitchen waste and other
wastes. In addition, the canteen of the group centrally
collects kitchen waste and provides to the local kitchen
waste treatment department for resource utilization such
as garbage-to-hydrogen conversion.
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A2.

The main non-hazardous waste discharge performance of
the Group is summarized as follows:

B

&R ERHE &

FEBNFEZEZERYIRE
WEAT

Type of waste* Unit 2024 2023
EE YR B —E-ME ==
Total non-hazardous waste tonnes 838.03 853.32
EmEERYRE 7 838.03 853.32
e General waste tonnes 761.79 767.08
o —fRINIR i 761.79 767.08
e Kitchen waste tonnes 68.95 7217
o EER U 68.95 72.17
e Paper tonnes 7.29 6.87
o iR i 7.29 6.87
e Used vehicle tires tonnes 0.00 7.20
s BREERRA U 0.00 7.20
Total non-hazardous waste intensity tonnes/HK$ million

revenue 1.03 0.93
mEBEEVEERE Mg AN EEWA 1.03 0.93
Note e
4. The disclosed figures do not include non-hazardous waste 4. HBEEBEFE=-ZSAESE

from the hotel business since it is operated by a third-party
lessee that accurate data could not be obtained.

Use of Resources

Environmental protection and resource conservation
are important responsibilities of the Group. The Group
actively promotes the effective use of resources, and
monitors the potential impact that its business operations
brought to the environment. As stated in Aspect A1,
the Group has formulated relevant environmental
management policies and procedures to manage the use
of water, electricity, diesel, petrol, LNG and natural gas.

Energy Management

In daily production and operation, the Group’s energy
consumption mainly includes diesel and unleaded
petrol consumption by vehicles, LNG consumed for
heating and insulation purposes, as well as natural gas
consumption by boilers, and electricity consumption
in our operations. The new building of Nanhai Taoyuan
Rehabilitation Hospital began operations in 2024,
with all departments across its 13 floors put into use.
Additionally, the original outpatient building and inpatient
building of the hospital were renovated in 2024 into a

A2.
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Traditional Chinese Medicine Center and a Medical-
Nursing Integration Center (Internal Medicine Section I),
respectively, and put into operation. Throughout 2024,
the bed occupancy rate of the entire hospital continued
to rise, and electricity consumption increased compared
to 2023. Furthermore, the outpatient and inpatient visits
at the subsidiary Taoyuan Nursing Home significantly
increased compared to 2023, leading to a corresponding
rise in electricity usage. As a result, the group’s externally
purchased electricity increased. In addition to the energy-
saving measures for vehicles and boilers mentioned in
the section headed “Exhaust Gas Emissions” in Aspect
A1, the Group has also made efforts to reduce electricity
usage. Additionally, the financial leasing business is also
focusing on clean heating projects, increasing the use of
clean energy, reducing environmental pollution caused
by fossil fuel combustion, and centralized heating can
significantly improve energy efficiency while reducing heat
loss. The Group will, using 2021 as the base year, reduce
the total energy consumption intensity by 5% in the
next five years, and plan to promote the replacement of
natural gas boiler fuel with electricity in the civil explosives
business, and the construction of photovoltaic power
generation system on roof for the wellness elderly care
business in the next seven years, the current status is
ongoing. To reduce energy consumption, the Group has
taken energy-saving measures in each business segment:

° Actively carrying out renewable energy projects.
The Nanhai District Taoyuan Welfare Center has
installed solar and air-source hybrid water heaters
on the rooftop, along with 3,500 square meters of
solar photovoltaic power generation equipment,
converting solar energy into electricity to meet
part of the facility’s power needs and save 17%
on electricity costs. The hotel business has also
established a solar water heating system, reducing
electricity consumption;

o Increasing the use of new energy-saving lighting
sources such as LED lights to extend the service life
of equipment and reduce resource consumption;
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o Employing computer monitoring technology to
automatically track major energy-consuming
equipment, and intelligently adjusting settings
according to seasons and changes in indoor and
outdoor temperatures; and

° Endeavouring to strengthen energy-saving
promotion and training, and post energy-saving
signs in conspicuous places to enhance the
environmental protection awareness of our hotel
guests, property tenants and employees.

For the Reporting Period, the Group’s indirect energy
consumption increased from approximately 10,025.56
MWh? in 2023 to approximately 13,014.93 MWh in 2024.

The Group’s energy consumption performance is
summarized as follows:

=

R EREERTEEE
HERERBETEBRA R
BEHNERIMNEELLES
FERREREE ; &

HAOMRENFEE E R F3l
R ERERMEERE 12
FFEEEZE -MERF RE
ERIRREH -

REPHBREHE  AEEDN
BMEEREEER_ZS=F
#10,025. 56K R EAEZE
ZHF4£913,014.93JK B B o

EBEBERHEERRHR LN

Type of energy Unit 2024 2023
REIE AR B i “TWE ZEZ=
Direct energy consumption?® MWh 6,632.29 9,885.08
B RHFES JK BB
e Diesel MWh 4,058.69 5,174.24
o SH JKFUEF
e Petrol MWh 291.49 284.58
o J5H JEFLEF
e | NG and natural gas MWh 2,282.10 4,426.26
s RIERARKRAR KB B
Indirect energy consumption MWh 13,014.93 10,025.56
B AETRH FE IK BB
e Purchased electricity MWh 13,014.93 10,025.56
s SMNEE JK LB
Total energy consumption MWh 19,647.22 19,910.64
HRERAERE KB B
Total energy consumption intensity MWh,HK$ million

revenue 24.18 21.80
MEEREERE KRB BEEEKRA
Note: st

58 The unit conversion method of energy consumption data
is based on the “Energy Statistic Manual” issued by the
International Energy Agency.
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Water Management

Based on the geographical location of the Group’s
operating premises, we have not encountered any issues
in sourcing water that is fit for purpose. Due to the first
phase (senior apartments) of the Nanhai Taoyuan Welfare
Center’s elderly care facility upgrade and expansion
project being in the construction stage in 2024, a
significant amount of water was required. Additionally, the
senior apartments officially opened and began operations
on October 11, 2024, during which water usage for
initial cleaning and the daily needs of elderly residents
after move-in also increased concurrently. The number
of elderly residents across various subsidiaries also grew
compared to 20283, leading to a corresponding rise in
daily water consumption. As a result, overall water usage
increased. To reduce water consumption, the Group
will, using 2021 as the base year, reduce the total water
consumption intensity by 5% in the next five years, the
current status is ongoing. In addition to the waste water
recycling measures described in the section headed
“Waste Water Discharge” at Aspect A1, the Group has
also actively adopted water control measures in various
business segments:

° All guest rooms in our hotel business use water-
saving toilets that meet the water efficiency level 1
standard to guide guests to reduce waste;

° Cotton fabrics are changed only as requested by
hotel guests to reduce the number of washes;

° Hotel employees are encouraged to save water in
their daily lives and install smart sensor water-saving
systems in employee bathrooms;

° A large amount of water mist from the cooling tower
of the hotel building is recycled to greatly reduce the
loss of water mist;

° Water leak inspection is carried out on a regular
basis, and water consumption is controlled by
installing separate water meters and establishing
a water consumption ledger for measurement and
assessment; and

° We endeavor to strengthen energy-saving
promotion and training, and post water-saving signs
in conspicuous places to enhance the environmental
protection awareness of our hotel guests, property
tenants, and employees.

HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B P2 A R 2 7
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4F#t

BbE g REIRwmS &

KREE

E A& F 5 M B g9 1 1B {iL
B HMKBMBRAKELEBER
FIfE AR _MEFEEk
JRAIPOEERFEIREER —
B EFEAE) EEBTEIREERME
B BERERK-NMZEEAE
RIE-_OFE+B+—HExEW
BAER BHEETBEERESE

E%Eﬁ%ﬂ&fﬁﬁﬁmo
EDRAAEEEAHMOLEC
—=H&FEm E%%*ﬂfﬂi
AN BEREFE K EF o BRI
BX  AEBBESEU_TE _—%
EEEF RRRAFERNEELE
FEKERES% BRIREAET
FofrTHRATEBE 2 15 RkHE
U — B FR it B9 BE K [B] W HE FE 40
KEBNTEBBN S EBIRIBR
B KEHIHEHE -

s BEEBRAEZFHRAE
B R ERARIREERVEI K
BAFESR SIEEFRLDR
g,

s (BRBEIZERBIHRMRMH
am > PR D O REL 5

s HWEBEEIZARBEER
BB ZFEITAERE
ERERELEKRLR

o  WAEBREYSEELRK
EHIKBREIK » AKEEK
Z BRI

o TERRETT R KASOR) > I 22 8
BEKEREITAKEERU
BETSTE R e
HIAKE ; &

o EAMmEIKEFKREF
PSR R SR AL BN KRR 0 1R
FBEEEZE -YMEBRRKRE
ERIRREH -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

The Group’s total water consumption for the Reporting
Period is approximately 565,403.04 m?® (2023: to
approximately 484,428.12 m9).

The Group’s water consumption performance is
summarized as follows:

BB | M@ RIS @
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REBR S _MFEERAEFEK

B49565,403.041 L FK (ZE =
I 1 #9484,428 1231 53K ©

AEBEBAKBREAIMT

Water consumption Unit 2024 2023
F 7k B i ZE_ME —EZ=
Total water consumption m?3 603,512.04 484,428.12
HAFEIKE 37K

Total water consumption intensity m3/HK$ million revenue 742.67 530.51
MIEKERE MHRKSABEEERA

Use of Packaging Materials B EIER

The Group’s civil explosives business uses packaging
materials to seal and protect products, which are mainly
composite membranes and cartons. The Group will
strive to optimize the packaging method and select
the most suitable and efficient packaging materials,
aiming to reduce the use of packaging materials. No
packaging materials are used for our other businesses
as they are non-production in nature. The decrease in
use of packaging materials in 2024 compared to 2023 in
approximately 88.58 tonnes was due to decrease of sales
and production of emulsified explosives in 2,250 tonnes
under the civil explosives business.

The Group’s packaging materials consumption
performance is summarized as follows:

rEEREBEXBEERABEM
HEIRREER HXTEAE
EEMEHR AEBERNE®L
BEFA ERARGERTGE
HEWmWME - SERLD M
EHERAE2 BAREMEES
FEEMZRGE HEUEEHAMT
AEEME —_Z_NEL-F
TEHFOEYRERRILTRET
88.58ME o [RRI 2 N THE R >
BEEVFEESF LR 72,250
W > B LA ELEE M R E) R o

AEBNBEMERRERL
LI

Packaging materials Unit 2024 2023
BEME B —EZmE —T_-=
Total packaging materials consumption tonnes 740.29 828.87
BEMEEERE U 740.29 828.87
e Composite membrane tonnes 227.21 233.79
s EERE LT 227.21 233.79
e Cartons tonnes 513.09 595.08
o MR8 MA 513.09 595.08
Total packaging materials consumption tonnes/HK$ million

intensity revenue 0.91 0.90
BEMMNBERERE e, BB EWA 0.91 0.91
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A3.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group is committed to the practice of corporate
social responsibility and sustainable development,
and strives to mitigate the potential impact on the
environment. The Group has implemented the relevant
environmental protection policies mentioned in the
aforesaid sections, and is committed to reducing
consumption of natural resources and implementing
effective environmental management in pursuit of best
industry practices, so as to ensure that it strictly complies
with all relevant laws and regulations.

Corporate Green Development

As the PRC government continues to strengthen
its support for green finance, big data and other
businesses, the Group has also made great efforts
to formulate strategic plans for related businesses
to help promote sustainable development. In terms
of its financial leasing business, the Group will firmly
follow the path of professional development in green
environmental protection, and always stay focused on
municipal environmental protection fields such as solid
waste treatment, sewage treatment, and biogas power
generation and obtains a green rating. The Group’s big
data business will also continue to explore and research
the open Internet of Things platform as the core, targeting
at smart medical, smart energy and other fields for
business expansion and development of related project
products, thereby offering solutions to improve energy
efficiency.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

A4.

Strengthened Environmental Awareness

The Group is committed to building an “energy-saving
enterprise”, putting the concepts of cleaner production
and green operation into practice in various business
segments to sharpen its survival and competitive edges.
The Group has effectively strengthened its environmental
protection efforts internally. In addition to strictly requiring
employees to implement the environmental protection
measures set by the Group, it also actively enhances
employees’ environmental protection awareness by
distributing relevant environmental protection information
such as green office and operation to employees,
thereby effectively improving its environmental protection
standard. In addition, the Group is also committed to
promoting the concept of environmental protection and
plans to carry out diversified environmental protection
promotion activities to encourage hotel guests, property
and industrial park tenants and suppliers to participate in
environmental protection work and reduce the impact on
the environment and natural resources.

Climate Change

The escalating risks and challenges posed by climate
change to the global economy may also have a negative
impact on the Group’s business. Therefore, the Group
recognizes the importance of identifying and mitigating
any significant impacts of climate change. The Group has
initially incorporated climate risk into its Risk Management
System ((E 2 EEHIE)) and related work procedures,
and will hold meetings in various business segments to
discuss relevant issues, so as to improve climate risk
identification and management and capitalize on relevant
opportunities. In accordance with the international
recommendations of the Taskforce on Climate related
Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”) established by the
Financial Stability Board, the management of the Group
has assessed and recognized climate-related risks and
corresponding opportunities that have an impact on the
Group’s business. With reference to the risk classification
of TCFD, the Group has identified climate-related risks
and corresponding management measures as follows:
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Physical Risk

The Group’s business is mainly located in Guangdong,
Guangxi and Hong Kong, and may be subject to
extreme weather events such as heavy rain, floods and
typhoons. The increasing frequency and severity of such
events may increase the risk of power outages, supply
chain disruptions, and damage to buildings such as
hotels, factories and properties. This could disrupt the
Group’s operations, resulting in reduced revenue as well
as property damage and increased costs to repair or
restore damaged premises. We are also aware that these
incidents may endanger the safety of our employees.
As a countermeasure, the Group has formulated special
work arrangements for extreme weather, and will closely
monitor the latest weather news and suggestions issued
by the local government to formulate contingency plans
to ensure that all personnel are prepared to deal with
such extreme weather conditions, aiming at reducing
or avoiding losses and ensuring the health and safety
of employees when extreme weather hits the Group’s
premises.

Transition Risk

In order to achieve sustainable development, local
governments have successively enacted climate-related
legislation or tightened regulations to support the global
decarbonization vision. For instance, over the recent
years, the PRC government has been committed to
promoting the transformation of the green economy,
and has implemented the goal of “carbon peaking by
2030 and carbon neutrality by 2060” to promote the
development of clean energy. In response to such policy
changes, we may need to change our operating practices
and move towards a sustainable business model, which
may result in increased operating costs. The Group will
capitalize on opportunities of developing green bond
projects to gain investment returns, continue to develop
its financial leasing business, firmly focus on the field
of green environmental protection, and enhance its
corporate reputation. In response to energy transition, the
Group will also continue to carry out photovoltaic power
generation projects and replace energy-saving lighting in
various business segments to improve energy efficiency
and reduce operating costs.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

In addition, the Stock Exchange also requires listed
companies to strengthen climate-related disclosures in
their ESG reports, which may increase related compliance
costs. Failure to meet climate change compliance
requirements may expose the Group to the risk of claims
and litigation, which may result in a possible loss of
corporate reputation. The Group will regularly monitor
existing and emerging climate-related trends, policies and
regulations to avoid reputation risk due to slow response.
The Group will continue to evaluate the effectiveness of
the Group’s actions on climate change and enhance its
ability to address climate-related issues.

B. SOCIAL

B1.

Employment

The Group has formulated policies including the
Corporate Governance and Staff Code (2B AKET
SFAI) > the Administrative Measures for Recruitment and
Employment (BEELERAEEHE) > the Administrative
Measures for Staff Onboarding, Resignation and
Redesignation{ & T A B & EEIRHE) to regulate
employment-related issues to ensure that all terms and
procedures for formulation and release comply with
relevant regulatory requirements. The Group has also
established a labour union for its employees and issued
the Employee Handbook to provide employees with clear
guidance on employment issues, respect and safeguard
the legitimate rights and interests of each employee, and
facilitate bilateral communication. We are also committed
to improving our employment system to attract, cultivate
and retain employees while adhering to a people-oriented
governance approach.

The Group has complied with laws and regulations
related to remuneration and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other
benefits and welfare, including but not limited to the
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
(hEARHEFMESEHEELR) and the Labour Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China{®#E A Rt
B%#EREE) in the PRC, the Employment Ordinance
in Hong Kong, etc. During the Reporting Period, the
Group did not identify any significant issues in violation of
employment-related laws and regulations.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 1,231
(2023: 1,302) full-time employees and had one part-time
employees (2023: Nil), within the reporting scope. The

BbE g REIRwmS &

BE_ZE_WNE+_B=+—
HxXEBEEHEAFE1,2314 (=
“ = :1,302%) 2REE 14

breakdown is as follows: EBEE(CZE=F .8 mH
goWTF
2024 2023
—E-mE —g-=
Number of Number of
employee Percentage employee Percentage
BEEAZ Bt EBEA# Bt
By gender LU B E 93
Male B4 S} 42% 562 43%
Female pegcs 719 58% 740 57%
By age group B AR 2 5
<30 <30 194 16% 177 13%
30-50 30-50 682 55% 764 59%
>50 >50 356 29% 361 28%
By geographical region LU{ith&E| 5
The PRC R A 1,225 99% 1,295 99%
Hong Kong 548 7 1% 7 1%
Recruitment, Remuneration, Promotion and B F i - BEAREE

Dismissal

The Group is committed to recruiting outstanding talents
by offering competitive salaries and benefits as well as
promotion opportunities. We adhere to the principle of
fairness, impartiality and openness in equal employment,
recruit sufficient talent reserves for all business segments
of the Group and enhance business competitiveness.
The Group calculates salaries for employees based on
their attendance, overtime, allowances, position levels,
etc., and pay salaries on time every month. Depending
on the performance assessment for employees, the
Group also adjusts their remuneration, pays performance-
based bonus and provides promotion opportunities. The
Group reviews employees’ remuneration packages on
a regular basis to ensure that they receive the rewards
they deserve. In addition, the Group complies with
employment-related laws and regulations. If an employee
needs to be dismissed, we will give a notice periods and
reasonable compensation to the dismissed employee
in accordance with the relevant procedures and ensure
smooth job handover.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, the employee turnover rate®
of the Group was approximately 12% (2023: 13%), with
breakdown as follows:
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2024 2023
ZE_ME —_B_-=

By gender’ LU B &1 537
Male Bt 11% 11%
Female pegis 12% 18%
By age group’ Ve
<30 <30 12% 16%
30-50 30-50 12% 13%
>50 >50 16% 19%
By geographical region’ LUt & & 537
The PRC slElb:ul 12% 15%
Hong Kong &% 29% 15%

Notes:

6. Total employee turnover rate is calculated by dividing the
total number of employees leaving employment during the
Reporting Period by the average number of employees at
the beginning and the end of the Reporting Period.

7. The employee turnover rate for each category is calculated
by dividing the number of employees leaving employment
in the category during the Reporting Period by the average
number of employees in the category at the beginning and
the end of the Reporting Period.

Other Benefits and Welfare

In addition to basic remuneration and bonus, the
Group also provides thoughtful and comprehensive
employee benefits. The Group effectively safeguards the
legitimate rights and interests of workers in accordance
with the requirements of laws and regulations, and
clearly regulates the management of working hours,
attendance and rest. Employees are entitled to paid
annual leave, personal leave, sick leave, marriage leave,
maternity leave, bereavement leave, etc. The Group
also provides employees with mandatory provident
fund, pension, medical insurance, accident insurance,
education allowance and other benefits. The Group
make contributions to the “five insurances and one
housing fund” for employees in the PRC according to
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B2.

law, namely retirement insurance, medical insurance,
unemployment insurance, work-related injury insurance,
maternity insurance and housing provident fund and
annuity plan is implemented in qualified departments and
companies in PRC, to ensure that employees enjoy social
insurance benefits. In order to enhance employees’ sense
of belonging to the Group, the Group organizes various
activities for employees every year, including ball games
and outdoor activities.

Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-Discrimination

The Group recognizes the value of a diverse and
professional workforce and is committed to creating and
maintaining an inclusive and collaborative workplace
culture where everyone can develop their strengths. The
Group is committed to providing equal opportunities for
all employees in all aspects of employment, and to ensure
that employees are free from discrimination or physical
and verbal harassment in the recruitment process and
working environment due to their social status such as
ethnicity, race, nationality, gender, religion, age, sexual
orientation, political affiliation, marital status, etc. To
ensure fair and equal protection for all employees, the
Group does not tolerate any form of workplace sexual
harassment or bullying.

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to fulfilling its responsibility for
work safety and establishing a long-term mechanism for
work safety to prevent and reduce work-related accidents
and protect the life and property safety of its employees.
We strictly abide by the relevant laws and regulations
such as the Safety Production Law of the People’s
Republic of China (FZEAREMELEEEZL) > the
Interim Provisions on the Investigation and Control of
Safety Accidents of the People’s Republic of China (&
PHEEEWREIFEEREEITHRE) and the Law of
the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases (HFZEAREMEB ZEKEED in the PRC,
and the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
in Hong Kong, and also the Rental Property Safety
Management System (HiEYEZZ2EIEH|E Yand the
Production Safety Responsibility System{% & 4 & & £
EE ) ° During the past three years (including the reporting
period), the Group recorded one incident of death from a
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

work-related injury, which occurred during the reporting
period in 2023. The employee did not report any relevant
medical records to the Group, and the Group was not
able to anticipate or prevent this unfortunate incident.
According to the “Work-Related Injury Determination
Certificate” issued, and with reference to Article 10,
Clause 1 of the “Guangdong Province Work Injury
Insurance Regulations,” which states: “The following
circumstances shall be deemed as work-related injuries:
(1) sudden death from illness during working hours and
on the job or death within 48 hours despite rescue efforts
being ineffective.” Therefore, the incident was identified
as a work-related death. The fatalities rate due to work-
related incidents in 2024 is zero (2022: Nil and 2023:
0.11%). The company has extended condolences to
the employee’s family and provided compensation in
accordance with the statutory standards of social security
institutions. During the Reporting Period, the Group
recorded 38 working days lost (2023: 13 working days)
due to work-related injuries. The Group also did not
identify any material violation of relevant local laws and
regulations in respect of health and safety.

The Group has always been committed to employee
health and well-being, aiming to improve the safety of
the work environment and effectively prevent and reduce
work-related accidents. The Group has implemented the
following measures, including but not limited to:

1.  Make comprehensive and systematic medical
health examinations for newly hired employees to
detect potential and hidden causes of illness to the
greatest extent as possible

2. As part of employee welfare, regular (annual)
physical examinations for employees during their
employment; and

3. If an employee deliberately conceals or fabricates
medical history under the Group’s explicit
requirements, disciplinary actions will be taken as a
violation of employee code of conduct.
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Occupational Health and Safety

For the civil explosives business involving high-risk
production, the Group has formulated the Safety
Production Management System (Z &4 EEEF|
E)) and the Administrative Measures for Work Safety
Accident Emergency Response Plan (EEZE2 =
WAEZFEZE)) in accordance with the aforesaid laws
and regulations, which are used to regulate various
requirements for work safety and emergency rescue of
safety-related accidents, so that emergency rescue are
implemented in a prompt, effective and orderly manner
after an accident occurs. The general management
department of the Group is responsible for the daily
management of production, and has established a work
safety leading group to supervise the daily management
of work safety and govern the Group’s work safety
inspection and rectification of potential accident hazards.
We will also invite professional third-party consultants
to conduct inspections on safety and fire protection
issues, and timely rectify, follow up and supervise hidden
hazards. The office of safety committee supervises,
inspects and assesses the implementation of the
Group’s work safety management system, and collects,
summarizes and archives the safety production inspection
data. The Group has also set up a preparation team to
conduct a comprehensive analysis of the risk factors
faced by the Group, determine the type of accidents
and degree of harm that may occur, and formulate
corresponding preventive and emergency measures
according to the source of danger and the degree of
harm caused by the accident.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

B3.

In order to enhance employees’ safety awareness,
the Group holds fire evacuation drills and organizes
emergency drills for fires, explosions, floods and
production accidents in a regular manner to enhance
employees’ ability to cope with disasters. The Group
has also formulated the Safety Education and Training
System (Z2HFHEIIFIE)) and holds regular work
safety meetings. By educating employees with safety
technical knowledge and management knowledge and
analyzing accident cases, we enable employees to
master theoretical knowledge of safety and improve their
practical safety operation ability. We also employ various
channels including publicity posters, slogans, educational
videos and organizing safety knowledge contests and
safe operation skill competitions to improve employees’
safety awareness and implement our work safety policy.
The Group’s hotel business also regularly provides
professional health checks for employees to prevent
occupational diseases and protect the health and safety
of employees.

In addition, in view of the end of the Covid-19 epidemic
in 2023, the Group has decided to cancel the existing
epidemic control measures. However, we will continue to
closely monitor the precautionary measures for the public
health crisis and adhere to health and safety guidelines.
If necessary, we will make appropriate adjustments
to ensure the health and safety of our employees and
customers.

Training and Skills Development

The Group invests sufficient resources in staff
training and development, and strives to enhance the
competitiveness, professionalism and ethical standards
of its staff. All new employees must participate in the
training on industry knowledge, health and safety
and work skills. In addition, we continuously conduct
professional knowledge and skills training for employees
under the guidance of the Annual Employee Training
Outline (FEEE T K#)) each year to develop
employees’ good professionalism and enable them to
stay competitive in order to fulfil their responsibilities,
striving to achieve the highest standards of service.
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Training Programs

The Group’s training program are designed mainly to
meet the different needs of employees at all levels and
types, and enhance employees’ professional quality,
professional knowledge and competence. The Group will
arrange training plans for each department according
to business needs. For example, in terms of human
resources, our training programs cover courses such as
special training on personnel selection and recruitment,
human resources forums and recruitment skills; in terms
of finance, our training programs cover courses related
to budget management, budget control and application
of tax planning strategies, with a view to strengthening
employees’ knowledge and skills in relevant business
areas. We also strongly encourage the management
to participate in training programs relating to business
and public speaking, so as to continuously improve the
ability of the Group’s management to deliver speeches
in external communication. Meanwhile, they are also
encouraged to participate in training programs on
investment study, financial management, etc. to help
them cope with challenges at work.

During the Reporting Period, the percentage of the
Group’s total employees® trained was approximately
104.78% (2023: 99.46%), and the average training hours
completed per employee® was approximately 21.47 hours
(2023: 15.49 hours). The breakdown of the percentage
of employees trained and the average training hours
completed per employee by gender and employee
category is as follows:
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Average training hours'"
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2024 2023 2024 2023
—E_mE ZEZ= —E_mME ZEZ=

By gender LRI 5
Male Rk 38% 43% 32.69 12.42
Female pegies 62% 57% 13.68 17.82
By employee category LU{EEEHIEI 5D
Senior management BREERE 1% 2% 34.88 24.81
Mid-level management RAREIRE 4% 4% 35.44 17.75
General staff BEET 95% 94% 20.56 15.21
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Notes:

8. The percentage of total employees trained is calculated by
dividing the total number of employees trained during the
Reporting Period by the total number of employees at the
end of the reporting period.

9. The average training hours completed per employee
is calculated by dividing the total number of training
hours during the reporting period by the total number of
employees at the end of the reporting period.

10. The percentage of employees trained for each category
is calculated by dividing the number of employees trained
for that category during the reporting period by the total
number of employees trained during the reporting Period.

11.  The average training hours completed by each category of
employees is calculated by dividing the total training hours
of that category of employees during the reporting period
by the number of employees in that category at the end of
the reporting Period.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly abides by the Labour and Social
Security Inspection Regulation (%5 h{F & B 22 1% 51 )
and the Provisions on Prohibition of Child Labour { (2
IEERETIHRE)) in the PRC and the Employment
Ordinance in Hong Kong to prevent any employment
of child labour and forced labour. During the Reporting
Period, the Group did not identify any major violations of
laws and regulations in respect of the prevention of child
labour and forced labour, and has successfully passed
the annual audit of the labour inspection by government
departments over the years.

Prohibition of Child Labour and Forced Labour

The Group has detailed all recruitment procedures
and requirements in the Administrative Measures for
Recruitment and Employment ({ZEEEIsEREEHE).
New employees are required to provide the personal
information required in the Employment Notice B2 33840
£ ) during their onboarding process, which will be strictly
reviewed by recruiters, including ID cards, household
registration, etc. In addition, the Group has established
internal personnel file management procedures to
conduct regular review and inspection to prevent any
employment of child labour. When any irregularities
are identified, the Group will immediately carry out
investigations and impose punishment.
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In addition, employees of the Group work overtime on
a voluntary basis. Relevant working hours and overtime
regulations have also been specified in the Employee
Attendance and Leave Management Measures{ & T = #}
KRR EEHE ) and the Employee Handbook in order
to avoid violations of labour standards and effectively
safeguard the rights and interests of employees. The
Group prohibits any form of forced labour, slavery and
labour trafficking. If any form of forced labour is identified,
the Group will immediately carry out investigations and
stop the employment of forced labour. If necessary, the
Group will further improve the labour mechanism for
violations.

Supply Chain Management

The Group has established a series of strict and
standardized supply chain management procedures
with reference to relevant laws and regulations such as
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Tenders
and Bids{(FEAREMEBEBEREZE) > and has
implemented the following practices regarding supplier
engagement for all suppliers. During the Reporting
Period, the Group had a total of 247 suppliers (2023: 389
suppliers), all of which were located in the PRC.

Procurement Mechanism

Each business segment of the Group is required to
adopt strict procurement control measures to ensure
that the suppliers it employs meet the standards in
terms of quality and safety, environmental protection,
labour practices and business ethics. Specifically, the
bidding procedures for relevant engineering construction
projects shall be implemented in accordance with
the management and control requirements specified
in the Bidding and Tender Management System (&
KBIZEIEHIE) o The Group is required to conduct
a detailed review of the technical and qualification
documents of the relevant suppliers to ensure the
quality safety and compliance of the all relevant
suppliers. All business segments regulate procurement
processes and standards through systems such as the
Financial Management System (M #EI2HIE Yand the
“Engineering Construction, Material Procurement, and
Service Procurement Management Measures (L7127
R YERBRRBFREEIENE). The Group’s food
suppliers are required to provide the inspection and
quarantine certificate issued by the government’s health
and pandemic prevention authorities, and the materials
and supplies provided by other suppliers shall also obtain
national quality and safety certification. Our big data
business is also required to select suitable suppliers
based on their security level and reliability to ensure the
security and quality of data systems.

HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B P2 A R 2 7
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The Group is committed to supporting the local
economy by prioritizing the procurement from local
suppliers to reduce its carbon footprint during
transportation. The Group also gives priority to suppliers
with environmental certifications or those who can
provide environmentally friendly products and services
during the selection process. In addition, the Group
monitor the procurement activities that employees are
responsible for in accordance with the Anti-Graft and
Anti-Corruption System{KE&/5REMHE) > and
strictly prohibit suppliers from obtaining procurement
contracts or cooperative relationships through any form
of benefit transfer or gift. If any serious violation of laws
and regulations is identified, the Group will terminate
contract with such supplier. The Group will monitor
the procurement mechanism regularly to ensure its
effectiveness.

Supply Chain Environmental and Social Risk
Management

To manage potential environmental and social risks in the
supply chain and ensure the overall quality of suppliers,
we continuously monitor and assess whether suppliers
can meet the contract and specification requirements.
Such assessment includes qualification certification
review, project site inspection, notification inspection,
rectification review, etc. The Group puts in place a strict
receipt inspection system to ensure the quality and
safety of all raw materials, supplies and services we
purchase. We establish supplier credit files according to
the assessment results and provide rectification opinions
and requirements to suppliers as needed, thus striving to
establish a good working relationship with suppliers and
minimize potential environmental and social risks in the
supply chain.

Product Responsibility

The Group believes that the quality of products and
services is a key factor for an enterprise to maintain its
core competence. In order to effectively improve the
quality of products and services and safeguard the rights
and interests of customers, we have formulated and
implemented standardized management procedures for
the quality of products and services, and actively maintain
communication with customers to understand and meet
customers’ needs and expectations, and to promote the
future development of the Group.
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We strictly abide by relevant laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer Rights
and Interests ((FEARENMBEIEEEER(REE)),
the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PEAREMBEESL)), the Interim Measures for
the Administration of Internet Advertisement ({ & B 48 =
E£EEETHEE)) and the Product Quality Law of the
People’s Republic of China (FEARANEERES
7£)in the PRC, Trade Descriptions Ordinance in Hong
Kong and other relevant consumer protection laws and
regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Group did
not identify any material violation of laws and regulations
in respect of product and service quality, nor did it have
any products that needed to be recalled for safety and
health reasons.

The awards received by the Group in 2024 are as follows:

o Canton Greengold Financial Leasing Limited has
been recognized by as Ge-1 green enterprise by
China Chengxin Green Gold Technology (Beijing)
Company Limited

° Foshan Nanhai District Taoyuan Welfare Center
Company Limited has been selected by the
Guangdong Provincial Department of Civil Affairs
as a five-star elderly care institution in Guangdong
Province.

° Foshan Nanhai District Taoyuan Welfare Center
Company Limited has been selected by the Foshan
City Dual Support Work Leading Group Office as a
socialized military support unit in Nanhai District.

° Foshan Nanhai District Taoyuan Welfare Center
Company Limited participated in the China
International Elderly Care and Health Industry
Expo and was selected by the Guangzhou Expo
Organizing Committee Office as one of the Top Ten
Health Management Brands of 2024 in the “Silver
Age Cup” elderly care industry evaluation in the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area.
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° Tiannuo Ming Bao Company Limited has
been recognized by the Guangdong Provincial
Department of Industry and Information Technology
as a Specialized, Refined, and Innovative Small and
Medium Enterprise.

° Taoyuan Rehabilitation Hospital has been certified
and awarded the designation of a Hypertension
Standard Center Base Station by the Hypertension
Standard Center

Quality Control

The Group’s civil explosives business has passed the ISO
9002 quality management system certification, as well as
GB/T 19001, GB/T 24001 and GB/T 28001 management
system certification in respect of quality, environment,
occupational health and safety, and has prepared a series
of documentation in respect of quality control procedures
for production. The Group is committed to maintaining
quality control of its production processes and finished
products, identifying non-conforming products and any
non-compliance with quality and safety requirements,
in order to eliminate potential risks and ensure product
quality and safety. In addition, the Group also strictly
manages the quality of suppliers of food, medicine and
supplies, requires suppliers to obtain relevant qualification
certificates and provide certification documents to ensure
that the products they provide meet the Group’s quality
and safety requirements and standards.

In order to maintain high service quality, all business
segments of the Group have implemented quality
management measures to track customer needs
so as to improve customer satisfaction. The Group
arranges industry knowledge and job skills training for
newly recruited employees, and sets out employee
responsibilities, conduct requirements and management
procedures relating to customer communication in the
Employee Handbook. For the wellness elderly care
business enhances professional competence through
rigorous staff training, ensuring that service personnel
possess solid skills and a positive attitude. At the
same time, a comprehensive supervision and feedback
mechanism is established to promptly collect opinions
and improve services, fully ensuring service quality. For
the hotel business, the Group has also formulated the

BB | M@ RIS @

=

s XERBERADERETL
ENERCEIEAERSE
RN

s MAEEEBRKBESMHEER
ROES R MEZEREROE

U4 D8 X bR

EEEE

AEBRIEEFESEBISO9002
BEETERZIE UKGB/
T19001~GB/T24001~GB/
T28001E = IRIE HERELS
=28 SERANE 1%
BRAGE—RIIEEESES
BEXH - HEHRINAHEEET
FPRARMETESERITIE
BATERRURTARTEE
EMZE2ERMNIBER LUEKRE
TRABERERERBEERZE S
BRIz REBTRBEEEER
M ERRAREERNEE B
REEENBESHEHMERES
RIREREE BREREZE
BERAEREEZE2ERKIEZ
*o

AU RBESZ AEESE
BRREENMEEEEEK
BHMERER LEAZRRHE
E-AEBEAMARNETZR
BEITEMB R TEFEEII > I
RETITFMIBEIRE 175
RTERKEBRETREENE
EBRE BEZEABREXERBEBR
BMABBINIRAZEERE BR
IREABEEBILERELERY
ERE, ANRBUTSEERER
o RERERRSCERYE 2
FAUREREE S o 8 ¥ 5H5 %
B AEETEHE(REEEE
EER) JBAZIHMEREZE
BRI ZRBENIRIENZS @R

HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED 8 3% ¥ B 4 B 23 v)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4§ 83



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

84

HES

Environmental Quality Management System (I%
EIEFER ) which sets out the written procedures of
each department regarding the operation of guest rooms,
catering and front desk services, so as to maintain the
hygiene of guest rooms and ensure the provision of
professional services. In order to continuously improve
its service quality, the Group has also established a
complaint handling mechanism. If any complaints are
received, the Group is required to conduct detailed
investigations, actively supervise the complaint handling
process, and coordinate and communicate with all parties
involved in a timely manner. We endeavour to understand
the facts of each customer complaint and review and
improve our procedures where necessary. If there is a
loss to the customer, such loss will be fully compensated
in a reasonable manner. During the Reporting Period,
the Group has not received any major complaints about
products and services, and customer satisfaction has
reached its expected target. During the Reporting Period,
the Group’s wellness elderly care business has been
certified by the Nanhai District Office of the Leading
Group for the Standardization of Basic Public Service
Standardization for the Elderly (8@ B EZHKRAHER
BIRECEIBA I TIEEE/EAMAE) as the “National
Basic Public Service Standardization Pilot Project for the
Elderly in Nanhai ——Benchmark Demonstration Unit”. The
Group will continue to improve service quality to meet
customers’ needs and expectations.

Customer Privacy Protection

The Group has established a stringent privacy protection
policy in the Employee File Management Measures (&
THEZEEERE) > Confidentiality System (RZEHIE)
and the Employee Handbook, and strives to protect the
personal data and information security of all stakeholders
in accordance with internationally recognized standards.
In order to protect the personal data and information of
our customers and business partners, the Group has
implemented high security and confidentiality standards
in the collection, processing, use, disclosure and
daily record management. Employees are required to
undertake to keep all personal information confidential
and not disclose the same to third parties without
authorization.
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In terms of industrial Internet data security, the Group’s
big data business has passed ISO27000 information
security management system certification and third-party
testing and auditing, which meet the required security
level of protection. During the Reporting Period, the
public service platform of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area (Nanhai) Intelligent Security
Industrial Park of the Group’s big data business was
successfully selected into the Industrial Internet Pilot
Demonstration Project List for 2021 20214 T % 5 &
HEABREIEBE %R E )by the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology of the People’s Republic of China.
In 2023, Guangdong Xin Xing’s Industrial Internet Security
Public Service Platform (T ¥ B AL 2 QN HREF
& Y project was selected as a pilot demonstration for
Industrial Internet Security Monitoring and Empowerment
(TEEMPAL2ERMERE RE) by the Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology. The second-
level node of Industrial Internet Identification Resolution
(Foshan) (T B4EZH RN (B8LL) ) constructed and
operated by the Group was also granted the first “Internet
Domain Name Registration Service Agency” license for
the second-level node industrial Internet identification
resolution in the PRC by the Guangdong Communications
Administration. Taking the pilot demonstration as an
opportunity, the Group’s big data business will continue
to maintain data security and the high level of service to
promote the comprehensive development of industrial
Internet security and innovative applications of the
industrial Internet.
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Intellectual Property Rights

We believe that intellectual property is critical to our
success. We rely primarily on the laws and regulations
relating to trademark and trade secrets as well as the
contractual commitments made by our employees
and third parties in respect of confidentiality and non-
competition to protect our intellectual property. As of
31 December 2024, the Group’s big data business
registered a total of 13 patents, 13 software copyrights,
11 standards and 4 trademarks. 20 patents has been
registered under civil explosives business. During the
Reporting Period, we were not aware that the Group
had infringed any intellectual property rights of any third
party or that any third party had infringed any intellectual
property rights of the Group which could materially and
adversely affect our business operations, nor were we
aware of any disputes concerning intellectual property
rights with third parties. The Group will continue to
monitor to ensure that its intellectual property rights are
not infringed.

Advertising and Labelling

The Group is only engaged in limited advertising
campaigns and therefore does not involve significant
advertising-related risks. Nonetheless, for the marketing
of products and services, we strictly regulate and inspect
the promotion of all products and services to ensure that
relevant work follows applicable laws and regulations
relating to promotion and labelling. Such marketing
and promotion shall accurately reflect the quality and
effectiveness of the Group’s products and services.
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Anti-corruption

The Group believes that an integrity corporate culture is
the key to our continued success. Therefore, we attach
great importance to our anti-corruption efforts and
system construction, and resolutely put an end to any
corrupt behaviour. The Group strictly abides by applicable
laws and regulations including the Company Law of
the People’s Republic of China (FZEAREME AT
7£) and the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s
Republic of China in the PRC as well as the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong. During the Reporting
Period, the Group did not identify any material violations
of laws and regulations on the prevention of bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering, nor did it have any
concluded cases of corruption litigation.

Combating Corruption and Upholding Integrity

The Group adopts a “zero-tolerance” attitude towards
any bribery, fraud and money laundering. The Group
stipulates relevant prevention and control measures and
mechanisms in the Anti-Graft and Anti-Corruption System
(R&7"5RBEMEIE)and Disciplinary Supervision
and Inspection Work System (#2158 iR E T (EH|
EE)> and has established the Disciplinary Supervision
and Inspection Work Leading Group to focus on all-
round integrity risk investigation and control efforts in
its key areas, key links and important positions such
as investment decision-making, financial management,
bidding, equipment procurement, personnel selection
and employment, engineering construction, etc., striving
to create an integrity working environment and build an
integrity, open and transparent corporate culture.

The Group conducts extensive and in-depth promotion
and education through, amongst others, theoretical
seminars and cultural activities, stays committed to
creating a good atmosphere of “advocating integrity
and avoiding corruption” within the enterprise, and
strengthens employees’ ideological and moral standards
and awareness of integrity. During the Reporting Period,
the directors and employees of the Group received
approximately 128 and 693 hours (2023: approximately
315 and 1,186 hours) of anti-corruption training,
respectively. The training content includes education
on the Party Constitution, Party rules and Party
discipline BZEREAH B> and Ethics and Code of

Conduct Education BEEHIE REZ A, such as the
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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B8.

implementation of the “Work Tips for Party Conduct
and Government Integrity Supervision by the Discipline
Inspection Commission of the Communist Party of
Guangdong Province, China"{fhHERELBRRESL
EEERBAEEEITERT) > “Building a Good Family
Style, Building a Clean Family” (i R{FZE » EEZER
FE) > watching anti-corruption feature films like “Striking
Iron Requires Its Own Hardness (Anti-corruption and Anti-
Corruption Video)” ({JHEFBE S (REREHRE) )
and clean-handed government talks and family tutoring
and family style {(EEERERREREKE) aiming at
familiarizing them with their corresponding roles and
responsibilities in anti-corruption and business ethics.

Whistle-blowing Mechanism

The Group attaches great importance to the integrity
and honesty of its employees. The Group has formulated
the Whistleblowing Policy (ZE#REZE) to encourage
employees to report any corruption or fraud incidents.
The Group has set up, amongst others, whistle-blowing
hotlines, whistle-blowing mailboxes and whistle-blowing
emails, and designated personnel are responsible for
regular preliminary review and verification of whistle-
blowing content, collection of relevant materials, and
the final decision as to whether to file a case and report
the same to the leading group. The Group reviews the
effectiveness of this whistle-blowing mechanism on a
regular basis to prevent any corruption within the Group
and prevent the improper infringement of interests, so
as to ensure the sound and stable development of the
Group.

Community Investment

While pursuing business development, the Group is
also committed to serving the community. We have
formulated relevant internal guidelines to arrange for the
Group’s employees to participate in various activities
such as charitable public welfare and social services,
and encourage and support our employees to devote
themselves to volunteering services in their spare time.
We hope that our employees can contribute to the
community in person by participating in community
activities, so as to enhance employees’ caring awareness,
cultivate employees’ sense of social responsibility and
contribute to building a better community.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Corporate Social Responsibility

Adhering to the spirit of good corporate citizenship, the
Group actively participates in various poverty alleviation
fund-raising, volunteering and community activities,
aiming at promoting social harmony. During the Reporting
Period, the Group participated in the following community
activities:

o Social fund-raising exercises: The Group has
actively responded to the “Nanhai District Sea
Charity Month” organised by Foshan Nanhai
District Charity Association, donation for Rewarding
Education and Academic Excellence in Liantang
Town in Gaoyao District, donation for the “Hundred,
Thousand, Ten Thousand Project” Co-building
and Sharing Beautiful Market Town Activity in
Gaoyao District, Zhaoqing City, donation for
Village Committee of the Assisted Village “Pairing
Assistance for Three Villages in Qiandongnan
Prefecture” and “Love and Support for Education”
and other charitable fund-raising exercises.

° Elderly care activities: As for its wellness elderly
care business, the Group is also committed to
caring for the elderly in the communities where
it operates. In addition to organising condolence
activities for the disabled during festivals, it also
regularly provides medical and support services
such as free clinics, free hairdressing, and free
health checks for the elderly over the age of 60 in
the district.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

HE &t 6 FEH A R A F
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE MEMBERS OF
HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED
BEERBRATF

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hing
Yip Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, “the Group”) set out on pages 100 to 256, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter: Impairment of finance lease receivables

B AZBEN RS )
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Bo
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Refer to Notes 5 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

We identified the impairment of the Group’s finance lease receivables
as a key audit matter due to its significance to the consolidated
financial statements, and the use of judgement by the management
in evaluating the recoverability of finance lease receivables.

As set out in Notes 5 and 26 to the consolidated financial
statements, management measures expected credit losses
(“ECL") for finance lease receivables by using a provision matrix. In
determining the loss rates, the finance lease receivables are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics, and creditors historical
repayment, past due information and lessees’ creditworthiness
and are adjusted for reasonable and supportable forward-looking
information.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net finance lease receivables
amounted to approximately HK$4,556,009,000 (net of impairment
loss allowance of approximately HK$62,766,000).

How we addressed the key audit matter
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Our procedures in relation to the estimated impairment of finance
lease receivables mainly included:

- understanding management’s credit risk assessment and
impairment assessment in relation to the recoverability of
finance lease receivables;

- confirming the finance lease receivables balances by sending
audit confirmations on a sample basis;
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

How we addressed the key audit matter (Continued)

B AZBEN RS )
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= Engaging a valuation specialist to assist us to evaluate
the appropriateness of the ECL provisioning methodology
for finance lease receivables based on current economic
conditions and forward-looking information;

- Engaging a valuation specialist to assist us to evaluate
the reasonableness of management’s determination of the
estimated loss rates;

S checking the mathematical calculation and basis of impairment
loss recognised under the ECL model; and

= evaluating the disclosures regarding the impairment
assessment of finance lease receivables in the consolidated
financial statements.

Based on available evidence, we found the assumptions adopted
in relation to the impairment assessments to be supportable and

reasonable.

Key audit matter: Impairment of trade receivables
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Refer to Notes 5 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

We identified impairment assessment on trade receivables as a key
audit matter due to the involvement of subjective management’s
judgement and estimates of the management of the Group in
evaluating the ECL of the Group’s trade receivables at the end of the
reporting period.

As disclosed in notes 5 and 27 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group estimates the amount of
lifetime ECL of trade receivables using the simplified approach. The
estimated loss rates are estimated taking into consideration past
repayment histories and are adjusted for reasonable and supportable
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net trade receivables
amounted to approximately HK$85,148,000 (net of impairment loss
allowance of approximately HK$2,388,000).
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

How we addressed the key audit matter
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Our procedures in relation to the estimated impairment of trade
receivables mainly included:

- obtaining an understanding of how the management of the
Group estimates the loss allowance for trade receivables;

- checking, on a sample basis, the age profile of the trade
receivables at the end of the reporting period to the underlying
financial records;

- inquiring of management for the status of each of the material
trade receivables past due as at year end and corroborating
explanations from management with supporting evidence,
such as understanding ongoing business relationship with the
customers based on trade records, checking historical and
subsequent settlement records of and other correspondence
with the customers;

= Engaging a valuation specialist to assist us to evaluate
the appropriateness of the ECL provisioning methodology
of trade receivables and evaluating the reasonableness of
management’s assumptions, including both historical and
forward-looking information, used to determine the ECL;

= checking the mathematical calculation and basis of impairment
loss recognised under the ECL model; and

= evaluating the disclosures regarding the impairment
assessment of trade receivables in the consolidated financial
statements.

Based on available evidence, we found the assumptions adopted
in relation to the impairment assessments to be supportable and
reasonable.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter: Valuation of investment properties

B AZBEN RS )
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Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key
audit matter due to the management’s judgement associated with
determining the fair value.

The Group has various investment properties in Hong Kong and
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). Such investment properties
are measured at fair value and the aggregate carrying amount of
these investment properties amounted to HK$330,916,000 as at 31
December 2024.

Significant estimation and judgement are required by management
to determine the fair values of the investment properties. To support
management’s determination of the fair value, the Group engaged an
external valuer to perform valuations on these assets at the end of
the reporting period.

How we addressed the key audit matter
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Our procedures in relation to valuation of investment properties
mainly included:

- Evaluating the objectivity, independence and competency of
the external valuer engaged by the management;

= Obtaining an understanding of the approach and valuation
methodology adopted;

= Assessing whether the investment properties were valued on a
consistence basis;

= Engaging a valuation specialist to assist us to assess the
methodologies and assumptions adopted in the valuation;

- Checking the accuracy of the fair value calculation prepared by
the external valuer; and

= Assessing the adequacy of disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.

Based on available evidence, we found management’s assumptions
in relation to the valuation are reasonable.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter: Impairment assessment of goodwill
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Refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

Under HKFRSs, the Group is required to test the amount of goodwill
for impairment annually. In addition, the assessment process is
complex and highly judgmental and is based on assumptions which
are affected by expected future market or economic conditions.

How we addressed the key audit matter
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Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of goodwill
mainly included:

- Assessing the competence, expertise and objectivity of the
management expert who calculates the recoverable amount of
cash generating unit;

- Assessing the methodologies and assumptions adopted in the
valuation with support of valuation experts; and

- Assessing whether the projected future cash flows used
are within the confines of HKFRSs and are consistent with
historical trends in financial performance, market developments
and business plans of the Group.

Based on our procedures described, we found the estimations
of management in relation to goodwill are supported by plausible
evidence.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 27 March
2024.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon (“Other
information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the

Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibilities towards or
accept liabilities to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosure made by the directors.

B AZBEN RS )

1% 25 B L 25 51 55 [ A 5 4R R K
MEE

ZANER EHEREEVMBERRES T
FEHRRFRIBERMENNERNEARE
RS EERE  THAGERMER
ZHEmRE - ZFIER BT (FREE)
REBAREQBEFOMFRRE  FRILZ A
HREREEMBAEY  RZBEME N AR S
NRBHEFEMALTE ERNAEERE
Fe-GEREBESNKTHMRE EFTEMRER
(BRBHER)ETHEFER —EXRIE
AR R 2t 77 7E By A8 BE 5 3R o B SRR B LUFH R
SFEEAERSIE MRS ERPEMER ZE
MERAEFEERMBERREREFMIFH
BYAESTERTE » RI A BN SR R T AR EE
%o

ERB(EBEBER D) ETESHNBRES
BPERTEXHE RIETEFIRER
B o F 75

— BB EBENRFFRERMERE
B BT E AR A AR
REARATEAEFUBRHELERR
UREBEReENBENEFTRE FR
HAERBERE - HICEREFRIAE N K &
woRE BERER ERRIM ERE
PRAEES Z £ AL RAE S RAMGF
MERKEAHERRAH AR ERE
HERMERPBRERRMYER D

o

i

—  THRREBHEBIRERES  IREHE
ENEtiEF  EENLIER S&H
WEERIAMMEERER

- FHEEFEMRAESERRNGENER
EHE A NERKEENNGE
Mo

HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B £ B2 5]
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4F

97



Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Kwok Kin Leung.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Kin Leung
Practising Certificate Number: P05769

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income

S e 1R R R 7R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ-_MOF+-"F=+—Hit
2024 2023
—E-MmE —ET=F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
Viog=3 BT BT T
Continuing operations FHBRRE ¥
Revenue WA 6 798,962 821,423
Cost of sales and services HE M ARFE A (455,563) (505,326)
Gross profit EH 343,399 316,097
Other operating income HAK& & WA 8 37,055 31,094
Selling and distribution costs HE RDiHEES (12,149) (10,923)
Administrative expenses THREZ (179,511) (171,983)
Share of profit of associates FEL B E R B BA 21 40,335 51,400
Decrease in fair value of investment KREWMEZ R AERLD
properties - (350)
Decrease in fair value of financial assets st ABTZZSREEZ
at fair value through profit or loss NRERD 22 - (86,130)
Allowance for expected credit losses on B EHEEWZRZ
finance lease receivables TEHAE BB EE 26 (16,258) (49,617)
Finance costs BT H 9 (78,427) (65,838)
Profit before taxation BRiR Al &7 134,444 13,750
Income tax expenses 8B~ 10 (51,811) (37,001)
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing — IF@&&E > KEE
operations 'Rl (E518) 82,633 (23,251)
Discontinued operations BARIEEE ¥
Profit for the year from discontinued BARIERE 2B
operations KEERF 11 41,366 179,187
Profit for the year TEERF 12 123,999 155,936
Other comprehensive (expense)/ Hthzm X
income, net of income tax Wi BRrifE
Item that will not be reclassified to TEEMSEE
profit or loss: EaZzIEHH
Deficit on revaluation of hotel properties  B/E¥) £ B E - (8,221)
Items that may be reclassified BISEE#T 7 E
subsequently to profit or l0ss: Em 2B !
Exchange differences arising on ME BN ETSE
translation of EXZINEEEE
foreign operations (85,521) (82,591)
Reclassification of cumulative translation P H & BN EFEE
reserve upon disposal of foreign EMOBRRE
operations bE R 74,438 =
Other comprehensive expense for the year, FEH M2 EHE X »
net of income tax NERPTIEIR (11,083) (90,812)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZEUEELEZE 112,916 65,124
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income (Continuec) sEEHEE RHAEmGEEER @&
2024 2023
—EBlmE —E”=
NOTES HK$’000 HK$000
Jiok=3 BT BT T
Profit for the year attributable to: FERBANGEE
Owners of the Company KREVEB A 60,717 26,930
Non-controlling interests JETER S 63,282 129,006
123,999 155,936
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FE2E U, (BI%)
attributable to: wE
Owners of the Company KABEB A 78,546 (32,999)
Non-controlling interests JEERR R = 34,370 98,123
112,916 65,124
Earnings/(loss) per share SKREH, (5i8) 16
From continuing and discontinued FERE
operations BARIERE X
Basic =N HK3.55 cents HK1.57 cents
7 #£3.5511 A1 574
Diluted s HK3.55 cents HK1.57 cents
7 #£3.5511 FEEE1.574
From continuing operations FERE X
Basic BA& HK1.08 cents HK(5.59) cents
7 1%1.081l (B #£5.591)
Diluted s HK1.08 cents HK(5.59) cents

751,081l

(B #E5.5011)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Posiion 275 M BRI £

As at 31 December 2024 R _E_ME+_H=+—H
2024 2023
—EmE =
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 BT T BT 7T
Non-current assets EREEE
Investment properties KEYE 17 330,916 338,172
Property, plant and equipment ME- BB NZE 18 596,129 524,504
Intangible assets mEEE 20 3,236 4,103
Goodwill mE 19 121,755 125,907
Interests in associates =N 21 545,245 519,077
Financial assets at fair value BAREBEFAEBRZ
through profit or loss THEE 22 3,662 3,787
Finance lease receivables =S W 26 3,301,054 3,191,960
Right-of-use assets FREEE 23 60,931 65,855
Deferred tax assets RIS E EE 32 15,655 27,038
4,978,583 4,800,403
Current assets RENEE
Inventories =5 24 7,337 6,339
Repossessed assets KEEE 25 386,726 =
Finance lease receivables MEHEEEW 26 1,254,955 1,424,881
Trade and other receivables JE U BR 7R 2
HAh U IE 27 139,636 151,899
Pledged bank deposits BIRRIRITER 28 - 7,197
Cash and bank balances REMRIRTTHERR 28 717,173 592,181
2,505,827 2,182,497
Assets classified as held for sale BERtHEEE 11 - 2,772,809
2,505,827 4,955,306
Current liabilities RENBR
Trade and other payables FEATBR FR %
H & FIE 29 215,638 211,211
Tax payables R & 9,518 29,404
Deposits received from customers BWELLE 20,776 12,230
Lease liabilities HEaE 23 837 823
Convertible notes BVt 31 - 156,251
Borrowings =R 30 1,517,149 2,092,804
1,763,918 2,502,723
Liabilities classified as held for sale FERHESR 11 - 1,807,561
1,763,918 4,310,284
Net current assets MENEEFE 741,909 645,022
Total assets less current liabilities BEENREARE 5,720,492 5,445,425
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

amBsikiiR @

2024 2023
—_E_MFE ==
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5% BT T BT T
Capital and reserves B 7S Fe (5 1
Share capital (&N 33 171,233 171,233
Reserves 1 899,516 808,799
Equity attributable to owners of EATHE AELER
the Company 1,070,749 980,032
Non-controlling interests JEVER S 36 766,496 1,139,265
Total equity TS 4E%E 1,837,245 2,119,297
Non-current liabilities EREIEE
Borrowings EEN 30 3,486,130 3,061,105
Convertible notes AR ER 31 140,469 =
Deferred income IR IE U 35 14,790 15,402
Deferred tax liabilities RIETRIEEMR 32 52,540 52,685
Deposits received from customers BlRER%E 185,974 192,736
Lease liabilities HEas 23 3,344 4,200
3,883,247 3,326,128
5,720,492 5,445,425

The consolidated financial statements on pages 100 to 256 were F100BEEF256B 2 HRETEN &
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 —HAFE=ZA_+tHESESH ERIEET)
BEOWHMTERRRES !

March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

HE XIANGMING FU WEIQIANG
A= BA (SRELE]
Director Director
EE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changesin Fquity - £33 RES S5 8 £

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_ MO+ -B=+—HLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRTRAAEGER
Hotel Convertible
property notes Non-
Share Share Statutory Other  revaluation Exchange equity Capital ~ Contributed Retained controlling Total
capital premium? reserve® reserve® reserve*? reserve® reserve® reservet surplus® earnings Total interests equity
BENE Ef  OBRE e e #e R 3

Ry RGEE  ERAR  AfMEE  EfREEe B BEEEE i A bt a3t it 2%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bifn  BRTn  EETn ENTm ARTn Aifn  ARfn  BBTn BETm EWTm BBTn BBt ARTn

THE GROUP 150
At 1 January 2024 RIZZmE-B-H 171,238 725,199 215,595 8,921 35,773 (193,725) 56,616 - - (39,586) 980,082 1,139,265 2,119,297
Proft for the year REERT - - - - - - - - - 60,717 60,717 63,282 123,999
Other comprehensive income/(expense)  FEHM2ERE/
for the year (%)
- Disposal of subsidiaries -RETAT - - - - - 74,438 - - - - 74,438 - 74,438
- Exchange differences arising on -REBNERRES
translation of foreign operations - - - - - (38,719) - - - - (38,719) (28912 (67,631)
- Share of exchange difference of
an associate (Note 21) HEEE (EE21) - - - - - (17,890) - - - - (17,890) - (17,890)
Other comprehensive income/(expense)  EEEM2ENG/
for the year 53] - - - - - 17,829 - - - - 17,829 (28912 (11,083)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) ~ £EB2ENE/
for the year (F%) 2@ - - - - - 17,829 - - - 60,717 78,546 34,370 112,916
Derecognition of equity component of ~ AIBBREHEEIHN
convertible notes I - - - - - - (56,616) - - 56,616 - - -
Recognition of equity component of VEEEFREIAN
convertible notes B2 - - - - - - 28,290 - - - 28,290 - 28,290
Disposal of subsidiaries REFAF - - - (8,927) - - - - - - (8,927) (355,145) (364,072)
Dividend paid to non-controllng interests  FIERRERZ T2
Kg B} B} B . - - - - - - - e (5109
Cancellation of share premium BHRMEER - (725,199) - - - - - - 164,821 560,378 - - -
Dividend kS - - - - - - - - (7,192) - (1,192 - (7,192)
Transfer £ - - 21,248 - - - - - - (21,248) - - -
At 81 Decemoer 2024 i3
171,238 - 236,843 - 35,773 (175,896) 28,290 - 157,629 616,877 1,070,749 766,496 1,837,245
* [tem that will not be reclassified to profit or loss * TEEMPEEERmEE

" For the nature and purposes of reserves, please refer to Note 46 to the ~ * MBEEZHEEREN B2V BRERWE
financial statements. 460
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

ORI R

Attributable to owners of the Company

ANFHRE AR
Hotel Convertible
property notes Non-
Share Share  Statutory Other revaluation  Exchange equity Capital  Retained controlling Total
capital  premiumA  reserveM  reserve  reserve™  reserve  reserveM  reserve®  earnings Total interests equity
ik
ERNE ZEEG
BA  RIGEEN AEABN EtEE BhHEN EREEN BEn EXEEN REER B3 ARG ERAE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
BT E¥Tn EBTn BETn AETr  AETr AETn BETn EETn EETn BETR BETR
THE GROUP
At 1 January 2023 171,233 725199 178,298 8,927 45,665 (142,017) 56,616 - (30,885) 1,013,081 1,079,754 2,092,785
Proft for the year FEERR = = = = = = = - 6930 26930 129,006 155,936
Other comprehensive expense FEEM2ERS
for the year
- Deficit on revaluation of hotel —EENEERER
property = - - = (8,221) = = 0 = (8,221) = (8,221)
- Release of revaluation reserve of —EENEER
hotel property R - - - - (1,671) - - - 1,671 - - -
- Exchange differences arising -REBNEEREE
on translation of foreign ZHNEER
operations : . . . S 7465 . . S ETdES) (30883 (68:349)
- Share of exchange difference of an ~ —FEEEE AT
associate (Note 21) HEZE (Hi21) - - - - - (426 - - - (1424 o (4243
Other comprenensive (expense)/income  EEEMEE %) /
for the year I - - - - 089 (51,708 - S 1eTt (9929 (30883 (90812
Total comprehensive (expense)/income  FEH2E (%) /
for the year ltE - - - - 089 (51,708 - o 8p01 (32099 98,123 66,124
Acquisition of a subsidiary BE-EHBAG - - - - - - - - - - 3,047 3,047
Capital injection from non-controling ~ JEZR&ERTE
interests - - - - - - - - - - 1,089 1,089
Divicend paid to non-controling BIERRES I ZRE
interests - - - - - - - - - - (2748 (42,748)
Transfer 4% - - 373w - - - - - Eaw) , : .
At 31 December 2023 RISZZF
+ZB=1+-H 171,233 725199 215,595 8,927 35,773 (198,725) 56,616 - (39,586) 980,082 1,139,265 2,119,297

*

Iltem that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

A

financial statements.

For the nature and purposes of reserves, please refer to Note 46 to the

* FrEENNBERD AR

A MEBEZMEREN  B2EMBRRMEE
460
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Consohdated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e

e

N —= —

37

Nyl = N
T

mME+—A=+—H

2024 2023
“EImE —ECZE
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
ik AT BT
Operating activities REER
Profit for the year KEERF] 123,999 155,936
Adjustment for: MUTIEEELHAE .
Bank interest income RITH BWA (11,893) (7,822)
Finance costs W H 90,432 139,379
Income tax expense Frigfp 52,357 38,367
Increase in fair value of investment properties “EWEZAREEM 17 - (209,212)
Decrease in fair value of financial assets at BRANEAER
fair value through profit or loss ETMEEZRMNE
D 22 - 86,130
Interest income from financial leasing RERMEHREN
FEWA 6 (286,394) (265,613)
Effective interest income from REHEREZERF
rental deposits ISEON 11 (48) 277)
Share of profit of an associate EEIE AR RA) 21 (40,335) (51,400)
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant ~ HE#ZE - HEK
and equipment HREz (W)
BiEEEE (1,383) 1,714
Net loss on written-off of property, plant and ~ #1% ~ BB e 5% 5 51 8
equipment By FE L 164 =
Net loss on early termination of lease BRI IITAEEENZ
liabilities P S 285 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries BEFARZWE (49,028) =
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#H 20 747 447
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BENEE
equipment e 18 38,519 43,787
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESEITE 23 7,341 32,165
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - -BERKREZ
equipment VEAIEEEES 18 - 31,158
Dividend income from financial assets at fair ~ RARE AEBHZ
value through profit or loss TRHEEZRR
g A 8 (618) (710)
Allowance for expected credit losses on EWERR 2 BRREERE
trade receivables BEE 27 980 2,226
Allowance for expected credit losses on MERERIKTZ
finance lease receivables TEHEEBEEE 26 16,258 49,617
Net exchange (gain)/loss R (hm) BL 5 (2,444) 1,510
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued) HSEBSRER @&
2024 2023
“EmE TECZE
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
Fy5E BT BT
Operating cash flow before movements in EEBTEFE 2 KE
working capital RERE (61,061) 47,402
(Increase)/decrease in inventories EFE gm R (1,106) 1,346
Increase in finance lease receivables MEREEWEUEM (575,168) (828,387)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other TS BR 30 e E th FE W 7R 1B
receivables (&m /b (22,475) 1,107
Increase in trade and other payables RS EME N RIE
0 9,365 19,328
Decrease in deferred income TRIE U L (276) (34,914)
Increase in deposits received from customers B UE R IZ &1L 8,710 37,473
Cash used in operations KETHIRE (642,011) (756,650)
Interest income from financial leasing received BEWRBEREHREMN
FIEWA 300,338 249,168
PRC tax paid BIHERE (58,777) (46,578)
Net cash used in operating activities mEEHzRERY
B (400,450) (554,060)
Investing activities BEES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment HEME BEKRRE 18 (132,385) (234,928)
Additions to investment properties BREYENIEM (16,272) =
Decrease/(increase) in time deposits with more IREAREIHHIBB=1E
than three months to maturity when placed AZEBER
B () 185,273 (74,505)
Dividend received from financial assets at far EWIZAREFARZZ
value through profit or loss ETHEEZRE 8 618 710
Dividend received from an associate BMRBEMEABZKRE 21 - 35,299
Net cash outflow of acquisition of a subsidiary WE—EF AT 2
FIRERH - (4,400)
Investment in an associate KREBENT 3,723 =
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries BREFABEMIE 564,591 =
Uplift of pledged bank deposits BIRRIRITEMIRR 7,197 17,759
Interest received BWFIE 11,893 7,822
Net proceeds from disposal of property, plant  HEY % BRE KB HD
and equipment P FIR 288 2,959 59
Payments for right-of-use assets EREEEMIIIR = (62,403)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REFHZHERA
investing activities (i) B 627,597 (314,587)
HING YIP TIOLDINGS LIMITED B3 £ £ B 23 7]
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued) HSEBSRER @&
2024 2023
“EmE “E-=F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
Fy5E AT BT
Financing activities MEES
Capital injection from non-controlling interests ~ JEIERRE R T E - 1,089
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests MIFERERS AR E (51,994) (42,748)
Payment of handling fee ENFEE (3,654) (5,266)
Interest paid on borrowings BEAERNE 28(b) (43,541) (62,462)
Interest paid on convertible notes BENHTBREBEEERHNE 30 (3,324) (3,325)
Dividend paid to the Company’s shareholders BATRELZ(THIRKRE (7,192) =
Repayment of borrowings BERER 28(b) (4,784,408) (2,714,839)
Proceeds from borrowings BEMRIARE 28(b) 4,838,790 3,461,210
Payments of lease liabilities HEsBMIRIE 23 (29,887) (36,800)
Net cash (used in)/generated from MEEFBZRE (Rd)
financing activities MAREE (85,210) 596,859
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BekReEEMEM,/
cash equivalents CRiZD) 258 141,937 (271,788)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—HZEEK
REEEY 567,558 859,598
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes EEREH w2 (21,206) (20,252)
Cash and cash equivalents at wW+ZB=+—RHz2
31 December ReERAEEEBEY 688,289 567,558
Analysis of the balances of cash and bank IR&RIRITERAHEMN
balances: TIEEHERMK
Representing cash and bank balances as EREGaMBIRR
stated in the consolidated statement of 2INRER
financial position IRITHEER 717,173 592,181
Representing cash and bank balances EREOHEEN
attributable to assets classified as EERGENREESK
held for sale R1TASBR - 189,534
Less: time deposits with maturity dates over & : FIHAHBB=1EA
three months ZERER (28,884) (214,157)
688,289 567,558
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 55 A 58 2 i

For the year ended 31 December 2024 RZE-_MOF+ "B =+—H

GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). Its immediate holding company is Glories
Holdings (HK) Limited, which was incorporated in the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic
of China (“Hong Kong”) and the ultimate holding company
is Guangdong Nanhai Holding Group Co., Ltd., which was
incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (‘the PRC”).
The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section of the annual report.

During the year, the principal activities of the Group are big
data business, civil explosives business, financial leasing,
hotel business, property investments and wellness elderly
care business. The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are described in Note 7.

The operation of industrial parks and property development
business is classified as discontinued operation during the year.
Details of which are set out in Note 11.

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the
functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the
Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period
beginning on 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to
HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 1

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7

and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9  Amendments to the Classification
and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?®

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards Accounting Standards Volume
118
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

112

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. Certain comparative figures has been
reclassified to conform with current year’s presentation.

Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including structured
entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

° the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

o any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

114

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies to
be in line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
have been eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of
relevant reserves between the Group and the non-controlling
interests according to the Group’s and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The
fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
acquired processes are considered substantive if they are
critical to the ability to continue producing outputs, including
an organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge,
or experience to perform the related processes or they
significantly contribute to the ability to continue producing
outputs and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to
continue producing outputs.

Acquisition of business, other than business combination
under common control, are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated
as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (the
“Conceptual Framework”) except for transactions and events
within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, in which
the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of
the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has
assumed in a business combination. Contingent assets are not
recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome
Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

116

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination (Continued)

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date;

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured
in accordance with that standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as defined
in HKFRS 16 Leases) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases for
which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value if the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition
date. If, after the reassessment, the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit
or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be
initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other
types of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-
date fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

118

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash generating units (or group of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-
generating unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of
cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is
measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
(or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)
retained.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate is
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting, except when the investment,
or a portion thereof, is classified as held for sale, in which case
it is or the portion so classified is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations. Any retained portion of an investment
in an associate that has not been classified as held for sale
continues to be accounted for using the equity method. The
financial statements of an associate used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as
those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in an
associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate.

When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

120

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in an associate (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount,
Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the
former associate and the retained interest is a financial asset
within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded
as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between
the carrying amount of the associate and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing the relevant
interest in the associate is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on
the same basis as would be required if that associate had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore,
if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of
the relevant associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Investments in an associate (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of the interests in the associate
that are not related to the Group.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that
gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when the asset (or
disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed
sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of
control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that
subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group will
retain a non-controlling interest in the relevant subsidiary after
the sale.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Non-current assets held for sale (Continued)

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell, except for financial
assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
and investment properties which continue to be measured
in accordance with the accounting policies as set out in
respective sections.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties are
initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment properties are
included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum:

2% to 10%
10% to 30%

Land and buildings

Furniture, equipment and leasehold
improvements

Plant and machinery

Motor vehicles

10% to 30%
15% to 30%

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses/revalued amounts,
being their fair value at the date of the revaluation less
subsequent accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with
finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at
cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Impairment of tangible assets, intangible assets other
than goodwill and right-of-use assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets, intangible assets other
than goodwill and right-of-use assets to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or less),
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
a known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit
and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Financial instruments (Continueq)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets and financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial application/initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In additional, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at amortised cost
of FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Financial instruments (Continueq)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continueq)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any interest earned
on the financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Financial instruments (Continueq)

Financial assets (Continueq)

Impairment of financial assets and finance lease receivables

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables and finance lease receivables) which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, twelve-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and finance lease receivables. The ECL on these assets are
assessed individually for debtors with significant balances
and/or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to twelve-month ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Financial instruments (Continueq)

Financial assets (Continueq)

Impairment of financial assets and finance lease receivables

(Continueq)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly.

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continueqd)

Impairment of financial assets and finance lease receivables
(Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

- an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’'s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
(i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers
a debt instrument to have low credit risk when it has an
internal of “investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

132

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Financial instruments (Continueq)

Financial assets (Continueq)

Impairment of financial assets and finance lease receivables
(Continueq)

Definition of default

The Group considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Financial instruments (Continueq)
Financial assets (Continueq)

Impairment of financial assets and finance lease receivables
(Continueq)

iv Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

V. Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the Probability
of Default (“PD”), loss given default (‘LGD”) (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and exposure at
default. The assessment of the PD and LGD is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continueq)

Financial assets (Continueq)

Impairment of financial assets and finance lease receivables
(Continueq)

V.

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continueq)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between a contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition. For a lease receivable,
the cash flows used for determining the ECL is consistent
with the cash flows used in measuring the lease
receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instruments level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the following basis:

° Past-due status; and

° Nature, size and industry of debtors.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
and finance lease receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Financial instruments (Continueq)

Financial assets (Continueq)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated
in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and
translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period.
Specifically:

° For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are
not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other
gains and losses’ line item as part of the net foreign
exchange gains/(losses);

° For financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other
gains and losses’ line item as part of the gain/(loss) from
changes in fair value of financial assets.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire, or when it transfers the rights to receive the contractual
cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are
transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for derecognition
in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or in which
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the
risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of
the financial asset.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets
recognised on its consolidated statement of financial position,
but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards
of the transferred assets. In such cases, the transferred assets
are not derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Financial instruments (Continueq)

Financial assets (Continueq)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised directly in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Financial instruments (Continueq)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including borrowings, trade and other
payables and lease liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Convertible notes

The component parts of the convertible notes are classified
separately as financial liabilities and equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. A
conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
(including any embedded non-equity derivatives features) is
estimated by measuring the fair value of similar liability that
does not have an associated equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by
deducting the amount of the liability component from the
fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This
is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the
conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity
until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share
premium. When the conversion option remains unexercised
at the maturity date of the convertible notes, the balance
recognised in equity will be transferred to retained earnings. No
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or
expiration of the conversion option.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continueq)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Convertible notes (Continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
notes are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity components are recognised directly
in equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability component
and are amortised over the lives of the convertible notes using
the effective interest method.

When the contractual terms of a convertible instrument
are modified, such as extending the tenure, the revised
terms would result in a substantial modification from the
original terms, after taking into account all relevant facts and
circumstances including qualitative factors, such modification is
accounted for as derecognition of the original financial liability
and the recognition of new financial liability. The difference
between the carrying amount of financial liability derecognised
and the fair value of consideration paid or payable, including
any liabilities assumed and derivative components recognised,
is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continueq)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign
currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end
of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and
losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the
instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in the ‘Other gains and losses’ line item in profit or
loss as part of net foreign exchange gains/(losses) for financial
liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid or payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is
material).

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods and services provided in the normal course of business,
net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time,
when (or as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by
transferring the promised goods or services to its customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

140

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue recognition policies are
as follows:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Sales of emulsion explosives, logistics income from
civil explosives business, income on explosives
engineering from civil explosives business,
operating income from big data business, industrial
parks and property development and wellness
elderly care business and other income from hotel
business

Sales of emulsion explosives, logistics income from civil
explosives business, income on explosives engineering
from civil explosives business, operating income from big
data business, industrial parks and property development
and wellness elderly care business and other income from
hotel business involve income generated from sales of
goods or providing services. Income generated from sales
of goods is recognised when goods are delivered and
title has passed, while income generated from providing
services is recognised when the relevant services are
rendered.

Service income from hotel business, industrial parks
and property development and wellness elderly care
business

Service income from hotel business, industrial parks and
property development and wellness elderly care business
are recognised on a straight-line basis over the scheduled
period of services.

Construction of platform regarding big data
business

Revenue from construction of platform is recognised
progressively over the contract period based on the
stage of completion method. The progress towards
completion of the construction of platform is measured
based on output method, which is to recognise revenue
on the basis of direct measurements of the value of the
outputs transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining outputs promised under the contract, that best
depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
platform.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

Technical service income from big data business

Technical service income from big data business
includes income generated from providing business IT
management, design, implementation and technical
support services. It is under fixed-price contracts and
recognised in the accounting period in which the services
are rendered. For fixed-price contracts, revenue is
recognised based on the actual service provided to the
end of the reporting period as a proportion of the total
services to be provided because the customer receives

and uses the benefits simultaneously.

Where the service contracts include multiple performance
obligations, the transaction price will be allocated to each
performance obligation based on the stand-alone selling
price.

Interest income from financial leasing

Interest income from financial leasing including handling
fees (if any) represents interest income from financial
leasing business, is allocated to accounting periods so as
to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s
net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Consultancy service income from financial leasing

Consultancy service income from financial leasing is
recognised when the services are rendered.

Rental income
Rental income arising from properties let under operating

leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
periods of the respective leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

142

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Contract liabilities represent the Group’s obligation to transfer
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer. If the considerations (including advances received
from customers) exceeds the revenue recognised to date
under the output method then the Group recognises a contract
liability for the difference.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as deferred income or a deduction from the
carrying amount of the relevant asset in the consolidated
statement of position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivables as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they become receivable. Government
grants relating to compensation of expenses are deducted from
the related expenses, other government grants are presented
under “other income”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.
In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits
of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

144

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to the lease liabilities and the related assets
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included
in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Retirement benefits scheme

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
including the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”), Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance
(“ORSO Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit
scheme are charged as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Lease

Definition of a lease

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception
of the contract. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It
also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straightline
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Lease (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties
and measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

148

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Lease (Continueq)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review in which cases
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

° a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease (see below for the
accounting policy for “lease modifications”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling
prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

150

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise,except for exchange differences on monetary items
receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore
forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation),
which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income
and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group’s interests in associates.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(ii)

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group; or

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(ii)

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

152

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueqd)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies: (Continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the reporting entity or to the parent of the
reporting entity.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that individual in their dealings with the entity, and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(b)

children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Estimation of fair value of the Group’s investment
properties

The Group’s properties were revalued as at 31 December 2024
based on appraised market value by independent professional
valuers. Such valuations were based on certain assumptions,
which are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ
from the actual results. In making the estimate of fair value, the
Group considers information from current prices in an active
market for similar properties in the same location and condition
and uses assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at the end of each reporting period.

The carrying amount of investment properties at 31
December 2024 was approximately HK$330,916,000 (2023:
approximately HK$338,172,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuead)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables and finance
lease receivables

The management of the Group estimates the amount of
impairment loss allowance for trade receivables and finance
lease receivables by assessing the ECLs, which requires the
use of estimates and judgements. Assessing the ECLs requires
the use of a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, general conditions, internal credit
ratings and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions. The
allowance of ECLs is sensitive to changes in estimates.

The information about the ECLs and the Group’s impairment
loss allowance regarding trade receivables and finance lease
receivables are disclosed in Notes 5, 26 and 27 respectively.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill
has been allocated, which is the higher of the value in use or
fair value less costs of disposal. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, or changes in facts and circumstances
which results in downward revision of future cash flows or
upward revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss or
further impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of goodwill
is approximately HK$121,755,000 (2023: HK$125,907,000),
Details of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in
Note 19.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s businesses are principally conducted in the
PRC and Hong Kong and accordingly are subject to special
considerations and several risks.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group’s main operating income and costs are
denominated in RMB. The Group held a certain amount
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in RMB, an
exchange loss or gain would arise from the appreciation or
depreciation of RMB. In 2024, due to political and economic
factors such as the US election, the continued escalation
of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine, the subversive
changes in the situation in the Middle East, the continued
turmoil and slowdown of the world economy, the exchange rate
fluctuated repeatedly in both directions. Therefore, the Group
has established a foreign exchange risk monitoring mechanism
to deal with foreign exchange risks. The board of directors
will continue to closely monitor the dynamics of the foreign
exchange market and take effective measures to prevent
foreign exchange risks in a timely manner.

Besides, parts of the Group’s bank balances and borrowings
are denominated in US dollars. The sensitivity of fluctuation
in US dollars exchange rate is considered insignificant as the
Hong Kong dollars are pegged to US dollars based on The
Linked Exchange Rate System.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Foreign Exchange Exposure (Continued)

The carrying amount of the Group’s major monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the relevant group companies at the end

of the reporting period are as follows:

RO MBrRRIE @

5. MHERKER @
ShEE R (42)
R|ERFR AEESAMEEADY

MEMERLUNNERFEBNEES
REENEREGGENREEENT

At 31 December

®w+=ZRA=+—H
2024 2023
—E-E -

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T
Assets BE

Denominated in Renminbi AR B4 9,097 198
Liabilities afE

Denominated in Renminbi AR &4 127,200 131,705

The following shows the sensitivity analysis of a 5% increase/ TRETARBRBEAGE,ZE

decrease in RMB against the Hong Kong dollars. The sensitivity
analysis includes only RMB denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the year and for a 5% change in
RMB dollars rates. If there is a 5% increase/decrease in RMB
exchange rate against the Hong Kong dollar, the effect in the

profit for the year is as follows:

BRE D - ZBRAED T EEEU
ARBFHENERED REKEEA

REEXEFH1MABRBE - HAR
WRBEHEZE% MHFEER
mAREWNT !

At 31 December

®W+=ZB=+—H
2024 2023
—EME —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Decrease/increase in profit or loss for the year FE#EBZ /D, 1M 5,905 6,575
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for equity holders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to equity holders, return capital to equity
holders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt (which
includes borrowings and convertible notes) and equity
attributable to owners of the Company (comprising issued
share capital, share premium, contributed surplus ,reserves
and retained earnings).

The Directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider
the cost of capital and will balance its overall capital structure
through issue of new shares as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debt.

The Directors monitor capital on the basis of gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated based on total debts dividend by equity plus
total debts. Total debts is calculated as total interest-bearing
borrowings and debt component of convertible notes.

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as
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AsEAREE

FEENECEENRERELAEH
FEEEE  UARRIEHEBIHRASHE
thERFAEARHN D RNETRE
NWEAREBLUREESHE BT R
WBEEARER AEEETRAES
T FRENREHE BRRDIKNE
FREBITHRIHEEELURER
7o

FEBZEXEBOREEE (BEEMR
KA EE) UK AR B REEGE
m (BREEETRE - RNDEE -BEX
NE~REERFERER) o

FABDEEBHFERANERRE - FiR
NZz—Bo BEFERETNAE WK
BRFITMRKRBITMESHNEEIR
BEREBRITEHERELRRB

EENEEABLEXRAEERITEE R
ZERUBREEBHRUER kB EE
BB B EBRNIRTEERE
BMEIREENEEED -

RESHR BEEARLEROT

follows:

2024 2023
—EME ==

HK$’000 HK$’'000
BB TT BT
Total debts (Note 1) eEEEE (1) 5,143,748 5,874,745
Equity (Note 2) #m (MEE2) 1,070,749 980,032
Equity and total debts HmBEUREEERE 6,214,497 6,854,777
Gearing ratio EEBGLX 83% 86%
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Capital risk management (Continued)

Notes:

1) Total debts comprises of total interest-bearing borrowings,
including long-term and short-term borrowings, and debt
component of convertible notes as detailed in Notes 11, 30 and
31 respectively.

2) Equity includes all capital and reserves attributable to owners of
the Company.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to fixed
interest rate from borrowings (see Note 30 for details of these
borrowings). The Group currently does not use any derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to fair value interest rate risk.
However, the management will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk mainly arises from
the Group’s RMB denominated borrowings. It is the Group’s
policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate of interest so as to
minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s main interest rate risk arises from borrowings with
variable rates, which expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk. The Group manages its interest rate risk by having a
balanced portfolio of fixed and variable rate borrowings.

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate
changes at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

GO M BImRRNEE @

HEREEIE &
EEAKEE ()

MisE -

1) BEEECEEENEE HaF
EHMEHRERURREZERNE
BE D 2 B BB M EE11 30k
FI5EST o

2) HEBEAAREAABGLAEESR
Fefdtifh o

B

FEEAAEBENXEREEZHEEEF
RZBEAR KFEEZFBEFSH
Mi5E30) - AEE AL ®|EREETT
ETEANEHPHERZ ARERN R
Bz AT EEERNEREREE
HIHREARF KRR

FEBZESRENXRRAR  TE2XKE
FEBUARBSEZEBE &R
HRAREERFLUIBFRTE X
R ASENRRERRERE -

e PEF-PIES S ATl
THEZER B EREAEBEE
RenBNEAR A EREBESE
R EARERN L EES TR
R B o

FEREMNRSPREENXES
BEERMT :

2024 % of total 2023 % of total

HK$’000 borrowings HK$'000 borrowings

“ETomE AR ZBICE A

AT BEENL BETT REEDLE

Variable rate borrowings EE-HIESEEN 2,105,510 42% 2,438,698 43%
Fixed rate borrowings EEFEER 2,897,769 58% 3,279,796 57%
5,003,279 100% 5,718,494 100%
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

An analysis by maturities is provided in liquidity risk
management below. The percentage of total borrowings shows
the proportion of borrowings that are currently at variable rates
in relation to the total amount of borrowings.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for borrowings at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the borrowings outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2023:
50 basis points) increase or decrease in interest rate is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2024 would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$11,361,000 (2023: profit decrease/increase by
approximately HK$12,528,000).
to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate

This is mainly attributable

borrowings.

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rest with
the board of Directors. In the management of the liquidity risk,
the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5.
Liquidity risk management (Continued)

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows:

A MBIRRINEE &

MBRMRER @
RBESAREE (&

FERZEREERERNTZEHEH
BREMAREGNI P B EREREH
DEETRDF-M TRZERTIIRE
BHRITBEZRERERE !

2024
ZZImE
On
Weighted demand Total Total
average or within Over undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year 2-3 years 4-5 years 5 years cash flows amount
i BERY RERRE

Figf|% —ELR ZE=E mERE RENE e BIEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ekihg ki kil kil ek ki

Trade and other payables BRI
EERFHE - 215,638 - - - 215,638 215,638
Borrowings B3 4.44% 1,696,674 2,908,748 408,194 547,043 5,560,659 5,003,279
Leas liabilities HEEE 4.99% 1,021 1,978 1,005 671 4,675 4,181
Convertible notes HRER 8.46% 3,325 172,882 - - 176,207 140,469
1,916,658 3,083,608 409,199 547,714 5,957,179 5,363,567

2023
ZECCF
On
Weighted demand Total Total
average or within Over  undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year 2-3 years 4-5 years 5 years cash flows amount
g BEXY FERRE

TR= —FUR “E=E MERE RENE HERR BEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT BT BT BT

Trade and other payables FEfT R
HitEARUE - 245,551 - - - 245,551 245,551
Borrowings faR 4.41% 2,241,235 2,725,996 370,045 669,573 6,006,849 5,718,494
Lease liabilities HEEER 5% 51,089 107,199 111,061 1,831,105 2,100,454 1,052,346
Convertible notes hRER 10.64% 166,232 - - - 166,232 156,251
2,704,107 2,833,195 481,106 2,500,678 8,519,086 7,172,642
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Liquidity risk management (Continued)

Borrowings with a repayment on demand clause as at 31
December 2024 are included in the “on demand or within 1
year” time band in the above table. The carrying amount of
the borrowings amounted to approximately HK$16,631,000
(2023: HK$785,784,000) as at 31 December 2024. Taking
into account the Group’s financial position and assets pledged
for the borrowings, the Directors did not believe that it was
probable that the lenders would exercise the discretionary
rights to demand immediate payments. The Directors believed
that the borrowings would be repaid in accordance with the
repayment schedules set out in the loans agreements. Details
of which are set out in the table below:

RO MBrRRIE @
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RZE_NFE+ZB=+—H EE
KREEZEBEARNEREGTA ERTEERS
—FRIEREBERN - RN T TMF
+ZAE=+—H ERNEKREEAN
B #16,631,000T (ZEZ =4 | Bl
785,784,0007T) ° 5t R AE BB AR
ERAFEERFRNEER EFLT
RABERAGTERAEREERIAE
M EBFERABRERRERBERD
BB ERREBE - FBEHNTF

Maturity Analysis - Borrowings with a repayment on demand clause

HERAT-ERERHNRERERRRNER

Total Total

Within Over undiscounted carrying

1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years 5 years cash flows amount

RERRE

—ELA -E=f MELE AENE MEMRE BEREE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETL  BETR  BETR  BETR  #ETR  #ETx

As at 31 December 2024 “ZTME+ZR=1—H 2,379 4,584 4,351 7,176 18,490 16,631

As at 31 December 2023 ZEZ-£+ZA=+-H 43,426 752,175 26,699 11,841 834,141 785,784
Credit risk EERER

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties equals to the carrying amount of respective
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to trade receivables and finance lease receivables.
Credit risk on other receivables is limited because there was
no historical default record has been made during the year and
the Directors expect that the general economic conditions will
not significantly changed for the 12 months after the reporting
date.

RZE_NEAR_E-_=ZF+_H4
—t+—H rERERFERRSHF
REBTEAMERTEBMFEIEL
NESEERBESENRGEATHERNR
RATY NS ESRHEENRITE K
EBEERBEERBEWER R
BETAE W - AF W EEFEBLIR
RREEEREBREEHET @A
BRELSHERABIGEELEETREE K
BRAEMERSRIENEERRBAER
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Credit risk (Continueqd)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determining of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the management of the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual receivable at the end
of reporting period to ensure that adequate allowance for
ECL is made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
Directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

The Group applied the simplified approach to measure ECL
on trade receivables, including trade receivables from big
data business, civil explosives business, hotel business,
wellness elderly care business and industrial parks and
property development and finance lease receivables. Under the
simplified approach, the Group measures the loss allowance at
an amount equal to lifetime ECL.

To measure the ECL on trade receivables, based on forward-
looking economic information through the use of industry
trend and experienced credit judgement as well as past
experience including historical credit loss experience and
current expectations, the Group has collectively used
provision matrices with different ECL rates separated based
on different customer segments or past due status on total
carrying amount of trade receivables from big data business,
civil explosives business, property development and wellness
elderly care business.

To measure the ECL on finance lease receivables, finance lease
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics. The Group has collectively applied provision
matrix with different ECL rates. ECL rates of the Group’s
finance lease receivables, are based on qualitative (such as
lessee’s operating conditions, financial positions, usage of
finance lease assets, etc.) and quantitative factors (mainly
include past due information of the finance lease receivables).
The following table provides information about the exposure to
credit risk of finance lease receivables and the provision matrix
showing the ECL as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RO MBrRRIE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. HHEREERE »
Credit risk (Continued) EERE (&)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s TRAMRBTEESREENER
financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: R O B AR O R 2R TR
EEBRETL
2024 2024 2023 2023
“TIWE “TmE =% B =F
Allowance Allowance
Gross for expected Gross for expected
12 months or Expected carrying credit carrying credit
lifetime ECL loss rate amount losses amount losses
+ZERMERER
BERZBHREBER FARAEREK THHERBEX
Ei=FS LGP e MIREEEE Z &g IR ZBIR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETTT BETTT BT BT
Financial assets at
amortised cost
BEMANERMEE
Trade receivables Life time ECL (not 2.73%
U BR =R credit-impaired)  (2023: 1.67%)
FEERENZEE 2.73%
HiEREBX (ZTZ=%:
1.67%) 87,536 2,388 88,472 1,476
Other receivables and deposits 12 months ECL Nil
Hh e mEMZE +ZEANBEHRER (2023: Nil)
P ki
(ZBEZ=F:
=) 44,788 - 64,903 -
Credit-impaired 100%
EERE (2023:100%)
100%
(Z&Z=%:
100%) 36,010 36,010 37,239 37,239
80,798 36,010 102,142 37,239
Finance lease receivables Life time ECL (not 0.96%
mEREERHRIE credit-impaired)  (2023: 1.63%)
FEERENZEE 0.96%
HEREBX (ZTZ=%:
1.63%) 4,540,084 43,413 4,660,344 75,831
Credit-impaired 24.59%
EERE (20283: 50.0%)
24.59%
(CEZ=%F:
50.0%) 78,691 19,353 64,650 32,322
4,618,775 62,766 4,724,994 108,153
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5.

Credit risk (Continued)

Movements in the accounts related to ECL in respect of trade

receivables, other receivables and finance lease receivables are

SO MBS HRRNGE @

MEBERRERE @

EERK @)

BRABWERR  Hth BRI R R E R
ERBMNEREEGREZ 2

summarised as follows: (Il
Finance
Trade Other Lease
Receivables  Receivables Receivables Total
MEHEE
MR EEKHRE FE =R ke
(Note 27) (Note I) (Note 26)
(Mf3E27) (FFE) (i 5%26)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
Balance as at 1 January 2023 AZE_=%—H—H 971 40,555 60,528 102,054
Allowance for expected credit losses R EREERE 2,226 - 49,617 51,843
Transfer to assets classified BARBREERE
as held for sale (1,679) (2,200) - (3,879)
Exchange difference ERER (42) (1,116) (1,992) (3,150)
Balance as at 31 December 2023 and A _E_=&+_H
1 January 2024 =+-BRIZZONF
—B—H 1,476 37,239 108,153 146,868
Allowance for expected credit losses BHEERE 980 - 16,258 17,238
Written-off Gai - - (58,895) (58,895)
Exchange difference [ERELE (68) (1,229) (2,750) (4,047)
Balance as at 31 December 2024 RIZTZME
+-R=+—H 2,388 36,010 62,766 101,164

Note:

In 2020, allowance for expected credit losses was recognised

in other receivables, which represents consideration receivables
amounted to RMB33,850,000 in relation to the disposal of
the Group’s 25% equity in Guangdong Financial Leasing Co.,

Limited* that management consider was uncollectible in full.

*

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) & & M BEREMEE @)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.

Fair value

i) Fair value of financial assets

The following table provides an analysis of financial
assets that are measured at fair value subsequent to
initial recognition, grouped into Level 1 to 3 based on the
degree to which the input is observable:

HEREEIE @

ARE

i)

EHEEZAALE

TREIRD T EEBEARRE
SAEZERMEEZDN LD 5
ROABEBEZIEREDES—

E=4R:

As at 31 December 2024

RIZEZMNE+ZA=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B—R B4R B4R oy
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
Recurring fair value BEMAREHE:
measurements:
Financial assets at fair value RAREFABRZ
through profit or loss: THEE:
Unlisted equity investment FELETRHBEE - - 3,662 3,662
- - 3,662 3,662
As at 31 December 2023
RZE_=F+"F=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—1R E_R B4R et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT
Recurring fair value REMARMEHE:
measurements:
Financial assets at fair value BRAREFABRZ
through profit or loss: THMEE:
Unlisted equity investment FETRHBEE - - 3,787 3,787
- - 3,787 3,787

There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and
Level 3 during the year.

REEER B—HR - FMKE
=Rz B EETEE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Fair value (Continued)
i) Fair value of financial assets (Continued)

The Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair value of the
financial asset is determined (in particular, the valuation
technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value  Valuation technique and

SO MBS HRRNGE @

5. MFERKRER »

QARE &

) EHREEZAALME (E)

REBSHPR  AEBZEHEA
ERANEFE - TREIAERRM
NREEEMEEAABMLER
EERMRAHRANEARE) -

Financial assets Fair value as at hierarchy key inputs inputs (Notes)
EHMEE RUTEENARE AREFE HERTRIEHARE EXFTAURRBARE (M)
2024 2023
ZEIWE CZTT=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT  BETR
Unlisted equity
investment
FELETRNOEE
- Financial asset 3,662 3,787 Level 3 Income approach - discounted -  Discount rate: 12.1%
—EREE B4R cash flow analysis (2023: 13.2%)
WAZE-IRIREMREDNM - Discount for lack of
marketability rate: 30%
(2023: 30%)
- Free cash flow
— RIRE 1121%
(==
— BRZTIERBMTEEX
30%
(Z2Z=
— BHRER
Notes: i
. The higher the discount rate, the lower the fair value and . RS> AnEEHEE &
vice versa. IR0
. The higher the discount for lack of marketability, the lower . REAZ mdtmEENTIRE

the fair value and vice versa.

. The higher the free cash flow, the higher the fair value and
vice versa.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.

Fair value (Continued)

i)

Fair value of financial assets (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

SO MBS HRRNGE @

MEBERRERE @

ARE #E)

) EHREEZAALME A

BEZRAAEAEZHER

2024 2023
—E_MNE TET=4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
AT T BT 5T
As at 1 January w—A—H 3,787 91,875
Decrease in fair value of financial FABRZEREEY
assets at fair value through naERLD
profit or loss (Note a) (MtzEa) - (86,130)
Exchange difference PE R =% (125) (1,958)
As at 31 December R+ZA=+—H 3,662 3,787
Note: F 5% -
(a)  Total fair value changes of financial assets at fair value (@) BE_ZE_=F+"-B=+—

through profit or loss of HK$86,130,000 has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the year during the year ended 31 December 2023,
which the fair value loss attributed to Level 3 financial
assets amounted to HK$86,130,000 at 31 December
2028.

HIEFE  RERRAAEST AR
HDZEMBEZANELZY
4R %E 75 5 1586,130,0007c E R
AFEEZEAGHEERANER
AR -HEAREBETEKRE
RE=ZBREMEE BE_ZT
_=F+ZR=+—H ®#
#£86,130,0007T ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) & & M BEREMEE @)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. MFERKRER &

Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category BRENESPZEHEEREGEHNE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and FEERGEEAIRIZEHNEERE
liabilities as recognised at the end of the reporting period are EREEYEUTEIE D M IT A
categorised as follows. See Note 3 for explanations about DEHHBHEZ X ERBAISEMN
how the classification of financial instruments affects their 5E30

subsequent measurement.

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
AETT BT
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at fair value BARBEFABRLZ
through profit or loss ETREE 3,662 3,787
Financial assets measured BEIEm A EZ
at amortised cost: THMEE !
Rental deposits HE®E - 5,788
Trade and other receivables JRE U BR R R EL A
A e 129,936 186,403
Finance lease receivables MEAEREWR 4,556,009 4,616,841
Pledged bank deposit BIRRIRITER - 7,197
Cash and bank balances RE&MIRTTAERR 717,173 781,715
5,406,780 5,601,731
Financial liabilities EMAaR
Financial liabilities measured at HEE AT E
amortised cost: THEE .
Convertible notes AR ER 140,469 156,251
Lease liabilities HEaR 4,181 1,052,346
Trade and other payables FEAT AR #R K E A
EANEQE] 183,624 245,551
Borrowings EEN 5,003,279 5,718,494
5,331,553 7,172,642
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REVENUE

Revenue represents the gross amounts received and receivable

for revenue arising on wellness elderly care business, big data

business, financial leasing business, civil explosives business,

property investments and hotel business, goods sold and

services rendered by the Group to outside customers less

return and allowances and gross rental income, interest income

generated from financial leasing and consultancy fee income

received from outsiders during the year.

The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised

A MBIRRINEE &

WA

WATHIEFNBAARBEREERES A
BEH REHEER RARIFRE
B MERERBASES  FEEBS
REFHESRMEHRB LI IFER
ERFTAUREEWABEMREEZ
Bl RERZWARE BRERER
L ZF B WA R | 5h 57 UK B EE 58 AR

BEZWA-

FREEWRATHEISNEREZE]]

during the year is as follows: HEEENT
2024 2023
=~ 111 =3 g2 =
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETIT BT T
Continuing operations FBRE X
Revenue from contracts REEFEREHNZINARER .
with customers:
Types of goods or services EmiRFEER
Operating income from wellness AEEEZEFEEWRA
elderly care business (Note i) GED 99,122 70,954
Service income from wellness elderly care AEBEEZEFRIEWA
business (Note ii) (B i) 103,736 86,487
Construction of platform and operating REIBEBBETFERE
income from big data business EIWA 4,206 16,440
Technical service income REIEEFE MR UA
from big data business 9,918 4,541
Consultancy service income MEHEEREN
from financial leasing business BR# U A 81,631 87,023
Income on explosives engineering EABIFmERIRE
from civil explosives business TEWA 34,771 61,430
Logistics income from civil REABRIEGREBRERBIA
explosives business 5,530 9,352
Sales of emulsion explosives tHE FLICVEZE 154,567 194,968
Service income from hotel business BEEEWA - 6,268
Other income from hotel business B EHMEEWA - 2,361
493,481 539,824
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 47 &M BRI EE @)

6. REVENUE (Continued) 6. WA &=
2024 2023
ZEIME —E=
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Revenue from other sources: Hhg A RIE :
Interest income from financial leasing KEMBEHEEEBEN
business B U A 286,394 265,613
Rental income from investment properties 8B ¥ R EEYE
and properties held for sale HEUWA 7,647 9,617
Rental income from hotel properties B E WA 11,440 6,369
305,481 281,599
798,962 821,423
Timing of revenue recognition BB &AW 0B
from contracts with customers
— At a point in time — R KR 379,827 442,528
— Over time — B RER 113,654 97,296
493,481 539,824
Notes: M 5T
() It includes medical care service income, operating income from () HAPSEBERBBA -BERBF
elderly care services platform and others. BEEWRAMEM-
(i) It includes management service income, nursing care service (i) HAPSEBEERBIA FIERBWK
income and service income from elderly care services platform. AFMEBEZRBEFERBEA -
The transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance RIEZWNF+ZHA=+—H> X5
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 BEIPEZEHRTHNEANSEE KRER
December 2024 are all expected to be recognised within one RBHIARERE) BH B —FRER

year. o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is currently organised
into six operating divisions — wellness elderly care business,
big data business, financial leasing business, civil explosives
business, property investments and hotel business. These
divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its primary
segment information.

Principal activities are as follows:

Wellness elderly — comprehensive elderly care services
care business

Big data business industrial internet platform
construction, smart city
construction and

big data operation and

management
Financial leasing —  provision of finance lease consulting
business services and financing services in
the PRC
Civil explosives —  manufacture and sale of emulsion
business explosives and explosive
engineering
Property investments—  holding investment properties
Hotel business —  hotel ownership, management and

leasing of hotel property

Industrial parks and property development business is
classified as a discontinued operation during the year. The
segment information reported below does not include any
amount for this discontinued operation, which is described in
more details in Note 11.

GEBIRRMNEE @

DEER

»EEBN AEERBI D /A
MEXBOSH - KRBEREBERES A
BED REHEET RARIFRE
B PERENBEERT - AEE 5L
EESBHEEZRAETEDHLER -

FEEHBUOT
AEREE - BERGRH
EEH
REEER —  TEODHRSETS
BR-EEW
MmERRAH
BREEER
MEMEES — RREARHM
B (TepEr)) 12
HEEHEER
ARBRRE
AR %5
RABER —  ACEEEEMN
£ 5 R IR IR
I
MERE -  FARBEYE
B IEER - EEHEARE
BB HE
BIEYE

EXERMEEREFFRAEAFAED
BEERIEEEEFT - UToBERZ
ERHFOIEREREEH 5
HEFBE I -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

172

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment information about these continuing operations

presented below:

Segment revenue

GEBIRRMNEE @

DEER @
RS RANECS T 2 D5

éjﬁ#E?UﬁDT :

Segment result

DEWA DEEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—ENE —E= —EmE 2=
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BB AT BEFIT
Wellness elderly care business ABEEEEE 202,858 157,441 9,577 (10,854)
Big data business KRS 14,124 20,981 (1,400) 1,092
Financial leasing business MEREER 368,025 352,636 162,590 118,311
Civil explosives business ERRIERER 194,868 265,750 25,925 38,744
Property investments MERE 7,647 9,617 (8,400) (1,557)
Hotel business BIE R 11,440 14,998 5,562 (1,734)
Total 4t 798,962 821,423 193,854 144,002
Bank interest income RITFBURA 11,893 7,822
Decrease in fair value of SPABmZEREEY
financial assets at fair value ARERED
through profit or loss - (86,130)
Finance costs (excluding interest on ~ BI# S H (FEEHEE
lease liabilities) B8EZAE) (78,194) (65,729)
Net central administration cost PR TERL AIR B (20,906) (27,154)
Net exchange gain/(loss) Wi, (1K) 25 2,134 (2,458)
Professional fee HEER (14,672) (8,003)
Share of profit of associates ELEE AR RBA 40,335 51,400
Profit before taxation Al & A 134,444 13,750
Income tax expense FTiSifEsz (51,811) (37,001)
Profit/(loss) for the year FELEZREE
from continuing operations BA/ (B8) 82,633 (23,251)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue

generated from external customers. There was no inter-

segment sale in the current year (2023: Nil).

Segment result represents the profit generated by each

segment without allocation of bank interest income, (decrease)/

increase in fair value of financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss, finance costs (excluding interest on lease

liabilities), net central administration cost, net exchange gain/

(loss), professional fee and share of profit of an associate. This

is the measure reported to the Group’s management for the

purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RO MBrRRIE @

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEHEN =
Segment assets and liabilities DEEERERE
2024 2023
—EmE ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT 7T
Segment assets NEHEE
Continuing operations FEEE ¥
Wellness elderly care business KEBEEER 391,179 284,124
Big data business REURETS 27,131 29,813
Financial leasing business MEHEER 4,990,099 4,688,050
Civil explosives business RABIFmER 376,093 408,567
Property investments MERE 278,972 280,980
Hotel business BIEZETE 100,721 102,351
Total segment assets WAIEE 6,164,195 5,793,885
Pledged bank deposits BIRIRIRITER - 7,197
Cash and bank balances RE& MIRTTHER 717,173 592,181
Interests in associates REE AT 2w 545,245 519,077
Financial assets at fair value BN REFTA
through profit or loss BRZEREE 3,662 3,787
Unallocated assets RAOBEEE 54,135 66,773
7,484,410 6,982,900
Assets relating to B IERE
discontinued operations ER2EE - 2,772,809
Consolidated assets REBEE 7,484,410 9,755,709
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

174

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

RO MBrRRIE

7. OEEFE @

NWEERER (B

2024 2023
—E@mE s =
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Segment liabilities DEEE
Continuing operations FEEE ¥
Wellness elderly care business KEBEEER 348,089 267,822
Big data business REURETS 9,497 14,713
Financial leasing business MEHEER 4,083,842 3,887,563
Civil explosives business ERRERER 59,300 121,101
Property investments MERE 236,674 225,637
Hotel business B S T 1,912 3,617
Total segment liabilities wWoMEE 4,739,314 4,520,453
Convertible notes EIECY 5 140,469 156,251
Borrowings =R 735,809 1,095,844
Unallocated liabilities AN =N 31,573 56,303
5,647,165 5,828,851
Liabilities relating to discontinued xR
operations ¥BzaR - 1,807,561
Consolidated liabilities Feafl 5,647,165 7,636,412
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MBIRRINEE &

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEEN @&
Other segment information Hith3EER
2024 —EmE
Continuing operations FBIRE 2 X
Civil Wellness
Big data explosives Financial Hotel Property elderly care
business business leasing business investment business Total
KR AR
ABEEE  BERER RMERE BIEEH MERE BELR gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETR BETR BETR BBTR BRTT BETT
Amortisation of intangible assets B BEEHH 747 - - - - - 747
Depreciation of property plantand )% BERZEITE
equipment 424 19,838 325 1,449 1,921 10,427 34,384
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ EREBENTE - 61 - - - 2,347 2,408
Additions to property, plant NE - BERRERE
and equipment - 13,850 603 - 3,669 113,755 131,877
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property,  HEHE \BERZEZ
plant and equipment B/ (i) 18 (1,294) - 20 - (802) (1,988)
Allowance for expected credit losses BiEREREM 2
on finance lease receivables BHEERERE - - 16,258 - - - 16,258
2023 —_F =
Continuing operations FBRE 2 X%
Civil Wellness
Big data explosives Financial Hotel Property elderly care
business business leasing business investment business Total
ERE KR
AEEEE  BEREER MERE BEEE WERE BEEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR BT BT BT BETT BETR BETT
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#H 447 - - S S - 447
Depreciation of property plant and M1 BE RRETE
equipment 1,170 15,676 977 6,972 2,694 5,707 33,096
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FAEEENE - 378 - - - 1,208 1,586
Additions to property, plant and WE- -BEREERE
equipment 46 4,571 50 39 3,229 113,356 121,291
Additions to property, plant and KE-HEHBARZ
equipment upon acquisition of NERBERFERE
a subsidiary 21 - - - - - 21
Loss on disposal of property, HENE BER
plant and equipment FEZBE - 1,619 - 90 - = 1,709
Allowance for expected credit losses BIER SRR
on finance lease receivables REEEEAEE = = 49,617 = = = 49,617
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

176

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7.

Geographical segments

The Group’s big data business, civil explosives business,
financial leasing, hotel business and wellness elderly care
business are located in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”), other than Hong Kong.

Property investments are located in both the PRC and Hong
Kong.

The Group’s revenue from external customers by location of
operation and information about its non-current assets by
location of assets are detailed below:

Ao o A 5 R B

= @@

DEER =

gaEsBER

AEBZARBBEEXET RABIFEFRE
VBIEXBNARREREE
EHUNPEAREMER (THE) - F

B MEEE

BEEE-

MERE

FHUR P KREE -

AEBERBIBER ZKIIZEEMN

=Ebs)
nZER

Revenue from
external customers

I REFERDEEREEMUED
EES U I

Non-current assets*

SMERE P Z S E I E EREBEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—EMmE “ET=HF —EMmE “ET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BAETT BT T BAETT BT
The PRC s 798,362 821,373 847,602 781,122
Hong Kong &8 600 50 79,443 81,554
798,962 821,423 927,045 862,676

Non-current assets excluded those relating to discontinued
operations, deferred tax assets, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, finance lease receivables, goodwill,
intangible assets, interests in associates, and right-of-use
assets.

Information about major customers

During the year, HK$150,350,000 (2023: approximately
HK$192,595,000) out of the Group’s revenues from continuing
operations of approximately HK$798,962,000 (2023:
approximately HK$821,423,000) arising from civil explosives
business were contributed by a customer. And the customer
accounted for approximately 19% (2023: 23%) of Group’s total
revenue arising from continuing operations.
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* FRBEESASERERLEEE X
BERNEE -EERNBEE -EAQ
AESFARDZEREE - RMEES
BRR-BHE -BEEE -BEARZ
ok EREEE-

TERFEH

RER - N&E B4 B 798,962,000t
(== #781821,423,000
) RERERE 2 EBNETEER
WAFERREABEEREBNBI
150,350,0007c (ZE - =F : LB
192,595,0007T) u&xxa%—mg
FrMEEZBEFEENRAMGEAE
EzEXBEBALI0% (T2 ==
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO MBS HRRNGE @

OTHER OPERATING INCOME 8. HMZEWA
Other operating income included the following items: HME&EWABSEUTIER
2024 2023
—E@mE —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Continuing operations FRERE XK
Bank interest income RITH EWA 11,893 7,822
Compensation and government B W 8 Bz BT 47 B
subsidies received
— Direct government grant —BNBEEER 1,326 5,684
— Recognition of deferred income — PR R FIE Y o FE B 105 977
Dividend income from financial assets at fair BARBESAERZ
value through profit or loss THEEZ
iz B WA 618 710
Income from early repayment KEMEHREE
on finance leases REEEZ W= 352 4,371
Income from lending of emulsion matrix and KEHEILIBEER
industrial detonation cords production THXEFER
capacity ERERIRA 2,322 4,741
FINANCE COSTS 9. MFHBXH
2024 2023
—E-@E B =
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Continuing operations FERE X
Handling fee FEE 3,654 1,317
Interest on (Note): THEREBEZHE
(B 5E) -
- Bank loans —IRITER 47,469 38,826
— Convertible notes — MR ER 15,832 15,743
- Lease liabilities —HE&R 233 109
- Loan from immediate holding company —BHEITR
REIZEMR 4,458 4,603
- Loan from a non-controlling interest —JEERER
=g - 1,318
— Other loans —HMER 6,781 3,925
74,773 64,521
78,427 65,838
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

10.

178

FINANCE COSTS (continued)
Note:

Interest expenses under finance costs is arrived at after deducting
capitalised interest of approximately HK$2,649,000 (2023:
approximately HK$1,533,000) and cost of borrowings from financial
leasing included in costs of sales and services of approximately
HK$158,237,000 (2023: approximately HK$164,171,000) from
total interest expenses recognised in the year of approximately

GO M BImRRNEE @

B H @
MIsE -

B HBETHOMNE T, B F A ER
ZHBF B H#EE235,659,0007T (=

T =4 481230,225,0007T) &0k
BEAEH B4 82,649,000t (Z2 =
F 1 #78%1,633,0007) KeEt AHE KRR
B AZRKREREREMERRENE

HK$235,659,000 (2023: approximately HK$230,225,000). #158,237,0007% (ZE =4 : B
164,171,0007T) BPIIGH ©
INCOME TAX EXPENSES 10. FAIiEHRAX
2024 2023
ZEIME —E=
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Continuing operations FERE X
Tax charges comprise: MRIERZ BIE
Current tax: RERIF !
Provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax RE TSR
B (41,277) (48,256)
Over/(under) provision in previous year: BEEEBEEE
BHETE -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax FE R EMER 1,784 (1,017)
Deferred tax: IS
Temporary differences arising in current year ~ &SEZEREER (12,318) 12,272
(51,811) (37,001)

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at the rate of 16.5%
(2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits for the
year, except for the first HK$2,000,000 of a qualified entity’s
assessable profit which is calculated at 8.25% (2023: 8.25%),
in accordance with the new two-tiered tax rate regime with
effect from the year of assessment 2018/2019.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group has no assessable profits in Hong Kong for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 47 &M BRI EE @)

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10. FRGIRBE &
PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax BHE_Z_HNWE+"HBA=1+— EthfE
at 25% (2023: 25%) for the year ended 31 December 2024. ERFENWEABTLZ25% (ZF
Certain PRC subsidiaries of the Group were entitled to enjoy T =5 125%) ZIREBMPE R ERT
the preferential Enterprise Income Tax policies for new and high BR - AERETHENBAREZS
technology enterprises and entitled to a tax concession of the EMRMEEEEMEREE TZH
income tax rate of 15% (2023: 15%). 15%NFTEMRMEBE (ZTE=6F:
15%) ©
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit REGEEaMEMEERER FA
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss MBS Ko EEP] HER > WEHMI T -

and other comprehensive income as follows:

2024 2023
—E_UE ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
AT T BT T
Profit before taxation BRAR Al & F) 134,444 13,750
Tax at the rates applicable to profit in the IZRBEMBERMEFBES >
countries concerned MEFEZMRIA (36,984) (3,369)
Tax effect of share of profit of an associate FELEIE AT &EF] >
METE 7,146 8,164
Tax effect of non deductible expenses AONRAZ 2 RBEE (14,028) (37,683)
Tax effect of non taxable income FEBRBAZREE 11,516 1,051
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised FERMIBEEE
METE (25,541) (10,288)
Effect of tax exemptions granted to PRC ~ EFHEWB AT 2
subsidiaries MHEER 4,296 6,141
Over/(under) provision of previous year BEEECBRES
BHERE) 1,784 (1,017)
Tax effect for the year KEEZRGZE (51,811) (37,001)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED
AS HELD FOR SALE

(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued operations

RO MBrRRIE

1. BRIEEE 2 ZHRIFEA
HHEEERE A

ERLEEEZEBZXFE (BR)

BF
2024 2023
—EmE =
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
(Loss)/profit for the year from: TEE (5518) BF
Industrial parks and property development EXERYMEZRE
business (Note) 2% (WD) (7,662) 179,187
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWRBARZEBN 49,028 =
Profit for the year from BRIERE X2
discontinued operations KEERF 41,366 179,187
Note: T -

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s industrial parks
and property development business was classified as a discontinued
operation, and the assets and liabilities attributable to the industrial
parks and property development business were classified as assets
and liabilities held for sale, and were presented separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continved) & A MBI R EE &

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND 11. BARILEE 2 XBRIFEE
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HHEHEEERGE &
HELD FOR SALE (continued)
(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued operations ERIEREZERZARFE (518)
(Continued) B (&
The financial results of the Group’s industrial parks and AEFEEEREBEE T NFERZ
property development business, which is a discontinued =+ ZBA=+—HLEEFEH® ??é
operation included in the consolidated statement of profit or BakEtteElak BREgLEg
loss and other comprehensive income for the years ended 31 EEBENEXRRMEERER 2
December 2024 and 2023 are set out below: AT HWT -
Period from
1 January 2024
to the
disposal date 2023
—EMmE
—HB—H
EREHEME —EBI=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT 7T
Revenue ON 16,060 95,710
Cost of sales and services & K R 75 Al A (8,163) (60,021)
Gross profit EA 7,897 35,689
Other operating income H & WA 3,925 82,671
Selling and distribution costs HE RDHMAX (187) (412)
Administrative expenses THHX (6,746) (42,258)
Increase in fair value of investment properties REYX
NABEIEG N - 209,562
Impairment loss on property, ME-BERERHEZ
plant and equipment PEAEEEES - (31,158)
Finance costs B (12,005) (73,541)
(Loss)/profit before taxation FRRAT (B518) /&7 (7,116) 180,553
Income tax expense PSR (546) (1,366)
(Loss)/profit for the year KEE (B58) B (7,662) 179,187
(Loss)/profit for the year for discontinued ERIERE 2%
operations attributable to: REE (B8
BB .
Owners of Company KRBVEE A (6,771) 122,566
Non-controlling interests JEERER (891) 56,621
(7,662) 179,187
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GO M BImRRNEE @

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND 11. E RIS 7 EBRAFIEA
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HHEEERERE @
HELD FOR SALE (continued)
(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued operations ERIEREZERZARFE (518)
(Continued) B (&
Note: (Continued) MisE : (#8)
(Loss)/profit for the year from industrial parks and property REEXBERMEZRERE Z2AF (BB
development business has been arrived at after crediting/(charging): SBAMERA (GO -
Period from
1 January 2024
to the
disposal date 2023
ZTTmE
—B—H
EREHIMA ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
AT T BT T
Auditor's remuneration TZE0EM Bl = - -
Allowance for expected credit losses FEWERR 2 TEHAE B
on trade receivables B1EEE = (1,690)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME- -BERZEITE (1,635) (8,198)
Effective interest income from rental deposits RBEHEREZEBRE
FBUA 48 277
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEINE (4,933) (30,579)
Net exchange gain ERW#/?@E 310 948
Operating lease charges KEHEMRX (1) (36)
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses ERAAREZZEFEERAK (803) (5,457)
Staff costs BTImAE (1,129) (7,836)
Gross rental income from investment properties KEMEZBBEETHRA 10,988 65,271
Less: Direct operating expenses from investment B ERBEHRsRAZ
properties that generated rental income BREMEZEE
during the period KEFEE (178) (934)
Direct operating expenses from investment FEREEASRAZ
properties that did not generate rental KREWMEZEE
income during the period R (21) (130)
10,789 64,207
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RO MBrRRIE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND 11. B4
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS &
HELD FOR SALE (continued)

IR
I -
n‘aﬁ

ZEBRFFER]
k&R

1§ /E

=
BE

EE

BRIEEEZEH ZMBRRR

Financial position of discontinued operations

31 December 2023

“ET=F
+ZB=+—H
HK$'000
BT T
Assets classified as held for sale HEAHEEEE
Investment properties REME 1,406,887
Property, plant and equipment ME-BRENERE 285,010
Rental deposits HE#E 5,788
Right-of-use assets FTHEEE 850,234
Inventories FE 852
Trade and other receivables JE L AR 70 B ELAth FE U =R 1B 34,504
Cash and bank balances R RIBTHERR 189,534
2,772,809
Liabilities classified as held for sale HERHHEARE
Trade and other payables R EME (T RIE 34,340
Tax payables FEMIR & 1,293
Lease liabilities HEARE 1,047,323
Borrowings B 564,585
Deferred income IRIEUR 2 160,020
1,807,561
Period from
1 January 2024
to the
disposal date 2023
—EME
—B—H
EREHAM —BI=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT BT T
Cash flows from discontinued operations BARIEKE K
BE&R
Net cash inflow from operating activities KETEZIRS
TR RE 3,733 30,809
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities REZFHZRE (RH) /
MAFE (78,980) 179,418
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities REZHZBEERAS
Ot t) %28 28,317 (260,233)
Net cash outflow REMHFE (46,930) (50,008)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continved) &7 &M BRI &

12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 12. ZFEEF
2024 2023
=~ 111 =3 —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
BB T BT T
Continuing operations FBRE X
Profit for the year has been arrived at after REEBFESA S
crediting/(charging): (f0B) -
Auditors’ remuneration Z BB &
Audit service EHIRT (1,040) (1,900)
Non-audit service JEB AR = (1,209)
Amortisation of intangible assets | EEBH (747) (447)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #)#% B KR EHITE (36,884) (35,589)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE (2,408) (1,586)
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, HEME - BEK
plant and equipment REZWE
(F548) '$%8 1,383 (1,711)
Net exchange gain/(loss) PER U, (B518) $ 88 2,134 (2,458)
Operating lease charges KRERERS (555) (1,597)
Allowance for expected credit losses on trade  FEURER =k > FEHA
receivables EEHEREE (980) (536)
Cost of inventories recognised as expense BRABEZZEERAE (143,376) (247,472)
Total staff costs WE T
Directors’ remuneration EEME (3,693) (5,050)
Other staff cost HME T A (163,278) (175,056)
Retirement benefit scheme contributions for HthB8 T 2RIk
other staffs B EHEHER (10,944) (17,692)
Termination benefits BIEEHET (3) (17)
(177,918) (197,815)
Gross rental income "EMEZ
from investment properties MRS WA 19,087 9,617
Less: A
Direct operating expenses from investment FREMAEWAZ
properties that generated rental income KEYEZBE
during the year R (1,541) (292)
Direct operating expenses from investment FREMEWAZ
properties that did not generate rental KEMEZBE
income during the year KEREE (514) (1,582)
17,032 7,743
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

SO MBS HRRNGE @

13. EEREIM=

EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ emoluments a. EZEME
2024 2023
—FWE .
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fees ik BT T BT
Executive directors BMITES
Mr. He Xiangming GBS - =
Mr. Fu Weigiang RFERILE - S
Mr. You Guang Wu BEREE (RMZEWOE
(Resigned on 26 June 2024) NAZ+NBED) - -
Mr. Huang Zhihe BEEMEE (W22 Z=
(Resigned on 1 April 2023) B — B &) - -
Ms. Wang Xin T Rz (RZZ2EZ=
(Resigned on 1 April 2023) mA—HET) - S
Mr. Cheng Weidong BERLE (BRI Z=
(Resigned on 1 April 2023) A — B &fE) - S
Non-executive director EHITES =
Mr. Shi Xuguang PhEEE (RZEZ=
(Appointed on 28 June 2023) ANABZ+TNBEZMT - =
Independent non-executive BIEMITES
directors
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai ek B8] 128 o A 120 120
Mr. Deng Hong Ping BRERE (RZEZ=
(Resigned on 28 June 2023) AAZ+HNBET - 60
Mr. Lin Junxian MEBZ+T (RWZEZ=
(Appointed on 28 June 2023) ANAZ+HN\BEZT) 120 61
Mr. Peng Xinyu EZ I pae 120 120
360 361
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

186

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

RO MBrRRIE

13. EERETIME =

a. HEM=E &

2024 2023
—E_UE . ——
HK$’000 HK$’000
Salaries and other benefits & R H AR F AT T BT T
Executive directors BMITES
Mr. He Xiangming GBS 566 400
Mr. Fu Weigiang RFERILE 566 400
Mr. You Guang Wu BEREE (RMZEWOE
(Resigned on 26 June 2024) ~NAZ+AB#HD 286 400
Mr. Huang Zhihe BEEMEE (W22 Z=
(Resigned on 1 April 2023) B — B &) - 75
Ms. Wang Xin T Rz (RZZ2EZ=
(Resigned on 1 April 2023) mAE—H ﬁﬂf) - 75
Mr. Cheng Weidong BERLE (BRI Z=
(Resigned on 1 April 2023) A — B &HE) - 75
Non-executive director EHITES =
Mr. Shi Xuguang PhEEE (RZEZ=
(Appointed on 28 June 2023) ANABZ+TNBEZMT - =
Independent non-executive BIEMITES
directors -
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai ek B8] 128 o A - -
Mr. Deng Hong Ping BRERE (RZEZ=
(Resigned on 28 June 2023) AAZ+HNBET - =
Mr. Lin Junxian MEBZ+T (RWZEZ=
(Appointed on 28 June 2023) ANEZ+N\BEZE - =
Mr. Peng Xinyu EMALE - -
1,418 1,425
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

13. EERETIME =

a. Directors’ emoluments (Continued) a. EEM= @
2024 2023
—E_UE . ——
Performance-based or BRRWY HK$’000 HK$’000
discretionary bonus BB M2 TEAL BT T BT
Executive directors BMITES
Mr. He Xiangming GBS 715 715
Mr. Fu Weigiang RFERILE 715 715
Mr. You Guang Wu BEREE (RMZEWOE
(Resigned on 26 June 2024) NAZ+NBED) 358 715
Mr. Huang Zhihe BEEMEE (W22 Z=
(Resigned on 1 April 2023) B — B &) - 134
Ms. Wang Xin T Rz (RZZ2EZ=
(Resigned on 1 April 2023) mAE—H ﬁ#E) - 134
Mr. Cheng Weidong BERLE (BRI Z=
(Resigned on 1 April 2023) A —HE#HT) - 134
Non-executive director EHITES =
Mr. Shi Xuguang PhEEE (RZEZ=
(Appointed on 28 June 2023) ANABZ+TNBEZMT - =
Independent non-executive BIEMITES
directors -
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai ek B8] 128 o A — -
Mr. Deng Hong Ping BRERE (RZEZ=
(Resigned on 28 June 2023) AAZ+HNBET - =
Mr. Lin Junxian MEBZ+T (RWZEZ=
(Appointed on 28 June 2023) ANEZ+N\BEZE - =
Mr. Peng Xinyu EMALE - =
1,788 2,547
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

188

RO MBrRRIE

13. EERETIME =

Directors’ emoluments (Continued) EEME B
2024 2023
—E_UE . ——
Retirement benefits scheme HK$’000 HK$'000
contribution BAER GBI AT AT T
Executive directors BMITES
Mr. He Xiangming GBS 51 201
Mr. Fu Weigiang RFERLE 51 201
Mr. You Guang Wu BEREE (RMZEWOE
(Resigned on 26 June 2024) NAZ+NBED) 25 201
Mr. Huang Zhihe BEMEE (M2 Z=
(Resigned on 1 April 2023) mA—HEE) - 38
Ms. Wang Xin T Rz (RZZ2EZ=
(Resigned on 1 April 2023) mA—H ﬁﬂf) = 38
Mr. Cheng Weidong BRERLE(RIZZ=
(Resigned on 1 April 2023) A — B &HE) - 38
Non-executive director EHITES =
Mr. Shi Xuguang PHEEE (RZEZ=
(Appointed on 28 June 2023) ANAZ+TNBEZMT - =
Independent non-executive BIAEMITES
directors -
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai ek B8] 128 o 4= — -
Mr. Deng Hong Ping WRErRE (M2
(Resigned on 28 June 2023) AAZ+HNBET - =
Mr. Lin Junxian MEBZ+T (WZEZ=
(Appointed on 28 June 2023) ANEZ+N\BEZE - =
Mr. Peng Xinyu EMALE - =
127 717
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 47 &M BRI EE @)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

13. EERETIME =

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Directors’ emoluments disclosed above include their
services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Group. No Directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the year ended 2024 (2023: Nil). Save
as disclosed above, no other emoluments were paid or
payable to any director.

During the year ended 2024 and 2023, no emolument
had been paid by the Group to the Directors or the five
highest-paid individuals referred to in (d) below as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a
compensation for loss of office.

Directors’ material interests, transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No transaction, arrangement and contract of significance
to which the Group as a party and in which a director
of the Group had material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors

No loan, quasi-loan and other dealing in favour of
directors of the Group or body corporate controlled by
such directors, or entities connected with such directors,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

EEME (&

IERRBEZEEMEERERE
EERZEFRREHZEERS
BE_TZ_MELFE O UES
EREIAREREREAME (I
TERTZFE) oBRULREE
Oh o AR EE S I EE U AR EL A = o

BE_T_MER-FT_=FIt
FE AEBUTERAEFNTX
(AFf R A EREFIMA T
M EREEEMAREMAZR
EERZRSAFEARERUZ

BEfE -

EENRB -ZHASGHZEKR
e

AEBHEIUAEEEFERE
HEEEEERER MR ERK
FREAFBNAFEZEAR
P ZH RGN

UEERARBEAZER EER
REMRZH

BEIAEREZTARZAFES
ERZZERNZEEE2HEER
REaXm AMRERNEREIM
RENAFEZER EERKR
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HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED 8 3% ¥ B 4 B 23 v)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4§ 189



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) & & M BEREMEE @)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 13. EERETME &=
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
d. Five highest-paid individual d LZERSHFMAL
During the year, the three individuals whose emoluments RER REB=Z%#HLEZZ
were the highest in the Group for the year ended 31 “HE+_A=Z+—HLEEER
December 2024 includes two current directors and one SEFMALTAEESCEMBIERT
former director (who resigned during the year). Their EEM—%aTESE NENE
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in 1) > HMl & EMsE13aD i o bR T
Note 13a. Other than the directors, two employees are BEEZN ZRETIHEMARS
included in the highest-paid individuals. The five highest- FNA Lo AR E HH A LB
paid individual emoluments are as follows: =MF
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Salaries and other benefits e R HEMET] 6,362 5,304
Retirement benefits scheme BRBERETEIH R
contributions 283 741
6,645 6,045
The number of the highest paid employees who are not FANANFEUTHENIFEEN R
the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell SERIIE =PI

within the following bands is as follows:

2024 2023
—E_UE —_E-=
No. of No. of
employees employees
BTAH BT AH
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 711,000,001 T E
781,500,000 1 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 711,500,001 T E
7 1%2,000,0007T 1 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

14. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group contributes to a defined contribution retirement
scheme which is available to Hong Kong permanent employees
under the Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance. This
retirement scheme is administered by independent trustees
with their assets held separately from those of the Group.
Contributions under the staff retirement scheme for each year
are based on a percentage of the eligible employees’ salaries
and are charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as incurred. The
total contribution to the scheme amounted to approximately
HK$132,000 (2023: approximately HK$127,000) for the year
and has been charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. Forfeited employer
contributions in respect of former employees from the staff
retirement scheme before vesting period may be used by the
Group to reduce its ongoing employer contributions. There is
no forfeited contribution utilised during the year.

At the end of the reporting period, there is no balance of
forfeited contributions available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years.

Since the introduction of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”)
Scheme in Hong Kong, the Group has also participated
in an approved MPF Scheme with Bank Consortium Trust
Company Limited effective 1 December 2001 to provide an
MPF Scheme to all employees. The contributions borne by the
Group are calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages (monthly
contribution is limited at 5% of HK$30,000 for each eligible
employee) as calculated under the MPF legislation. During
the year under review, the total amount contributed by the
Group to the MPF Scheme and charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
amounted to approximately HK$169,000 (2023: HK$194,000).

Employees who have completed certain years of services with
the Group are entitled to LSP. The Group’s net obligations
in respect of LSP are the amounts of future benefits that
employees have earned in return for their services in the
current and prior years, calculated in accordance with the
applicable laws in Hong Kong.

GEBIRRMNEE @

14. EEE K52

FAEBERBEBERKTIRANATE
KAREREREH-RE TIRIKETE
REKRFE T Z2EEHBIULELTAE
B HAAEECEESHFR - BIR
KetBIZHADBEEEREEF &
Z2EREADLEAE TERGEEBENR
Hth2mW@mRANR SFEZEIZ
MR A A B 182,000 (ZE =
£ 1 #49818127,00070)  RER &SR
mREMEERERANRATEET
FEERAKTE Z BN GBI
B 4R R U 2 (3R > BT B A £ B A DA
BEFEHR -EEAFERN LEEEA
2R RR o

PR & BRI AS SR B - I SR AOR W RUAS
% PTALUR D SR Z FET (AR o

BEEBHTARFIMEAREE (TaEs))
M2 REBTR T —F+_F—
HESMTRBETLBRARZEA
BESE AFFEETRMERES
Bl o AEEZHATIRIERBES A%
HERME Z5%:18 (BSGERKET
2 5B HEER B #30,0007T25%) ©
RALCBEFE ~EEEARESE
HHEBERGEeBaREMEE KR
FMNBR 2 4% E1169,0005T (ZF
T = £97815194,0007T) ©

REEBRRBRENENZREERE
ESRMRSB T A5ENRBRSGE
REFEEENEENRETFERNBE
FEBBRERERFHRINZAREN &=
BILREEBBEREAGHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

14.

15.

16.

192

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME (continuea)

Effective from 1 May 2025, an employer can no longer use
any of the accrued benefits derived from its mandatory
contributions to MPF scheme to reduce the LSP.

The employees employed in the PRC subsidiaries are members
of the state-managed retirement benefits schemes operated
by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement
benefits schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefits schemes is to
make the required contributions under the schemes.

DIVIDENDS

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 26 June
2024, payment of a special dividend of 0.42 HK cent per share,
totalling approximately HK$7,192,000, was approved and
subsequently paid to shareholders of the Company.

No interim dividend was paid (2023: Nil). The Directors resolved
to recommend the payment of a final dividend of 0.58 HK cent
per share, totalling approximately HK$9,932,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

From continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is
based on the profit attributable to the owners of the Company
of approximately HK$60,717,000 (2023: profit of approximately
HK$26,930,000) and on the number of 1,712,329,142 ordinary
shares (2023: 1,712,329,142 ordinary shares) in issue during
the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

16. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (Continued)

From continuing operations

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the

GEBIRRMNEE @

16. ERREBH (F18) =

REFBECEZER

KRBEBANBGLZERERREE
BA, (B8 258 ER I

following data: %5
2024 2023
=~ 111 =3 g2 =
HK$’000 HK$’000
BB T BT
Profit for the year attributable FERNESB
to owners of the Company KRBVEB A 60,717 26,930
Less: A
Profit for the year from discontinued FREKRLEZSE
operations attributable e kil
to owners of the Company KNBIER A 42,257 122,566
Earnings/(loss) for the purpose of AR BRHERSE
basic and diluted loss per share EB2ERE
from continuing operations AR ERF]
(B518) 18,460 (95,636)
Number of shares BinEE
2024 2023
=S 111 =3 g =
Shares 000 Shares '000
T2 T2
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose of AR FEGRER
basic earnings/(loss) per share BA, (B8 2
ZEkEE 1,712,329 1,712,329

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above
for both the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there was
no dilutive earnings/(loss) per share as the exercise of the
convertible notes would have an anti-dilutive effect on the basic
earnings/(loss) per share.

FRMERZD SR EXRFESRESR
BH, (B518) Prefit EHEE o

BE_Z_NFRZZE_=F+"A8
=+t—HLEEFE wERESKREERF
(B8  ARERTEIRRERR
HERELREF (BB EEREE

= 45
RE°
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

16. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (Continued)

From discontinued operations

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the discontinued
operations is HK2.47 cents (2023: profit per share HK7.16
cents) per share, based on the profit for the year from
discontinued operations of HK$42,257,000 (2023: profit of
HK$122,566,000) and the denominators details above for both
basic and diluted earnings per share.

SO MBS HRRNGE @

. BREN, (BB) @

REBRILEEER

ERIEKSEBSRELR #ERF
AERABE2 AT (CE =5 . 8K
BFBET 1610 » HIREFRER L
IS IR B EEL2 257,000 (ZF
=% BFB1122,566,0007T) K&
SREARBERTMEMFLZ D
BstHEe

2024 2023
—EBmEF “B=HF
HK cents HK cents
A =l
Basic earnings/(loss) per share from continuing (@& &E 2 27558
operations BEARRBRHN (518) 1.08 (5.59)
Basic earnings per share from discontinued B IERE 2 7
operations BRERRT 2.47 7.16
Total basic earnings per share attributable to ~ AATEHIFAE A
the owners of the Company RS AR
BEREF] 3.55 1.57
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

A MBIRRINEE &

17. IREYE

In the PRC  In Hong Kong
held under held under
medium-term medium-term
leases leases Total
R E REBU
PHAENEE HHBESES FEEE]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT ki BETR
FAIR VALUE OF INVESTMENT BREMEZARE
PROPERTIES
As at 1 January 2023 A_E_=-F—F—H 1,047,766 18,500 1,066,266
Transfer from property, plant and BYE -BER
equipment (Note 18) S EER (EE18) 502,438 = 502,438
Increase/(decrease) in fair value REBERBRZANE
recognised in profit or loss @,/ Ga) 209,562 (350) 209,212
Transfer to assets classified as EBERESEIHHE
held for sale (Note 11) BE (faE11) (1,406,887) - (1,406,887)
Exchange differences PE R AERE (32,857) - (32,857)
As at 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=F
1 January 2024 +ZB=+—Hk
—EZNE—B—H 320,022 18,150 338,172
Exchange differences fER AL (7,256) - (7,256)
As at 31 December 2024 NZEZWE
+=B=+—H 312,766 18,150 330,916

All of the Group’s property interests held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation purposes are measured using the fair
value model and are classified and accounted for as investment
properties.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group added
an investment property through transferred from property, plant
and equipment amounting to approximately HK$502,438,000.

FEBRMARFAEURNEZHIFESR
HRERRZYERDZIURAAEBRI
SR WNERAKRSREDYE-

HE _Z_=—F+_B=+—HIL®=E
B EE@4BH502,438,000 0 2”&
MEECHRVE BERREHA -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

17.

196

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The Group leases out hotel property located in PRC under
operating leases with rentals receivable monthly during the
year. The leases run for an initial period of 15 years.

Investment properties were revalued at their open market value
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 by Associated Surveyors &
Auctioneers Ltd.

Associated Surveyors & Auctioneers Ltd is a member of
the Institute of Valuers of Hong Kong, and has appropriate
qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of similar
properties in the relevant locations. The valuation, which
conforms to International Valuation Standards, was arrived at
by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar
properties.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used in
the prior year. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

The Group’s investment properties were classified under level 3
of the fair value hierarchy. There were no transfers into or out of
Level 3 during the year.

The carrying amount of investment properties amounting to
HK$330,916,000 (2023: HK$296,357,000) have been pledged
to secure general banking facilities and mortgage loan granted
to the Group.

HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B2 A B2 5]
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SO MBS HRRNGE @

17. REME »)

AEERAFRECEHEHHEFTE
REZBEYE HEE%BWE -8
HAR+EE-

REMER_Z_NER_T-=
+TZRA=t—HAEBBGERRENT
BEEYR

M EEREETARARD RS EEM
EMEEEE UTHEGBEERNEL
HRERt e GERUNEZ LR -5
AEENERBERLGEERN R2ER
LERZHERERE

tFEEERZAEENANEERNREE
H-EEENENARER BRIER
MENERSRRERS

FEBZREVERDERAANES
MBS =R - N ERILEEFEALE
HE=H-

KREYE 2 BREE A% 1330,916,000
T (CE =4 A18296,357,0007T)
EEEMEREFAER 2 —KRIET

BB R IR IR o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of the investment properties are determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised as Level 3 based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

A MBIRRINEE &

17. REME »)

TERARTEUABNERENEZAR
BEHN FRZEERERERAZAA
B URRBEAABHEUEREED
BEAAESETEAABSTRER
B=MKo

Fair value Valuation Relationship of unobservable
Hierarchy Techniques Significant unobservable inputs  inputs to fair value
RABEER EAR TERNBR 2 HE BUBZZUBRANABHOME
Commercial unit Level 3 Direct comparison method Estimated market unit sale price The increase/decrease in the market
located in Hong Kong per square feet unit sale price would result in an
increase/decrease in the fair value of
the property
IR EBZEEEM F=R EREBE s mBEUETARER hiBBIHEERIEN, A TSR
MEAREEN/HD
Commercial unit Level 3 Direct comparison method Estimated market unit sales price per The increase/decrease in the market

located in PRC

(e A =E =N F=M ERLEBA

Hotel property in PRC Level 3 Direct comparison method

RAPBEZEENE F=M BERLBA

square metre unit sale price would result in an
increase/decrease in the fair value of
the property

hBEIHEERIEN, A TER
MEQAEEM/ AL

B EEUSTHKRER

The increase/decrease in the market
unit sale price would result in an
increase/decrease in the fair value of
the property

MIBBHEBRIEN,/HL T ER
EYNN RN IV

Estimated market unit sale price
per square metre

EEHBEMGTHRER

HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B £ B2 5]
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4F

197



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

198

A MBIRRINEE &

18. M F B Kzt

2024 - 111 =3
Furniture,
Land and equipment
Hotel buildings and
property inHKand  Construction leasehold Plant and Motor
in the PRC the PRC in progress  improvements machinery vehicles Total
REER fRfih
REEFEZ HEREZ RiER HER
BENE THRIET EEIR BFEE HaE HE &
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BT AT BT BETT BT
CosT KA
At 1 January 2024 RIZZME
—-A-H - 327,615 149,224 116,498 35,565 12,134 641,036
Additions RE - 4,631 82,695 35,807 6,758 2,494 132,385
Transfers & - 162,539 (164,353) 1,814 - - -
Disposals and write off ~ HERHEE - (1,316) - (1,372) (1,636) (8,078) (12,402)
Exchange difference ERER - (17,559) (4,004) (3,479) (1,611) (406) (27,059)
At 31 December 2024 HZZEZME
+-B=+-H - 475,910 63,562 149,268 39,076 6,144 733,960
DEPRECIATION iy
At 1 January 2024 RZBZME
—A—H - 48,127 - 51,304 10,957 6,144 116,532
Provided for the year FERE - 15,434 - 15,025 4,600 1,825 36,884
Eliminated on disposals 7 & R IR E
and write off s - (1,298) - (1,287) (1,551) (6,523) (10,659)
Exchange difference ERER - (1,916) - (1,935) (825) (250) (4,926)
At 31 December 2024  RIZZTZME
+ZB=+-H - 60,347 - 63,107 13,181 1,196 137,831
CARRYING VALUES IRERE
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZMAE
+-B=1+-8 - 415,563 63,562 86,161 25,895 4,948 596,129
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ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continved) & A MBI R EE &

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ME -BERZHE @
(Continueqd)
2023 —_E"=
Furniture,
Land and equipment
Hotel buildings and
property in HK and Construction leasehold Plant and Motor
in the PRC the PRC in progress  improvements machinery vehicles Total
REER Hifh
RPEREEZ HEREZ FER BRR
BENE THRET TEIR BFEE e RE FekE]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BT AT BT
CosT B
At 1 January 2023 RIEZ=F
—B—H 100,000 488,276 548,149 94,930 63,896 10,956 1,306,207
Additions RE = - 193,250 39,887 - 1,791 234,928
Addition upon acquisition I EE—FE i B
of a subsidiary AEBZAE
(Note 37) (Htz£37) - - - 21 - - 21
Transfers/Reclassification &%/ E# 94 = 5,841 (7,955) 1,808 306 = =
Transfer to investment ~ BEZRENE
property (Note 17) (Hr2£17) (88,202) - (402,438) (9,564) (16,367) - (516,571)
Disposals and write off ~ HE Kk - (252) - (1,622) (2,854) (103) (4,831)
Impairment loss HEBX - (31,158) = = = = (31,158)
Deficit on revaluation BRE (11,880) - - - - = (11,880)
Transfer to assets BEEEETR]
classified as held for HEZE
sale - (124,006 (168,141) (6,226) (7,657) 211) (306,241)
Exchange difference ERER 82 (11,086) (13,641) (2,736) (1,759) (299) (29,439)
At31 December 2023 RZZZ=%F
+-B=1+-8 - 327,615 149,224 116,498 35,565 12,134 641,036
DEPRECIATION ik
At 1 January 2023 S
—B—H = 47,646 - 48,044 17,194 4,866 117,750
Provided for the year FEEE 3,659 17,190 - 15,239 6,021 1,678 43,787
Eliminated on disposals 1 & Kt iR K
and write off s - (9) - (896) (2,084) (69) (3,058)
Written back on REMEHE
revaluation (3,659) - - - - - (3,659)
Transfer to investment ~ EEZRENE
property (Note 17) (GE) - - - (5,549) (8,590) = (14,133)
Transfer to assets BEEEETH
classified as held for HEZE
sale - (15,667) - (4,272) (1,091) (201) (21,231)
Exchange difference ERER - (1,013) - (1,268) (519) (130) (2,924)

At 31 December 2023 ~ WZZEZ=%
+ZA=+-AH = 48,127 = 51,304 10,957 6,144 116,532

CARRYING VALUES  ERE®{E
At 31 December 2023 ~ R_E_=#
+-B=+-H - 279,488 149,224 65,194 24,608 5,990 524,504
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

19.

200

SO MBS HRRNGE @

GOODWILL 19. BHE
HK$’000
BT

COST (%
At 1 January 2023 W_E2E-_=F—F—H 127,284
Addition (Note (a)) g (fEE(a) 2,085
Exchange difference ERE%R (3,462)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RIE®E_=F+"A=+—HkK

—E-@mWE—B—H 125,907
Exchange difference PE 2 = %A (4,152)
At 31 December 2024 RIZEZMF+ZHA=+—H 121,755
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT 2itiRE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, RZEZ=%F—H—HA-

1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 2+ "“A=+—H~

o UE—B—HK

“ENE+"A=+—H -
CARRYING VALUES IREFEE
At 31 December 2024 ATEME+"_HA=+—H 121,755
At 31 December 2023 W E_=ZF+_"F=+—H 125,907
Note: M3

(a) In June 2023, the Group’s non-wholly owned subsidiary,
Guangdong Sinsing Technology Ltd (“Sinsing Technology”)
acquired a 51% equity interest in Guangdong XRIS Technology
Co., Ltd. (“XRIS”) at consideration of approximately
RMB8,437,000. By considering the non-controlling interests at
fair value of XRIS of approximately RMB6,251,000 and the total
identifiable net assets at fair value of XRIS of approximately
RMB12,757,000, the goodwill arising on the acquisition of
51% equity interest in XRIS Technology was approximately
RMB1,931,000 (equivalent to HK$2,085,000).

HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B2 A B2 5]
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@ RIZEZ=Z=FXA ' xRBEZIkZE
EERMBATERSEMNEAIR
NE (THEEREF) LREHNARE
8,437, 000t NIEEBMHEZH
BERAR (MHmE X)) 251%81K
B-EERNBERZIFERER
DNAREANRES,251,0007T M ik 5
ZRAMBEZOHNFEEMLEA
R#12,757,00070 ° AW EH IHE &
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

19. GOODWILL (continued)

For the impairment testing, goodwill acquired in business
combinations was allocated to individual business segments
that management considers representing the Group’s separate
cash-generating units (the “CGUs”), which are the big data
business and civil explosives business.

The recoverable amount of the civil explosives business
CGU was based on its value in use and was determined
with the assistance of Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, an
independent firm of professional valuer. The calculation uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a five-year period, and at a pre-tax
discount rate of approximately 16% (2023: pre-tax discount
rate of approximately 17%). Cash flows after the five-year
period were extrapolated using 2% (2023: 2%) growth rate in
considering the economic condition of the market. The growth
rate used to extrapolate cash flow projections beyond the five
year period do not exceed the long-term average growth rate
for the industry.

The recoverable amount of the big data business CGU was
based on its value in use and was determined with the
assistance of Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, an independent
firm of professional valuer. The calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period, and at a pre-tax
discount rate of approximately 25% (2023: pre-tax discount
rate approximately 23%). Cash flows after the five-year period
were extrapolated using 2% (2023: 2.2%) growth rate in
considering the economic condition of the market. The growth
rate used to extrapolate cash flow projections beyond the five
year period do not exceed the long-term average growth rate
for the industry.

Other key assumptions for the value in use calculations relate
to the estimation of cash inflows which include budgeted sales
and gross margin. Such estimation is based on the industry
information and management’s expectation of the market
development including the fluctuation in the current economic
environment.

Management determines that there is no impairment of the
goodwill at the end of the year since the value in use of the big
data business CGU and the civil explosives business CGU are
both higher than their carrying amounts.

GO M BImRRNEE @

19. B2 »)

REARMS  BBREHSHWERN
HEENEEEEERSAREEH
BENRESELEM BIKBBES
RERBIBIFRER) NEEEZ DS -

EBUIEERGLEMRETEERAT
BTN REBFREF RESELES
IR PI R [El & &8 2 511 TH IRt E (B
BZsEMBE ZAEERANES
MERIERECEEHZEERSF
BN BREEUNI6% (CTE=F
MATHT IR EFA17%) B9IR AT 47 IR X 5t
Ho AFHAMUBNIRESRILE2% (T
T=F2%) BREFEE ILERKT)
BEBQER R RER - AFHHUE
NREREBVEEFMERZERRTE
BRITENRATHERR

AR IEXGHEMREBETGEERAE
WM T  REBEHZHEEELENUN
AIREEERZ &G DIREEREBEZ
AEMEE -ZAEERANRERER
ARREBELCESHIZRELF RN
BIRBLUN25% (T =F AT
RERN23%) WMATTRRAE L F
HUBHNRER 2% (C2EZ=F
2.2%) BREIEE I RERTHRFL
BRIRAIERRR - AFRANENRSE
MERBFERZERRTIGBAT
EFNRAFHEREK

Eﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ’??r%@ﬁﬁfﬁféﬁﬁig{?ﬁ%ﬁb
REFEHERBERENNREEMA
G A ERTEEAKRE EE
HHSERNPE GREEMNKEIRIE
TBYKE

EEERD HRABBEEBNREE
FEURRBEEREFNERESEE
BlAzERABESNEKREE HIt-
BETEERTFERERSK
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO MBS HRRNGE @

20. B EE

Purchased
Software Trademark Total
SMEBER 1 g Haze
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BT T
COST D
As at 1 January 2023 R_E-_=—F—H—H - - =
Addition upon acquisition of a subsidiary WEE—FEH B AT % 2
(Note 37) 180 (M5E37) 2,005 2,459 4,464
Exchange difference ERELE 37 46 83
As at 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=HF
1 January 2024 +ZA=+—HkK
2 N{E—A—H 2,042 2,505 4,547
Exchange difference bR =5 (67) (83) (150)
As at 31 December 2024 ATE_ME
+Z-B=+—H 1,975 2,422 4,397
AMORTISATION 85
At 1 January 2023 RN_E - =F—HA—H - = =
Amortisation provided during the year ~ FER# B E 126 321 447
Exchange difference ERERE (1) (2 (3)
As at 31 December 2023 and W_E_=F
1 January 2024 +ZA=+—H~&
2 NF—B—H 125 319 444
Amortisation provided during the year ~ FERE#IHEE 212 535 747
Exchange difference ERELE (8) (22) (30)
As at 31 December 2024 RIZTNE
+Z-HB=+—H 329 832 1,161
Net carrying amount REEE
As at 31 December 2024 RIZTNE
+Z-HB=+—H 1,646 1,590 3,236
As at 31 December 2023 N_E_=4F
+Z-HB=+—H 1,917 2,186 4,103

All intangible assets have finite useful lives and are amortised
on a straight-line basis based on their estimated useful lives as

follows:
Trademark 5 years
Purchased software 10 years

202 HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B2 A B2 5]
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4

FREBTEENREEREREH 1R
LU fast Al e AU ER A D #

[k 5%
ShEEER A 104



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

21. RBEARZ D

A MBIRRINEE &

The movements in the Group’s interests in associates (including REBRAFEMGEBREARD Z
goodwill), during the year are analysed as follows: (BEBE) E8omuT !

2024 2023

—E-mE —=-=

HK$’000 HK$’000

BETT BT T

At 1 January K—HA—H ] 519,077 517,219

Additions in investment in an associate BMHBEARNEE 3,723 -

Share of post-acquisition profits G E R R T 40,335 51,400

Distribution from post-acquisition profit hiEEZ R EDE - (35,299)

Share of exchange difference EAEER EE (17,890) (14,243)

At 31 December n+ZA=+—H 545,245 519,077
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

A MBIRRINEE &

1. REZE AT 2R @

REBERARETEEBEATFBUT -

Principal Class of Proportion of
Form of Place of place of shares ownership interest held Proportion of voting rights Principal
Entity Name the entity incorporation operation held by the Group held by the Group activities
&R
PSR 1 SEBEFE
BB BRES st 2k TEEEMY FRROER 4wt BREELLH) TEEH
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEME CZT°=F ZEINE C—TI=F
Nanhai Changhai Incorporated ~ The PRC The PRC Paid up capital 31.875% 31.875% 31.875% 31.875% Generation and sale
Power Company of electricity and
Limited* heated steam
BERBEE AL FEAR FEAR BRERAE PEMEBREAR
BRAT HiE HANE e
Guangdong Incorporated ~ The PRC The PRC Paid up capital 35% N/A 35% N/A " Transportation for
Hongyuanda hazardous goods
Logistics Company
Limited* (Note (a))
BERLEEMAR B Ava FEAR FEAR BRERE EREMER
BRAH #HE HANE
(GEE)
Note: Bz

(a) Guangdong Hongyuanda Logistics Company Limited* was
established on 15 August 2024 with a registered capital of
RMB10,000,000. The Group’s interest in this associate is
amounted to approximately HK3,723,000 at 31 December 2024.

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
significant associate is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in the associate’s
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

(@ EBRLEZFEYRBERABMILNC
TZMENBTREA EFWMELRABA
R #10,000,000Jc B E_Z M
+ZA=+—H AEBHZHEQ
TP A 4978 H53,723,0007T ©

ERT-EBZEBHEQARNZUBE
FHREZH M T - U THBERER
IINME AR ZHHFRER ISR B
REBMBREERRS -

Nanhai Changhai Power Company Limited* EEREBRERRLE

2024 2023
—E_MmEF —EB_=

HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Current assets MBNE E 1,296,760 1,074,233
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,782,895 1,935,791
Current liabilities mEEE (624,978) (588,491)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (755,784) (793,046)
Net assets BESFE 1,698,893 1,628,487

*

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

21.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq)

Nanhai Changhai Power Company Limited* (Continued)

GO M BImRRNEE @

1. REE AT 2R &

EERBEERERAR (@)

2024 2023
ZEIME —E=

HK$’000 HK$’000

BETT BT T

Revenue WA 2,130,328 2,021,400
Profit for the year KEERF 135,875 161,797
Exchange difference EREER (56,125) (43,572)
Total comprehensive income for the year FE 2 E U858 79,750 118,225

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to

the carrying amount of the interest in an associate recognised

in the consolidated financial statements:

REEMBRERTPEIBMEATD ZE
mZ IREESE FAM B E RS AR

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T
Net assets of the associate BMERBZEE PR 1,698,893 1,628,487
Proportion of the Group’s ownership K%lﬁAﬁltﬁ/t
interest in Nanhai Changhai Power ZEHRA
Company Limited® %ﬁﬁ%’f& FETE
BoX 31.875% 31.875%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest rEEREERSE
in Nanhai Changhai Power Company LERRRE
Limited” e 2 IRE A 541,522 519,077

* For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) & & M BEREMEE @)

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22 BAREHABHEZEME
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS =3
2024 2023
—E_MmE it
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Analysed as: bai =T
Non-current JET B
Unlisted equity investment (Note a) JFEEMRMEE (Mizta) 3,662 3,787
Movement of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BARBEHFABRZEHEEZED)
is analysed as follows: W
2024 2023
—EmE B =
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
At 1 January BR—B—H 3,787 91,875
Decrease in fair value of financial assets FAERZEMEE
at fair value through profit or loss ZRRERD - (86,130)
Exchange difference bE R =R (125) (1,958)
At 31 December W+B=+—H 3,662 3,787
Notes: MIEE
The fair value of the financial assets was approximately HK$3,662,000 ETHMEEZ AN EHBISEGEMRRE
(2023: HK$3,787,000) as valued by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, an FH A R A BB EL A 13,662,000t (ZF
independent firm of professional valuer. = B1.3,787,0007T) °
(a)  The unlisted equity investment represents 7.16% equity interest (@ HFELTRMKREEERHSRIZER
in Guangdong United Civil Explosives Co., Ltd.* (BEE& RAB) (—REFEMT WERIEH
IBAPR/AT), a company established in PRC and engaged in EACFEREIRRNAT) 7.16%
agent services for the sale of emulsion explosives and industrial HY RS 2 4 2 o
detonating cords.
Detalils of the fair value measurement of the financial assets for BHE_Z-_MOF+"HA=+—HILHF
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 5. EtMEEZ ANBEHEZFHIBHT

PEMIEES

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continved) &7 &M BRI &

23. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 23. FHEEERHEAR
LIABILITIES
Right-of-use assets EREEE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
At 1 January w—B—H 65,855 906,186
Additions i - 67,218
Depreciation provided during the year FRNFIRITE (2,408) (32,165)
Early termination AR LE (397) -
Transfer to assets classified as held BESFEOHEE
for sale (Note 11) BE (WsE11) - (850,234)
Exchange difference fER ZE%R (2,119) (25,150)
At 31 December R+_-_B=+—H 60,931 65,855
The right-of-use assets represent the Group's rights to CTREEEEAEEREBELERES
use underlying leased premises under operating lease BRMEERNECERAEBEEMEZ
arrangements over the lease terms, which are stated at cost R EUABRRSHITE R R RIE
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment B OImEANEEaEENITEFU
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease FEE) F8R o
liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) & & M BEREMEE @)

23.

208

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 23. FHEEERHEASE @
LIABILITIES (continued)
Lease liabilities HeEasE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Maturity analysis EHR 3 A
— Contractual undiscounted cash flows: —EaHNRMEIRITE
TME
Within one year R—FR 1,021 823
Over one year but less than two years B —F B0 mE 973 1,171
Over two years but less than BEmEBLR=F
three years 1,005 1,007
Over three year but less than five years BiB=FBI0RESF 1,005 2,079
Over five years BT 671 693
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at the  RERZ KRR E
end of the year B E4REE 4,675 5,773
Less: total future interest expenses B RRFE R ARER (494) (750)
4,181 5,023
Analysed as: DER
Current ED 837 823
Non-current JERE 3,344 4,200
4,181 5,023
The Group recognised rental expenses from short-term RER AEBREBEHAEE 2 HEH
leases of approximately HK$556,000 (2023: approximately S HBMES56,000 T (CEZ=F 1 4
HK$1,633,000) during the year. 75 151,633,0007T) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

23. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE

LIABILITIES (continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of

financial position

SO MBS HRRNGE @

23. FREEEREEERE &=

HERE (&

REEHBRREAEZZ 2

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

AT T BT T

At 1 January n—A—H 5,023 1,062,634

Additions during the year FRHIG - 4,815

Interest charged to profit or loss FFAB@mBF S 233 51,048

Payment during the year KEBN (812) (36,800)

Early termination IRATAR 1L (112) =
Transfer to liabilities classified as BRESFAIIHEE

held for sale (Note 11) & (MaE11) - (1,047,323)

Exchange difference bE R =R (151) (29,351)

At 31 December W+-B=+—H 4,181 5,023

Amounts recognised in consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income

e Rm REMEH K a8

ZH

2024 2023
—ETME —E=

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT 7T

Interest on lease liabilities HEsEZHE 233 51,048

Depreciation e 2,408 32,165
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

23. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE

LIABILITIES (continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of

cash flows

SO MBS HRRNGE @

23. FRAEEENREERE @

HERE (&

REEHEERERERZEEH

2024 2023
—EMmE - ——
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Total cash outflow for leases HEZRE MR 1,368 36,800
24. INVENTORIES 24, 78
2024 2023
—Eo@mE —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETIT BT
Raw materials [FEtiE
Chemicals for manufacturing emulsion HAEVFRERBIRR
explosives and industrial detonating TERIEZEREN
cord 2,191 2,208
Fuels YR = 65
Finished goods X &
Emulsion explosives and industrial IEVEEREIRER
detonating cords 1,915 585
Food, beverages and hotel supplies oh ~ B A B
HIEm 53 55
Health smart devices RS XA 5 52
Medical supplies BERS 1,589 1,675
Pharmaceuticals B 1,584 1,699
7,337 6,339

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included

in cost of sales amounted to approximately HK$143,376,000

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately

HK$252,929,000).

210
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

25. REPOSSESSED ASSETS

The Group obtained control of repossessed assets by taking
possession of collaterals. They represent properties in
respect of which the Group has acquired access or control
(e.g. through court proceedings or voluntary actions by the
properties concerned) for release in full or in part of the
obligations of borrowers.

Accounting policies of repossessed assets

Upon derecognition of related finance lease receivables,
foreclosed assets are recognised as “Repossessed assets” on
the consolidated statement of financial position. Repossessed
assets are initially measured at the fair value and subsequently
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. Impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Gain or loss on disposal of repossessed assets is recognised in
profit or loss within “Other operating income”.

GEBIRRMNEE @

25, IREEE

AEEEBREEFRERREREE
iR  ZFEERAEEME M
DERRERASE (BIINEB A bR
NEMYWENBRTE) MESERE
SEEH BV o

WEEEGSBER

TE 4 1F B 5018 BA Rd 5 7H & P8 W R
WIEBEERGRGHM BN RTESES
MRIEE) - WEBEENBULAE
EBEtE-HMEZEHELENBEREHET
AREEFSEEZNE INMEEEE
TRERS - REERERD P HES -

HEWLNEENBR@ERT PRI THM
EURAIPRESS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

26. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

212

A MBIRRINEE &

26. REHE R

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
AT T BT 5T

Analysed as: DEA
Current V] 1,254,955 1,424,881
Non-current JERE 3,301,054 3,191,960
4,556,009 4,616,841

Minimum lease

Present value of

payments lease payments
RIEAEMER REHEMRZRE
2024 2023 2024 2023
“EME —BI=H ZZME ZZT=F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT BETT BT
Finance lease receivables comprise: ~ REREEWMREIE
Within one year R—ER 1,543,805 1,703,104 1,290,397 1,426,869
Over one year but less than BE—FERBBME
two years 1,440,585 1,433,020 1,278,328 1,261,409
Over two years but less than HBEWMFEFBBRF
five years 2,213,692 2,038,844 2,040,167 1,873,626
Over five years BRRF 10,124 174,681 9,883 163,090
5,208,206 5,349,649 4,618,775 4,724,994
Less: unearned finance income B RBRER B UA (589,431) (624,655) N/A N/A
Present value of minimum lease RS ERECRZRE
payment receivables 4,618,775 4,724,994 4,618,775 4,724,994
Less: allowance for expected B TEEEEEREE
credit losses (62,766) (108,153) (62,766) (108,153)
4,556,009 4,616,841 4,556,009 4,616,841
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

26. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for

RO MBrRRIE @

26. FIEH SR =

BHEINBEHERERHNR S AR

finance lease receivables is as follow: EREXREHHUT
Life time ECL Life time ECL
(Not credit-impaired) (Credit-impaired) Total
RERBERBL KIBBEREBX
(REEEARE (ERRB) fazt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BB BT
As at 1 January 2023 RIE2Z=F—F—H 37,008 23,520 60,528
Transfer to credit-impaired EEEHME (593) 593 =
Charged for the year REFHE 40,699 8,918 49,617
Exchange difference ERER (1,289) (709) (1,992)
As at 31 December 2023 and g gi_iﬁ* B=+—-Bk
1 January 2024 “ETME-A—H 75,831 32,322 108,153
Transfer to credit-impaired BEEEHAE (37,879) 37,873 =
Charged for the year FEFR 7,372 8,886 16,258
Written-off i - (58,895) (58,895)
Exchange difference ERELR (1,917) (833) (2,750)
As at 31 December 2024 RIE-WE+"F=+—H 43,413 19,353 62,766

All leases are denominated in RMB. The term of finance leases
ranged from less than 1 year to 7 years (2023: 1 to 7 years).
The effective interest rates of the finance leases ranged from
4.5% to 8.35% per annum (2023: 4.90% to 12.75% per
annum).

FREEERUARKESE-SJIME
HEZAMRNFIR-—FELE (&
= —EtH) Oﬁﬁiﬁﬂ‘ézg

BREFENF45%FE8.35% (T2 =

F D ERFRLIO%E2.75%) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

26.

214

FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

There was no unguaranteed residual value in connection with
finance lease arrangements or contingent lease arrangements
that needed to be recorded as at the end of the reporting
period.

The finance lease receivables are secured by the leased assets,
mainly plant and machinery. The Group is not permitted to
sell or repledge the collaterals of the finance lease receivables
without consent from the lessee in the absence of default by
the lessee.

As at 31 December 2024, the pledged finance lease
receivables amounted to approximately HK$3,788,252,000
(2023: approximately HK$3,580,931,000).

Security deposits received from customers represent finance
lease deposits received from customers, which will be
repayable at the end of the lease period of the respective
finance leases. As at 31 December 2024, deposits of
HK$206,750,000 (2023: approximately HK$204,966,000)
have been received by the Group, in which deposits of
HK$20,776,000 (2023: approximately HK$12,230,000) were
classified as current liabilities and the balances were classified
as non-current liabilities, based on the final lease installment
due date stipulated in the finance lease agreements. All
deposits are non-interest bearing.

Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 5.

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The Group allows an average credit period of
90 days to its customers.

HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B2 A B2 5]
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. AEREEWE @

REBESHR TESFAMEESERZHK
HABE LB Z RIEFRFEBRBEAK.

MEHAERRRUBEEEFER =
BB R e o ERE AL EELN
ERT REEABARE > AEBFE
HENFRENBREEER BN ZE
e

RIEZMFE+ZB=+—H B
BEHEEREW A E3,788,252,000
T (T2 =4 | #9781%3,580,931,000
JT) ©

BEREFRERENHIEEVRELAME
HERS ERESREEERPER
HEE R _ET_NE+-_A=+—
H> A& BB UWiZE B 1£206,750,0007T
(ZE =4 B1204,966,0007T) °
Hah$ a4 820,776,000t 2
e (T2 =% A112,230,0007T)
TLEREREEERETFIIAZE
REBEDHNRIBESBEATREE
B EMRBENBAFERIER ZE
BE&AH IR

BE_Z_HNFE+-A=+t—HKZ
T _—F+ B =+—HLEKREFT
(EEIEE: AN PE R

R E R EERRKRNMIN REEA
BRZRZHREEUGEET K&
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The following is an aging analysis of the Group’s trade
receivables after deducting the impairment loss allowance
presented based on invoice dates at the end of the reporting
period:

A MBI R @)

27. FEUWRARTR B E th FE U "R I8

AEERRSPRBBEEZAHRZS
ZREWRRENBREEGERERE
BREC ATIDE ¢

2024 2023
—E-NE ==

HK$’000 HK$’'000

BT T BT 7T

0-60 days 0&60H 63,925 58,680

61-90 days 61ZE90H 1,968 4,759

91-120 days 91&120H 502 1,611

Over 120 days #BiB120H 18,753 21,946

Trade receivables FE U BR TR 85,148 86,996
Other receivables, deposits HMEWRIE #E Kk

and prepayments TR 54,488 64,903

139,636 151,899

Note: It mainly includes interest receivables from financial leasing
business of HK$28,245,000 (2023: interest receivables from
financial leasing business of HK$43,403,000).

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances except interest receivable
from financial leasing customers.

The Group’s largest trade receivables balance amounted to
HK$24,184,000 (2023: HK$30,522,000) at the end of the year.
Moreover, the Group’s five largest trade receivables balances
amounted to HK$50,373,000 (2023: HK$49,319,000) in total at
the end of the year.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023 are set out in Note 5.

et : LEFEOEFREREFEELDN
FE U FI| B 78 1528,245,0007c (Z &
T CE I RERMEHEEEBNER
F) B #43,403,0007T) ©

REMREREAERTPHEWA R
S AEBIWEMZEEHFE TR
HoNEMAEEE MR-

REXR > REEZ R KEWIERES G
ABHE24, 184,000 (CE - =ZF 1 B
#30,522,0007%) ° tboh s RERAKE
EzRAALEEBRIERARGEHEEASB
#50,373,000c (ZE =& | B
49,319,0007T) ©

BUERKREMBURERE"T
“HE+ZRAR=+t—BRZZE=F
T RA=+T—HLEFERNRENGEHF
BRI MEES o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

28. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND

216

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

Cash and bank balances comprise:

SO MBS HRRNGE @

28. WEMIRITHEFRREIRIFIR
1TE™M

RERIRITHEREE

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT

Cash at bank and on hand R1TRIRE 4R 717,173 599,378
Less: pledged bank deposits B BIRRIRTTER - (7,197)
Cash and bank balances B RIRTTHEER 717,173 592,181

Cash and bank balances comprise cash at bank and on
hand held by the Group and bank time deposits.

Bank balances are interest bearing at respective saving
deposits rate in the Hong Kong and PRC, and the
effective interest rates of the Group’s bank balances
range from 0.01% to 5.53% per annum in Hong Kong
and from 0.01% to 5.58% per annum in PRC. (2023:
0.01% to 5.53% per annum in Hong Kong and 0.01% to
4.50% per annum in PRC).

As at 31 December 2023, pledged bank deposits of
approximately HK$7,197,000 represents deposits
pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted to
the Group.

HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B2 A B2 5]
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4F#t

RERBRTEGEERNERFRE
RITHEEFERRERBITERSE

=+
o

RITEBRLEEERTEHZEN
ERMESE MAEEIRTHE
BHNERFENEESTEN F0.01
EZE553E  TFRENF0.01E
E558B (CE_=F . EEBN
F0.01EZE5.53E > T HPENF
0.01EZE4.50F) °

A ZE=F+"B=+—8"
#)7817,197,0007c Y E IR IR IRTT
FERIEIRE T RITUREE TR
EEBTHEZEM



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

28. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS (continued)

(a)

Cash and bank balances comprise: (Continueq)

The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances are
denominated in the following currencies:

GO M BImRRNEE @

28. RERIBITHEGREIRIFIR
TEH®

(a) BRERIRITEREE: (&

RERBITEFNREZERUT
HEHEEHE ¢

2024 2023

“ETHE BT =4

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BIEF 7T

Hong Kong Dollars o 23,706 26,657
Renminbi AR 672,725 565,241
Japanese Yen Hot 38 -
United States Dollars ET 20,704 283
717,173 592,181

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash and bank
balances with an aggregate amount of approximately
HK$675,255,000 (2023: approximately HK$575,341,000)
were which is not a freely convertible currency in the
international market. The government of the PRC has
implemented foreign exchange control and the remittance
of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange
restrictions imposed by the government of the PRC.

ATE_WME+"BE=+—0H>
AEERETRIBITHEGFLEN
A 18675,255,0007 (ZEZ=
£ B5575,341,0007T) & IEE
R P EHRBMNEE - h
BBFEEEBHIIESS > miE
LB EH P EEETHEBUN
B E R R H o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

28. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS (Continued)

218

(b)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

A MBIRRINEE &

28. B RIRITHEF KR EEIFIR

TER @)

(b) REBEFEBFREENRGEHIK

Convertible Lease
Borrowings notes liabilities Total
B ARREE HEaR B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T AT T BT
At 1 January 2024 R_Z2_WNE—RF—H 5,718,494 156,251 1,052,346 6,927,091
Changes from financing MERERES
cash flows 10,841 (3,324) (29,887) (22,370)
Other changes: Hihgg)
Early termination BRI LE - - (112) (112)
Disposal of subsidiaries BEETAT (622,684) - (1,008,088)  (1,630,772)
Others Hith (20,012) - - (20,012)
Derecognition of liabilities kR REFEESINKLE
component of convertible 2
notes - (166,232) - (166,232)
Recognition of liabilities Bk EFa B NHER
component of convertible
notes - 137,942 - 137,942
Exchange difference fERERE (149,615) - (10,311) (159,926)
Interest expense HMEMX 66,255 15,832 233 82,320
At 31 December 2024 RZE2Zm&E
+Z-B=+—H 5,003,279 140,469 4,181 5,147,929
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

28. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS (continued)

RO MBrRRIE @

28. RERIBITHEGREIRIFIR
TEH®

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) MEFBFREENAGGRHIEK @&
activities (Continued)
Convertible Lease
Borrowings notes liabilities Total
B THRRER HESE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BETT BT
At 1 January 2023 ATET=Z5—-A—-H 5,090,841 143,833 1,062,634 6,297,308
Changes from financing RERETEY
cash flows 683,009 (3,325) (36,800) 643,784
Other changes: HitEg) .
Others Hith 1,058 = = 1,058
Additions i S - 4,815 4,815
Exchange difference ERELR (118,718) - (29,351) (148,069)
Interest expense FER% 61,404 15,743 51,048 128,195
At 31 December 2023 ZZ=HF
+:H =+—H 5,718,494 156,251 1,052,346 6,927,091

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The credit period granted by the Group’s suppliers range from

30 days to 90 days.

The following is an aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

29. FE{TARTR B H fth FE 4 7R IR

HEBRTFEEBZEEHNF =+

HEh+H-

AERRBSHR RERQHRETZ
AR ZRE DFMT

2024 2023

—EME 2R

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

BT T BT T

0-60 days 0ZE60H 13,803 19,328
61-90 days 61ZE90H 266 1,318
91-120 days 91E120H 539 896
Over 120 days BiB120H 3,870 5,500
Trade payables FETBRFR 18,478 27,042
Other payables HMEA I 197,160 184,169
215,638 211,211
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Note

29.

220

s to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) &5 S M BREMEE @)

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 29. EfITERFR R EL M e FRIE (2
Other payables included the following items: HiEMHIESRE TN IER !
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Contract liabilities (Note c) a8 8aE (fisc) 162 121
Deposits received from customers BWREFREE 13,469 14,934
Receipts in advance FAW R RN 18,882 24,872
Other tax payable (Note a) HA 178 (ff5ta) 14,925 33,626
Staff salaries and welfare BIfsk@EF 32,423 49,269
Provision for termination benefits BIEBETES 12,970 6,177
Others (Note b) HAth (Mf5Eb) 104,329 55,170
197,160 184,169
Notes: BosE -
(a)  Other tax payable mainly includes value added tax payables. (@) HMEMRBEFZEGIEELIEER-
(b)  Others include interest payables, accrued expenses and other by HMSEECHE -EBNERRAEM
temporary receipts. UK
() Revenue recognized in relation to contract liabilities from () HBAEREEEEXZNSLSEMRAMN
wellness elderly care business SUA
Revenue of approximately HK$121,000 (2023: approximately BHEZZ_NMF+A=+—HItHF
HK$289,000) is recognized during the year ended 31 December E MBSy EEs08BRIANK
2024 related to carried forward contract liabilities at the A BIE121,000c (ZEZ=F | &
beginning of the reporting period. 7B 15289,0007T) ©
The Group has financial risk management policies in place to A& H B E M5B bR B R - LR
ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe. RETAE EARIREREERRAS -
HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED BUE 22 45 B 2 7]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO MBS HRRNGE @

30. BORROWINGS 30. &
2024 2023
—EMHE -
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Asset-backed Securities (Note a) EESFES (H5ta) - 75,197
Bank loans (Note b) RITEE (FisEo) 4,438,960 4,639,202
Loan from immediate holding company BEEERABIZER
(Note ¢) (MFzEe) 116,000 136,000
Loan from non-controlling interests JEERERER
(Note d) ) - 28,483
Other bonds (Note e) HifEs (Mizte) 448,319 198,020
Other loans (Note f) Hh & (f5Ef) - 77,007
5,003,279 5,153,909
Secured Bk 4,001,762 3,945,794
Unsecured IR 1,001,517 1,208,115
5,003,279 5,153,909
Carrying amount repayable: FEEZEREE
Within one year R—FERN 1,517,149 2,092,804
Over one year but less than two years BiE—FEREBIE
M 1,747,380 1,653,845
Over two years, but not more than 848 M B R A
five years EagcS 1,337,327 1,168,891
Over five years BiBhF 401,423 338,369
5,003,279 5,153,909
Analysed as: DER
Current mE 1,517,149 2,092,804
Non-current JERE 3,486,130 3,061,105
5,003,279 5,153,909

During the year, the Group settled borrowings amounting
to HK$4,784,408,000 (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$2,714,839,000).

RAEAER AEBECEEERLBIE
4,784,408,000c (Z_E_=&F+_H
=+—H : #5812 714,839,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

30. BORROWINGS (continued)

222

Notes:

(a)

At 31 December 2023, Asset-backed Securities (“ABS”)
amounted to HK$75,197,000 were fixed rate borrowings which
carry effective interest rates of 4.20% per annum.

At 31 December 2024, bank loans amounted to
HK$2,105,510,000 (2023: HK$1,802,606,000) are variable-rate
borrowings which carry effective interest rates ranged from 3.0%
to 6.1% (2023: 3.0% to 6.8%) per annum. The remaining bank
loans amounted to HK$2,333,450,000 (2023: approximately
HK$2,836,596,000) are fixed rate borrowings which carry
effective interest rates ranged from 3.6% to 5% (2023: from
3.40% to 5.40%) per annum.

At 31 December 2024, loan from immediate holding company
amounted to approximately HK$116,000,000 (2023:
approximately HK$136,000,000) are fixed rate borrowings which
carry effective interest rates ranged from 3% to 4.5% (2023: from
3% to 4%) per annum.

At 31 December 2023, loan from non-controlling interests
amounted to HK$27,503,000 were variable rate borrowings
which carry effective interest rate of 4.75% per annum. The
remaining loan from non-controlling interests amounted to
HK$980,000 were interest free.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

30. BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(e) At 31 December 2024, other bond which was listed on the Stock
Exchange on 31 October 2024 amounted to HK$448,319,000
(2023: HK$198,020,000) is fixed rate borrowing which carries
effective interest rate of 7% (2023: 6.50%) per annum.

(U] At 31 December 2023, several loans of other loans amounted
to HK$44,004,000 are variable-rate borrowings which carry
effective interest rate of 5.23% per annum. The remaining loans
of other loans amounted to HK$33,003,000 are fixed rate
borrowings which carry effective interest rates is 4.75% per
annum.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, certain borrowings of
the Group are secured by investment properties, property,
plant and equipment, pledged bank deposit, pledged lease
receivables, pledged paid-up capital of a non-wholly owned
subsidiary, pledged equity interest in an associate and future
rental receivables. For the details of the pledge of assets,
please refer to Note 41 to the financial statements.

The Group’s borrowings denominated in the following

SO MBS HRRNGE @

30. fE™ @)
GERRr)

e MIZEZHWFE+ZA=+—H'H
HESR _E_MNME+B=+—
HEZSRBA LT £ EABE
448,319,000 0 (ZE_=£F : BIE
198,020,0007%t) ZEEMEER > H
BREMNXATE (CE =% :6.50
[E) °

(f) N _E_=F+_B=+—8Hfth
BaH 2z ap BB 44,004,000
TANERNEER HEREMNEXS
523E - HEMBERPZRGFEREE
33,003,000t & EEHEXEHR HE
MREF| KR BA4.75E

RIE_NER_E_=ZF+"1
=t+—B AEBETERUKLEY
= ME -BMERRE BRFRITE
FoBEAREEERI  BIERIE
EWNBRABIZERER BIEFR—
B A B 2 AT MR R FEUR TR
T AMBERFZHE F2RMEB
HRMIEE41 o

FEBZEMUMTHERHE !

currencies:
2024 2023
—E-ME —EI=HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT 7T
Hong Kong Dollars g 132,631 219,980
Renminbi AR 4,422,329 4,231,144
UsD E=7T 448,319 702,785
5,003,279 5,153,909
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

31.

224

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 12 March 2019, in accordance with the terms and condition
of the 2014 CB, the Company entered into the extension
deed with the holder of the 2014 CB, Prize Rich Inc. (“Prize
Rich”) to extend the maturity date of the outstanding 2014 CB
in the principal amount of HK$166,232,000 by 5 years from
13 October 2019 to 13 October 2024, with all the terms and
conditions of the outstanding 2014 CB unchanged. On 23
May 2019, after passing the ordinary resolution to approve
the extension deed by the shareholders at the special general
meeting, the extension deed became effective. The 2014
CB was redeemed and new convertible notes with the same
terms and the Extended CB Maturity Date (the “2019 CB”) was
issued.

The 2019 CB in the principal amount of HK$166,232,000
(of which its fair value at the issuance date is approximately
HK$109,616,000) bears coupon rate at 2% per annum and is
convertible into shares of the Company at a conversion price
of HK$0.76 per share at any time following the issue date up
to the maturity date. At any time prior to the maturity date of
the 2019 CB, the Company is entitled to redeem in whole or in
part of the 2019 CB. Unless previously redeemed, converted or
purchased and cancelled, the 2019 CB will be redeemed on 13
October 2024. The 2019 CB carries interest, which is payable
annually in arrears or upon the conversion or redemption of the
notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

31. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

On 15 August 2024, the Company entered into the extension
deed with the holder of the 2019 CB, Prize Rich to extend
the maturity date of the outstanding 2019 CB in the principal
amount of HK$166,232,000 by 3 years from 13 October
2024 to 13 October 2027 (the “Extended CB Maturity Date”),
with all the terms and conditions of the outstanding 2019 CB
unchanged. On 26 September 2024, after passing the ordinary
resolution to approve the extension deed by the shareholders
at the special general meeting, the extension deed became
effective. The 2019 CB was redeemed and new convertible
notes with the same terms and the Extended CB Maturity Date
(the “2024 CB”) was issued.

The 2024 CB in the principal amount of HK$166,232,000
(of which its fair value at the issuance date is approximately
HK$137,942,000) bears coupon rate at 2% per annum and is
convertible into shares of the Company at a conversion price
of HK$0.76 per share at any time following the issue date up
to the maturity date. At any time prior to the maturity date of
the 2024 CB, the Company is entitled to redeem in whole or in
part of the 2024 CB. Unless previously redeemed, converted or
purchased and cancelled, the 2024 CB will be redeemed on 13
October 2027. The 2024 CB carries interest, which is payable
annually in arrears or upon the conversion or redemption of the
notes.

The convertible notes contain two components, liability, and
equity components. The equity component is presented in
The
fair values of the liability component and the equity conversion

equity under heading “convertible note equity reserve”.

component were determined at the issuance of the notes.

GO M BImRRNEE @
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

31. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

226

Movements of liability component of the notes for the year are

set out below:

1. AT AG

EiE @®)

RO MBrRRIE @

RREEEMONEFZEBEIIWT -

HK$’000
BT T
At 1 January 2023 N ZEZ=F—HF—H 143,833
Interest charged at an effective interest rate of RBEBBEFZF10.64EFEZFERZ
10.64% 15,7483
Interest paid BFE (3,325)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZ-ZEZ=F+"A=+—HBRk
—ZE_mE—B—H 156,251
Interest charged at an effective interest rate of RERFIZF10.64EstE 2 BHX
10.64% 13,305
Interest paid ENHE (3,324)
Derecognition of liabilities component of AR ESE R D& LS
convertible note (166,232)
Interest charged at an effective interest rate HERAESIEFEZFERE
of 8.46% 2,527
Recognition of liabilities component of MR ESEEHDNESR
convertible note 137,942
At 31 December 2024 RZE_MFE+"A=+—H 140,469
2024 2023
—E_ME —_F"=
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT
Analysed as: DER
Amount due within one year show under  RBIE&E FFARM
current liabilities —FRNEHZE5E - 156,251
Amount due after one year shown under 3E/;|L@J§\LIE—FFET
non-current liabilities N—FBEHz
TR 140,469 -
The fair value of the liability component of the convertible notes MR EEERH 22 2R EUR
is calculated using cash flows discounted at market interest 8.4BE (CE =4 :10.64E) 2 ™15

rate of 8.46% (2023: 10.64%).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

32. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 32. IREMIBEE, (AR

The following are the deferred tax assets and liabilities UTAREBAKRBEFECHIZIE

recognised and movements thereon during the current and ERMBEEMBEREEE) .
prior years:
Addition
upon  Recognised
acquisition in the

of consolidated

As at  asubsidiary statement of Exchange As at
1 January (Note 37)  profit or loss difference 31 December
e B — PR I 1
NEBZEM REEEER i
®—B—H (Hizk37) 2 ERESH =+-H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETR
2024 —E_mMFE
Deferred tax assets: RERBEE
Allowance for expected credit MERERKTZ
losses on finance lease receivable BHEERBRE 27,038 - (10,695) (688) 15,655
Deferred tax liabilities: EERESE !
Undistributed profits of an associate BEARZ R DEERT (15,356) - (3,464) 572 (18,248)
Revaluation, net of related BHTMNRAERITER
depreciation and amortisation B (37,329) - 1,841 1,196 (34,292)
(52,685) - (1,623) 1,768 (52,540)
(25,647) - (12,318) 1,080 (36,885)
2023 =
Deferred tax assets: BEEREEE
Allowance for expected credit MERERKZRZ
losses on finance lease receivable BHEERBRE 15,132 - 12,404 (498) 27,038
Deferred tax liabilities: EERESR:
Undistributed profits of an associate BERBZRKDERA (14,896) = (875) 415 (15,356)
Revaluation, net of related BEMNRARITER
depreciation and amortisation iy (38,757) (370) 743 1,055 (37,329)
(53,653) (370) (132) 1,470 (52,685)
(38,521) (370) 12,272 972 (25,647)
HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B3 PR 47 B2 )
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

32.

228

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)
(Continueqd)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

SO MBS HRRNGE @

32. RIERIBEE . (B8B) &

BUT 73 IR SE AR TR A R 2 0 AT LAPE 1 35
R :

2024 2023
—EME —=E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
AT T BT T
Analysed as: DER
Deferred tax assets R IEE E
Non-current JERE 15,655 27,038
Deferred tax liabilities RILRIBEE
Non-current JETR BN 52,540 52,685

No deferred tax has been provided in respect of the valuation
surplus relating to the hotel property for the year as the
Directors considered that there is no taxable flow of economic
benefits to the Group.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$160 million (2023: approximately
HK$60 million) available for offset against future profits.
Approximately HK$30 million (2023: approximately HK$20
million) of these tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely
in Hong Kong and approximately HK$130 million (2023:
approximately HK$40 million) will expire within 5 years under
other jurisdiction. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, dependent
upon the nationality and domicile of the foreign investors, a
5% to 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared
to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in the PRC. The requirement has become
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied
if there is a tax treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of
the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rates range
from 5% to 10%.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

32.

33.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)
(Continueqd)

Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries as
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

With regard to the Group’s investment properties in Hong
Kong, as none of them is held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale, the Group has not recognised any
deferred taxes on changes in fair value of the investment
properties as the Group is not subject to any income taxes on
disposal of its investment properties in Hong Kong.

SO MBS HRRNGE @

32. RIERIBEE . (B8B) &

AR SR ERRREREEE
R MEMYERMEERNRR 2R
RAGHED] BULI B S M RK
Pt P B B B A B 2 R 5t A P g (G
ZERMERBRZIEERIAFEL &
=

BERAAEEREBZREYE ARnE
BB 0 IF LABE 2 B SR P B B R AEE W
DR EREVERARSBEN—ER
FEATHA MIEBBHE  BARE
EEHEERBEYEL AFHER
R ZEBUKREINEBZRE
MEQDERENEELEIRE

SHARE CAPITAL 33. g7
Number of shares Nominal value
KRiP&E & 4s
2024 2023 2024 2023
—E_ME —ET=fF T NE =
HK$’000 HK$'000
BAETT BT T
Authorised: AERA
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each SREEBK0ITZ
ZER 3,000,000,000 3,000,000,000 300,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid: EZFTRHERK
At beginning of year and B KRBAE
the end of year 1,712,329,142 1,712,329,142 171,233 171,233
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

34.

230

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted by shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting held on 26 April 2013
(the “Scheme”). The Scheme became effective on 26 April
2013 and, will remain in force for 10 years and was expired on
26 April 2023. There is no share option scheme adopted by the
Company since the expiration of the Scheme.

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide the Company with a
flexible means of giving incentive to, rewarding, remuneration,
compensating and/or providing benefits to the participants
for their contribution or future contribution to the Group
and to strengthen the many long-term relationships that the
participants may have with the Group. Eligible participants
means any person falling within any of the following classes (a)
any employee; (b) any business associate of the Company or
any subsidiary; (c) any other group or classes of participants
which the board, in its absolute discretion, considers to have
contributed or will contribute, whether by way of business
alliance or other business arrangement, to the development
and growth of the Group.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Scheme and other share
option schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed
10 per cent of the total number of shares in issues as at the
date of adoption of the Scheme (i.e. 118,832,914 Shares of the
Company) unless the Company obtain a fresh approval from
the shareholders.

No option shall be granted to any participant such that the total
number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted and to be granted to such participant under
the Scheme and any other option schemes of the Company
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
shall exceed 1 per cent. of the total number of shares in issue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Under the Scheme, where the Board proposes to grant any
option to a participant who is a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the Company,
or any of their respective associates, which would result
in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options already granted and to be granted (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to him or her under the
Scheme and any other option schemes of the Company in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant; (i)
representing in aggregate more than 0.1 per cent. of the total
number of Shares in issue; and (ii) having an aggregate value,
based on the closing price of the Shares at the date of each
grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000, such proposed grant of
options must be approved by the shareholders of the Company
in general meeting with all connected persons of the Company
abstaining from voting (except that any connected persons may
vote against the relevant resolution at such general meeting
provided that his intention to do so is stated in the circular
to the shareholders of the Company). Any vote taken at the
meeting to approve the grant of such options must be taken on
a poll.

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted and the
option to which the offer relates shall be deemed to have
been granted when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance
of the offer, duly signed by the grantee with the number of
share in respect of which the offer is accepted clearly stated
therein, together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is
received by the Company within 1 month from the offer date.

The subscription price of share options granted under the New
Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board and
notified to a participant in the offer letter and shall be at least
the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the offer date; (b) a
price being the average of the closing prices of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the 5
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (c) the
nominal value of a share on the offer date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

34.

35.

232

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and any other share options
schemes of the Company shall not exceed 30 per cent. (or
such higher percentage as may be allowed under the Listing
Rules) of the total number of shares in issue from time to time.

No option has been granted under the Scheme since its

SO MBS HRRNGE @

. BIRESE @

HREMBERES I REAQTEAHE
thEsRES B HM A RTEZAA
BREETEMETZRNMEE &Z
TEBBFREZEITRMEHEI0% (K
EHRRPISEAEFZBRBAEDLL) ©

BEtB ML R BRI

adoption.
DEFERRED INCOME 35. IEIEUN &
2024 2023
—EomE —=—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BIEF T
At 1 January w—A—H 15,402 215,049
Additions g - 40,567
Addition upon acquisition of a subsidiary ~ WEE—RIMB AT B>
(Note 37) @0 (FEE37) - 953
Recognised in profit or loss HR 18 7 P9 B 5% (105) (75,481)
Transfer to liabilities classified as held for BB FIFEFAIHEEERS
sale (Note 11) (MFE11) - (160,020)
Exchange difference bE R =R (507) (5,666)
At 31 December BR+=-B=+—H 14,790 15,402
Analysed as: DEEA
Non-current JEmED 14,790 15,402

Deferred income represents the government grants received
by the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC in connection
with certain income-generating projects. There are no
unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attaching to
these grants. Deferred income of approximately HK$105,000
(2023: approximately HK$75,481,000) was recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and included in “Other
operating income”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of the non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Company that has material non-controlling

A MBIRRINEE &

36. JEIERR RS

TR ARTDEAEANFERER
BIEFEEEZERNB AT ZFE

interests:
Place of Total comprehensive
incorporation Proportion of Proportion of (expenses)/income
and principal ownership interests voting right held by allocated to
Name of place of held by non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling Accumulated
subsidiary business interests interests interests non-controlling interests
ALK FIERERAT RS FENIEERERR
HEAR BB TEEEHE FiB L hl PR RAELLA 28 (B%) hE REtIEERER
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
“®CmE CZEC=f ZB-ME C“BC=f ZS_WNE "B-=fF ZSCRE "T°=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
Guangdong Sino Rock Tyco PRC N/A 28% N/A 28% N/A 49,212 N/A 362,843
Construction Co., Ltd.*
ERPERENERARAR hEAREAE
Canton Greengold Financial PRC 42.24% 48.17% 42.24% 48.17% 31,270 33,703 605,291 574,021
Leasing Limited*
EBRGeHENEARAR hEAREAE
Guangdong Tiannuo Investments PRC 49% 49% 49% 49% 5,187 15,136 142,167 196,842
Co., Limited*
ERXERERRAT hEAREAE

Summarised financial information in respect of the Company’s
subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests are
set out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts after fair value adjustments and before
intragroup eliminations.

*

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

234

Guangdong Sino Rock Tyco Construction Co., Ltd.*

SO MBS HRRNGE @

36. JEEERER @

BERPEHRHMERAMRAE (MhER

(“Sino Rock”) )

2023
- HK_$EOO
BT T
Current assets MENE E 538,767
Non-current assets EREBEE 2,547,919
Current liabilities eI (118,261)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (1,689,301)

Equity attributable to owners KNBVER AEEER
of the Company 920,970
Non-controlling interests JEFERER 358,154
Revenue** W A 95,710
Profit for the year rEEEF 202,220

*

*x

For identification purpose only

In which revenue from external customers for the year amounted

to HK$95,710,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) 36. FEIERGtER @)

Guangdong Sino Rock Tyco Construction Co., Ltd.*

(“Sino Rock”) (Continued)

B &

SO MBS HRRNGE @

BERPEHRHMERAMRAE (MhER

2023
HK$’000
BEFIT
Profit for the year attributable to: FERHES
Owners of the Company KRBIEB A 145,599
Non-controlling interests of Sino Rock RaRBZIEERER 56,621
202,220
Other comprehensive expenses, Htt2mBAx  BFRRE .
net of income tax:
Exchange difference arising on translation of ME BN EBREL CERELE !
foreign operations:
Owners of the Company KRBEB A (22,917)
Non-controlling interests of Sino Rock RESRMZIEERER (8,912)
(31,829)
Total comprehensive income attributable to: FEEWRBELERE .
Owners of the Company KABEB AN 122,682
Non-controlling interests of Sino Rock PERMZIEERER 47,709
170,391
Net cash inflow from operating activities REEBIREMA SRR 30,809
Net cash inflow from investing activities KEZEBIRERAFE 179,418
Net cash outflow from financing activities MEEEFIRE ML FER (260,233)
Net cash outflow REMEFRE (50,006)

*

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

236

Canton Greengold Financial Leasing Limited* (“Greengold

Leasing”)

SO MBS HRRNGE @

36. JEEERER @

ERGEMEVERRLE (MR

g))

2024 2023
—E-mE B2 =

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT

Current assets MBNE E 2,208,729 1,877,388

Non-current assets FERBEE 3,322,821 3,219,641

Current liabilities i II=NE (1,462,225) (1,241,314)

Non-current liabilities ERBEE (2,754,847) (2,674,003)
Equity attributable to owners of the KRBVEB A

Company FE(EHE 700,187 607,691

Non-controlling interests JEERER 605,291 574,021

Revenue A 369,160 356,366

Profit for the year KEERF 122,292 98,054

Profit for the year attributable to: FERANES

Owners of the Company KRBEB A 68,025 46,866
Non-controlling interests of Greengold MmEHEZ

Leasing JEVER R 54,267 51,188

122,292 98,054

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

Canton Greengold Financial Leasing Limited* (“Greengold

36. JEEERER @

SO MBS HRRNGE @

ERGEMEVERRLE (MR

Leasing”) (Continued) g1) &
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
AT T BT T
Other comprehensive expenses, HthtemMx
net of income tax: FRiR1E
Exchange difference arising on translation &85 ¥ 7565
of foreign operations: EEZERER:
Owners of the Company KRBIEB A (7,771) (6,710)
Non-controlling interests of Greengold SEHEZ
Leasing FRIERR (22,997) (17,485)
(30,768) (24,199)
Total comprehensive income FEZ2EKG
attributable to: R .
Owners of the Company KRBIEB A 60,254 40,156
Non-controlling interests of Greengold SEHEZ
Leasing JEER R 31,270 33,703
91,524 73,859
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests [ IEIERR 2 (F 2 B B 44,107 38,407
Net cash outflow from operating activities K& EBIRS AL B4 (149,392) (282,009)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing BREZTHRE (Rd)
activities AR RE (2,777) 5,444
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing METERE (RE)
activities M RER (360,871) 33,383
Net cash inflow/(outflow) RERA R P28 211,202 (243,182

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 47 &M BRI EE @)

36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued) 36. FFiERRED @

Guangdong Tiannuo Investments Co., Limited* BRXEREERAT (TXH))
(“Tiannuo”)
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
AT T BT
Current assets BB E 108,371 157,461
Non-current assets EREBEE 216,123 231,823
Current liabilities ViR (59,300) (105,008)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE - (16,093)
Equity attributable to owners of the KABHE AELER
Company 123,027 131,203
Non-controlling interests JEERER 142,167 136,980
Revenue A 194,868 265,750
Profit for the year REE R 21,514 37,352
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: FERMN,/ (BB 78
Owners of the Company KABHEB A 11,770 16,993
Non-controlling interests of XERBREZ
Tiannuo’s subsidiary JEER R (1,564) 2,057
Non-controlling interests R R 11,308 18,302
21,514 37,352
& For identification purpose only > ErEEmE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

Guangdong Tiannuo Investments Co., Limited*
(“Tiannuo”) (Continued)

SO MBS HRRNGE @

36. JEEERER @

BERXHREARAR (TXH) (#@)

2024 2023
—E-mE —s—-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
AT T BT
Other comprehensive expenses, HthtemMx
net of income tax: FRiR1E
Exchange difference arising on translation & BN EFEBREEE
of foreign operations: ZHERERE
Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIEZZ =N (4,409) (4,866)
Non-controlling interests of KM EAT Z
Tiannuo’s subsidiary JEER RS (321) (114)
Non-controlling interests JEFER R (4,236) (5,109)
(8,966) (10,089)
Total comprehensive income/(expenses) 2EKE FX)
attributable to: MAREER B
Owners of the Company KABHEE A 7,361 12,127
Non-controlling interests of XERBREZ
Tiannuo’s subsidiary JEER R (1,885) 1,943
Non-controlling interests IR 7,072 13,193
12,548 27,263
Dividend paid to non-controlling interest FFEERERSNZRE 7,887 4,341
Net cash inflow from operating activities K EHIREMA TR 77,757 3,580
Net cash outflow from investing activites B EEBIRS AL B4 (6,347) (1,003)
Net cash outflow from financing activites BREEBIR S ML TR (44,986) (9,916)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) RERA R P28 26,424 (7,339)

*

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

37. BUSINESS COMBINATION

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
Guandong XRIS Technology Co., Ltd. as at the date of

acquisition were as follows:

37. ¥ 6 #

SO MBS HRRNGE @

BERFHEELERATDNRWBERAZA
HAIBERBBENAABENT !

Notes HK$’000
b5 BT
Intangible assets B EE 20 4,464
Trade and other receivables FEUWRBR Fh e Lt & 5 FE W =R 18 12,015
Cash and bank balances IREMIBITH R 310
Property, plant and equipment ME--BERZE 18 21
Deferred income IR JE U 2 35 (953)
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBE(E 32 (370)
Trade payables and other payables FET BR R R EL i FE (T =018 (1,710)
13,777
HK$’000
BT
Goodwill arising on acquisition: WHELEZHE .

Consideration HE 9,111
Non-controlling interests JEIERE 6,751
Less: Total identifiable net assets at fair value 78 | AN B Ol H BB ELLLE (13,777)
Goodwill EES 2,085

Net cash outflow on acquisition of KEERAHESEREERAR

Guandong XRIS Technology Co., Ltd.: RERE .

Consideration paid HEXZNY 4,710
Less: cash and bank balances acquired B W 23R R IRT AR ER (310)
4,400

Since the Acquisition, Guangdong XRIS Technology Co., Ltd.
(“XRIS”) contributed revenue of HK$3,528,000 and profit
for the year of HK$2,137,000 included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

240 HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B2 A B2 5]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

37.

38.

BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

Had the acquisition of Guandong XRIS Technology Co., Ltd
been completed on 1 January 2023, revenue for the year
from continuing operations would have been HK$4,033,000,
and profit for the year from continuing operations would have
been HK$498,000. The pro-forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue
and results of operations of the Group that actually would
have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on
1 January 2023, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

In determining the pro-forma revenue and profit had been
acquired at the beginning of the current year, the directors of
the Company calculated depreciation of property, plant and
equipment based on the recognised amounts of property, plant
and equipment at the date of the acquisition.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 6 December 2023, the Vendor and the Purchaser entered
into the disposal agreement, pursuant to which the Vendor
conditionally agreed to sell, and the Purchaser conditionally
agreed to acquire, 72% equity interest in Sino Rock. The
disposal of 72% equity interest in Sino Rock was completed on
1 March 2024.

The final consideration was adjusted to approximately
HK$1,057,533,000 at the Completion Date. Upon completion,
the Sino Rock Group ceased to be subsidiaries of the
Company and the financial results of the Sino Rock Group
were no longer consolidated into the financial statements of
the Group. Accordingly, the Group ceased to engage in the
business of the Sino Rock Group, representing the entirety
of the Group’s industrial parks and property development
business, upon completion.

SO MBS HRRNGE @

37.

38.

HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED 8 3% ¥ B 4 B 23 v)

E¥BEEaH»®
W EELE s e

W BEEF RS ZREERAE
RIE_=F—A—HEB &xFE
REFEREEZNRARABE
4,033,00070 MAFERBFELE
EFNRBRAE BB 408,000 FBE
ERNEMRRBZA EA—TE BRI
BR_ T _=—F—-A—HRR &~EHE
ERIRENRARCE LS TAE
TERRREZNTER

REEEFEVEWRBNEES RAKR
BAE AADESEREDE -BER
RENWEONEEIER/AETNE
BB MR BBIITEE o

HEMBATE

RWIEZ=F+"AHAH BEFHEEH
SN ERE B EFERERER
HE MEAFBERHERRKEHERR
T2%RGHE - HE R ERRT2% MR AT
SER_Z_MNE=B—HTM®°

BEEAREBEREREOHBEEZNAK
1,057,533,0007c ° HE TR E > FEk
NEBFrBATEERZENB AT > F
ERENERNYBEEXEIBRAER
M BIRTRGEE AR AL STALUEE
B AEBRRITERSTFERNERN
2B AEENEREXERYES
RE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

242

The net assets of the Sino Rock Group disposed of at the H

Completion Date were as follows:

BEMT

SO MBS HRRNGE @

38. HEMB AT (&)

ERMERRTHRAREEZEE

Completion Date

SRk B H#A
HK$’°000
BET T
Investment properties KEYE 1,409,437
Property, plant and equipment L EN =N 341,358
Rental deposits HERE 5,772
Right-of-use assets FREEE 835,975
Inventories E5 952
Trade and other receivables FE U BR R R EL i FE W =R 18 46,062
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries A EE NGRS 322,362
Cash and bank balances BERIRTTHEER 140,851
Trade and other payables FET R R EL A & (S 7R 18 (43,415)
Tax payables PRI & (1,823)
Lease liabilities HE&E (1,008,088)
Borrowings EEN (622,684)
Deferred income R S UL o (158,279)
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary B —REE RN B AR RIE (70)
Net assets disposed of FTHEESERE 1,268,410
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARZRF
HK$’000
BT T
Cash consideration REAE 1,057,533
Costs and expenses upon the disposal RHERZBRAKRES (29,729)
Net proceeds received from the disposal RHEERPTEMIE SRR 1,027,804
Net assets disposed of FTHEEEZE (1,268,410)
Exclusion of non-controlling interests MERIEIE R RS 355,145
Reclassification of exchange reserve to RHERFERFESN
profit or loss upon disposal NEEER (74,438)
Reclassification of other reserve to RHEREEMEEER
profit or loss upon disposal DEEER 8,927
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWRBARZEAF 49,028
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

39.

Net cash inflow arising from the disposal of subsidiaries

A MBIRRINEE &

38. HEMB AT (&)

HEWBABNEENRERAFE

HK$’000
BT
Cash consideration BERE 1,057,533
Income tax expenses RHERZMARES (29,729)
Net proceeds received from the disposal R ERFESMIEFE 1,027,804
Less: Ve
Cash and bank balances disposed of FTH &R & RIBIT4 R (140,851)
Cash inflow arising from the disposal RHEEFEENRERA 886,953
Less: A
Repayment of amount due to the RHEEREERNRANES
fellow subsidiaries upon the disposal NEFIE (322,362)
Net cash inflow arising from the disposal RHEREENIRERAFE 564,591

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

From continuing and discontinued operations

The Group as lessor

The Group’s property rental income earned during the year
was approximately HK$30,075,000 (2023: approximately
HK$81,257,000). All of the properties held have committed
tenancies 1 to 15 years (2023: 1 to 18 years).

39. EEMNZH

REFBREERCRIEEEZER

FEEBLHAN

AEBRFARYERESHESWBAD
7B #530,075,000T (Z2Z=5F . 1978
#%81,257,0007t) o PRIFEB D MZER K
R—ZEF+HEFE(CE=F:—Z+N
F)HEBINHEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

39.

40.

244

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(Continued)

From continuing and discontinued operations (Continueq)

The Group as lessor (Continueqd)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted

SO MBS HRRNGE @

39. ZEMHOTEHE &

REFELEERBRILL

FTEFBHAN (B)

ZEH (&

REER AEBEEBEBRITHNZAREK

with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments: REBRETWOT

2024 2023
—E_MmE it

HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT
Within one year R—FR 15,048 73,553
In the second year RE_Z 11,502 55,705
In the third year RE=F 10,061 41,576
In the fourth year R IUE 9,453 22,827
In the fifth year RERE 9,429 138,732
Over five years AELE 54,349 67,278
109,842 274,671

As at 31 December 2023, the future minimum lease payments
include the amount of HK$258,896,000 attributable to
discontinued operations.

COMMITMENTS

From continuing and discontinued operations

RIS =F+"A=+—H 'k kK&
BHETEERENEORIELE 2%
£ BEAY B 15 258,896,0007T ©

40. K=

RERFESERBRIEKEZER

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
AT T BT T
Commitments for the acquisition of the BAVE - -BE KM
property, plant and equipment R KR 9,555 115,866
Commitments for the investment cost of A I F AT R E A A
establishment of subsidiary 2R 510 30,175
Commitments for the investment cost of  ZEERAMEXERE
development of industry Park in Danzao Bl AR 2 A - 572,891

As at 31 December 2023, the commitments include the
amount of HK$572,891,000 attributable to discontinued
operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

41. PLEDGED OF ASSETS

42,

From continuing and discontinued operations

Assets with the following carrying amounts have been pledged

to secure general banking facilities to the Group or borrowings

of the Group (see Note 30):

RO MBrRRIE @

41, EEIKF
RERECSRORIERS Y 2%
EENTHEEAENEEDERUER

BIAERN—RIETRENAER
WEE (35E30) :

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

AT T BT T

Investment properties (Note 17) ‘wEYE fisE17) 330,916 296,357

Property, plant and equipment L EN =Y 42,266 341,893

Pledged bank deposits BIEFIRITEMR - 7,197

Pledged lease receivables SRR EEEE W 3,788,252 3,580,931

Pledged paid-up capital of a non-wholly BIRRIEL2ENE

owned subsidiary NEZEBEER - 223,322
Pledged equity interest in an associate BIEERBE AT

PN 98,487 99,002

Note: As at 31 December 2023, certain future rental receivables

from several properties are pledged for a loan facility of
RMB285,000,000 in total from China Development Bank.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A)

On 5 December 2017, the Group obtained a three-year
loan amounting to HK$90,000,000 from the Group’s
immediate holding company, Prize Rich Inc., which
is unsecured and with a fixed interest rate at 3% per
annum. On 3 December 2020, the Group entered into
the Supplemental Loan Agreement (I) with Prize Rich
Inc., in which the loan repayment period for the loan
was extended by two years to December 2022. On 29
September 2022, the Group entered into Supplemental
Loan Agreement (Il) with Prize Rich Inc., in which the loan
repayment period for the loan was further extended by
three years to March 2025. Interest rates and all other
terms and conditions of the loans remained unchanged.
The loan was fully repaid on March 2025.

st . RZ2Z=F+ZA=+—8H"
1%%%%*%%@%5&%%
BRMAERIT BENMELES
AR #285,000,0007T °

42. PR 5

A RIE—tHE+ZHHEAB> ¢$
ERAEBR2EEZZRAT
Prize Rich Inc.> ER{§—%AH
FEH 90,000,000t EF > 5
ERABRBEH BEFEMNEARS
FE3% MZZEZEF+ZH=
B €58/ amzE— BEZ
EREBEMEETEF+Z
B-WRZE-_-_HFhhBZ +h
H > &% H BPrize Rich Inc.B&E
BREWME_ ZERE— S L
—FEEE_RAF=ZRoFER
1 {a] LAt 168 TR e A B 4 15 R o
EEERERZZEAE=R2

.

REEE-

N
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

246

A)

B)

C)

D)

(Continued)

In October 2021, the Group obtained another three-year
loan amounting to HK$46,000,000 from Prize Rich Inc.,
which is unsecured and with a fixed interest rate at 4%
per annum. On 14 October 2024, the loan amounting
to HK$20,000,000 was repaid and the Group entered
into a supplemental loan agreement with Prize Rich Inc.,
in which the loan repayment period for the remaining
balance amounting to HK$26,000,000 was extended
to 15 March 2025 with a fixed interest rate of 4.5%
per annum. On 10 March 2025, the Group entered into
another supplemental loan agreement with Prize Rich
Inc., in which the loan repayment period for the above
loan remaining loan was extended to 15 March 2026 with
the interest rate remaining unchanged.

The interest on loan from Prize Rich Inc. during the
year was approximately HK$4,458,000, which has been
included in the finance costs of the Group.

On 28 February 2019, the Group obtained a loan
amounting to HK$980,000 from a non-controlling interest,
T-Box Union (China) Financial Holdings Investments
Limited (“T-Box Union (China)”). The loan was fully repaid
on January 2024.

In 2021, the Group’s obtained a three-year loan
amounting to RMB25,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$27,503,000) from a non-controlling
interest, Guangdong Nanhai Chemical Factory Co., Ltd.*
(“Nanhai Chemical Factory”). The effective interest rate of
the loan is 4.75% per annum. The loan was fully repaid on
June 2024.

The interest on loan from Nanhai Chemical Factory during
the year was approximately RMB560,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$607,000), which has been included in
the finance costs of the Group.

The Group’s non-wholly owned subsidiary, Foshan
Foshan Nanhua Logistics Co., Limited*, signed lease
agreements for office space and parking lot with Nanhai
Chemical Factory, with lease terms from December
2018 to November 2023 and from December 2022 to
November 2025 respectively. On 24 December 2024, the
two parties agreed to terminate the lease agreement in
advance on 31 December 2024.

For identification purpose only
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42, AR H @)

A)

B)

C)

D)

€=

A ZE—FE+R KAEEMB
Prize Rich Inc. N8B —%7%A
H=FpB146,000,0000E
M ZERAERE BEMNE
AEBFA% N _ZE_MNE+A
+UH AEBEBEEEREKE
20,000,0007t » H & Prize Rich
Inc.s] I BRERMBZE EAHEH
fREE A 1526,000,0007T Y 38 FR HA
EEE_Z_AFE=A+HAH"
EEFEABELILSFD N _E
“HE=ZA+H ' KEEEPrize
Rich Inc.5]i S — M EmRER
FEoR LR ERNERBR
EREEZZE_RFEF=ZB+EHH>
MR IFRE o

JB BPrize Rich Inc. BRI ERZ
M B A B4 458,00070° Bt A
KEBZHMHEIZH

A TE-AE_BA -+ N\H &
EER—EIEERER ER
(hE cHEAREERAR
~E (TR (hE) ) BESER
£ 28 A 15980,000TT B EE
ER_Z_NE—HB2EESB-

ATE T —FoAEERIEER
D -BEREEECTARER
AT (TEEEITEMK) BE—
E5H=F1 AR 25,000,000
7t (FRZE R 4978 127,503,0007T)
4.75% B EEHRENRZZT M
FERNBEREEERE

FEESEIAmETINERZ
M B#H AR ¥560,0007 (FBZE R
#)AB1&607,0007T) » Bt ARE
b

AEENEZEREN T AR —
BUTSELCERAERARNLERESE
{ETRmETHRAENFESZA
Epz HEHSIAEZZE—N
FE+-_BE_ZE_=—F+—8BM!
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

E)

F)

*

On 6 December 2023, the Group and Guangdong Nanhai
Holding Group Co., Ltd.* (“Nanhai Holding”), a controlling
shareholder of the Group, entered into a disposal
agreement pursuant to which the Group conditionally
agreed to sell, and Nanhai Holding conditionally agreed
to acquire, 72% equity interest in Guangdong Sino
Rock Tyco Construction Co., Ltd* (“Sino Rock”) at
a consideration of RMB972,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,063,000,000). The transaction
constituted connected transaction under the Listing
Rules.

On 18 January 2024, the resolution proposed at the
first special general meeting was passed regarding the
proposed disposal of 72% equity interest in Sino Rock.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of Directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

SO MBS HRRNGE @

42, AR H @)

E)

F)

R =F+ZARH FTE
EHEAEENERKRE-ERmS
BEREBRRRE (TEEE
BBl B THEERRRERR
BRARRE (MMREHRR) 72%
R - RIEZ S mEER
BEUAEARKI72,000,000
7t (FBE R 474 #1,063,000,000
o) WEEEREN P ERRT72%
-t R ZEA EHRATH
RAEZR 5 o

STECME-B+NBRTZ
E-RBREEIAT LIRS R
EEREBRBRETERN
72%B D BEERBB-

FEEERASHM

EFhEMFEEEASRER
ZEEIE

2024 2023

—EZmE “EBT=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BB T T BET T

Short-term employee benefits DHEE =T 3,566 4,333
Post-employment employee benefits R KE S &2 F) 127 717
3,693 5,050

The remuneration of Directors and key management
personnel is proposed by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends.

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

248

Particulars of the Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023 are as follows:

RO MBrRRIE

43. FEEB AT

FRBZEEMBARNNR T _MF

— ==

F+TR=+—RHZ=E

= _ =
wr:
Place of
incorporation or
registration/ Issue of shares
Name of subsidiary operation (Ordinary shares) Paid up capital Percentage held Principal activity
Bl e BETREZHE
WEARRE Y (Ei8H) BHREA REEMM TTEH
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
b 153 “ECCE 143 - Jaet3 b 152 St =
Direct subsidiary
China Investments Limited Hong Kong 200 200 HK$1,000 HK$1,000 100 100 Investment holding
PEEZRHERAT % #51,0007 A1,0007 REnk
Indirect subsidiaries
HEHEAR
Canton Greengold Financial Leasing PRC N/A N/A RMB1,100,000,000 RMB 964,645,944 57.76 51,58 Financial leasing
Limited (Note 2)
BRESRERERRAT (M32) e TER TER AE#1,100,000,0007 AR 964,645 9447 HEHE
China Industrial Development Limited Hong Kong 2 2 HKS2 HKS2 100 100 Investment holding
PETEERERAT e Ao #lor REnk
CIH Finance Investments Holdings Limited Hong Kong 1,031,144,004 1,031,144,004 HK$1,031,144,004 HK$1,031,144,004 100 100 Financial Investment
PERZERRERRAR &# #151,031,144,00470 #11,081,144,0047 SREE
Greenswood Property Limited Hong Kong 2 2 HK$2 HKS2 100 100 Property investment
ERNERRLT e Ao #lor NERE
Guangdong Sinsing Technology Limited (Note 3)  PRC N/A N/A RMBS,000,000 RMB5,000,000 100 100 Big data business
EREENRERLF (W33) e TER TER B 5,000,000 B 5,0000007 REBEH
Guangdong Yibaifian Comprehensive Health PRC N/A N/A RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000 100 100 Comprehensive service
Technology Ltd" (Note3) elderly care
ERSARARRREERAT (M3) hE TEB TER B 10,000,0007 AR 10,0000007 BERARE
Guilin Plaza Hotel (Note 1) PRC N/A N/A US$10,400,000 US§10,400,000 100 100 Hotel business
ERBAES (1) 1@ TER TER 10,400,000% 7 10,400,000% 7 BEEH
Foshan City Nanhai Canmanage Investments ~ PRC N/A N/A RMBA54,289,600 RMB54,289,600 100 100 Property investment
Holdings Limited" (Note 2)
BUTBRERERRAF (M32) e TER TER B H 54,289,6007C AR 54,289,600 NERE
Southern Limited Hong Kong 10,000 10,000 HK$10,000 HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding and
property investment
BRERAT B2 #%10,0007 #%100007 RERRRNERE
Tally International Traders Limited Hong Kong 8,000 8,000 HK$800,000 HK$800,000 100 100 Property trading
AHERRRARAT B2 #1%800,0007 %%800,00070 HESE
Zhong Chuang Xing Ke (Shenzhen) PRC N/A N/A RMB150,000,000 RMB150,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Investments Company Limited# (Note 3)
PRIBR (R REERAT (W) e FER TER B 150,000,007 B 150,000,000 REnk
Guangdong Taoyuan Comprehensive Health PRC N/A N/A RMB50,000,000 RMBS50,000,000 100 100 Comprehensive elderly
QOperation Company Limited* (Note 3) care service
BREIGARREZELERAE (23) +& TEB TER B 50,000,0007 AR 50,0000007 BZLRARE
Foshan City Nanhai District Taoyuan PRC N/A N/A RMB100,000 RMB100,000 100 100 Comprehensive elderly
Nursing Home Company Limited* (Note 3) care service
BUmRERHEEERERAS ()  hE FER TER AE#100,00070 AEH10000070 BERARE
Foshan City Nanhai District Taoyuan Welfare PRC N/A N/A RMBS,000,000 RMB5,000,000 100 100 Comprehensive elderly
Center Co., Ltd" (Note 3) care services
BUTHERHERAROERAR () & TEB BB E#5,000,0007% BR5,000,0007 BERARE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continved) & A MBI R EE &

43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 43. FEMB AT &
Place of
incorporation or
registration/ Issue of shares
Name of subsidiary operation (Ordinary shares) Paid up capital Percentage held Principal activity
EihvER3e BETREZHE
HEAA4HE 2EMY (BER) BYRERE HERAM IEEH
2024 2028 2024 2023 2024 2023
“EomE Bk it S 3 3 —EpE S
Foshan City Nanhai District Taoyuan PRC N/A N/A RMBS,100,000 RMBS, 100,000 100 100 Comprehensive elderly
Rehabilitation Hospital Co., Limited* (Note 3] care services
BUTHERHERERRARAR () & TER TER AR%5,100,0007 BR185,100,0007 BERARE
Guangdong Tiannuo Invest,rms Co., Limited* ~ PRC N/A N/A RMB102,040,863 RMB102,040,863 51 51 Manufacture and sale of
(Note 3) emulsion industrial
detonating cord
ERRFRERRAT (Hx3) e TER TER AR%102,040,8637 ARM102,040,86370 RERBELIEET
TER%
Foshan Nanhua Logistics Co., Limited* (Note 3) PRC N/A N/A RMB500,000 RMB500,000 51 51 Transportation and
carriage services
for general and
hazardous goods
BUBLERERAT (H:3) e TER TER B 500,007 AR 5000007 EGREBRER
ERENES
Guangdong Nanhong Ming Bao Co., Limited ~ PRC N/A N/A RMBA50,000,000 RMB50,000,000 51 51 Manufacture and sale of
(Note 3) (formerly known as: Guangdong emulsion industrial
Nanhong Chemical Co., Limited) detonating cord
ERBIREERAT (H:3) i TER TER AR 50,000,000 B 50,00000070 HERFELIEEN
(3178 BRELEIERAR) T2EEZR
Foshan City Shangyi Intelligent Technology PRC N/A N/A RMB300,000 RMB300,000 51 51 Comprehensive elderly
Co., Limited* (Note 3) care services
BT LEREREERAT (WD) i TER TER B 300,007 AE300,0007T EZLRARE
Zhaoging Huaxin Blasting Engineering PRC N/A N/A RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000 51 51 Givil explosives
Co., Limited* (Note 3) engineering
2ETECRRIRERAT (ik3) HE TER TER B 10,000,007 AR 10,000,007 BRI

Note 1: The subsidiary is wholly foreign owned enterprise established
in the PRC.

Note 2: The subsidiary is registered as Sino-foreign equity/joint
venture company in the PRC.

Note 3: The subsidiary is wholly owned enterprise established in the
PRC.

Note 4: The subsidiary is foreign owned enterprise established in the
PRC.

A

The subsidiary was set up during the reporting period

For identification purpose only

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

MisE cZMB AT RN PEMIHINEE
B

W2  ZMB AR RPEEMBFINE
B/ Gfrh#e

Mz  ZMBABANPEMINBEER
FEEBEEALHE-

BisE4 © =% M B A B) 2 B o B Y 37 B9 51 g
B

M ZMBRABNIRE A ML

BB LRDREEANERIFERNE
AR BINAREEZEHES -

EXRFAINETEETIAEEAERZE
BHNEEREEREZLIATIMBLR
A -EZRRFAINEMMNBATZEH
RERFRBBNR TR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

44,

250

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 7 January 2025, Canton Greengold Financial Leasing
Limited* (“Greengold Leasing”), entered into the Finance
Leases with two limited liability companies incorporated in
PRC, an independent third party, to obtain the ownership
of the Assets from these companies at an aggregate
consideration of RMB130,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$138,060,000), which would be leased back to these
companies for their use and possession for a term of 5 years.

On 8 January 2025, Greengold Leasing, entered into the
Finance Lease with a limited liability company incorporated
in PRC, an independent third party, to obtain the ownership
of the Assets from this company at a consideration of
RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$31,830,000),
which would be leased back to this company for its use and
possession for a term of 82 months.

On 10 January 2025, Greengold Leasing, entered into the
Finance Lease with a limited liability company incorporated
in PRC, an independent third party, to obtain the ownership
of the Assets from this company at a consideration of
RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$31,830,000),
which would be leased back to this company for its use and
possession for a term of 5 years.

On 16 January 2025, Greengold Leasing, entered into the
Finance Lease with two limited liability companies incorporated
in PRC, an independent third party, to obtain the ownership
of the Assets from these companies at a consideration of
RMB70,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$74,340,000),
which would be leased back to these companies for their use
and possession for a term of 5 years.

On 20 January 2025, Greengold Leasing, entered into the
Finance Leases with a limited liability company incorporated
in PRC, an independent third party, to obtain the ownership of
the Assets from this company at an aggregate consideration of
RMB45,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$47,835,000),
which would be leased back to this company for its use and
possession for a term of 6 years.

HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B2 A B2 5]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

44. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

(Continueqd)

On 22 January 2025, Greengold Leasing, entered into the
Finance Lease with a limited liability company incorporated
in PRC, an independent third party, to obtain the ownership
of the Assets from this company at a consideration of
RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$53,550,000),
which would be leased back to this company for its use and
possession for a term of 12 months.

On 23 January 2025, Greengold Leasing, entered into the
Finance Lease with a limited liability company incorporated
in PRC, an independent third party, to obtain the ownership
of the Assets from this company at a consideration of
RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$32,130,000),
which would be leased back to this company for its use and
possession for a term of 5 years.

On 23 January 2025, Greengold Leasing, entered into the
Finance Lease with a limited liability company incorporated
in PRC, an independent third party, to obtain the ownership
of the Assets from this company at a consideration of
RMB25,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$26,775,000),
which would be leased back to this company for its use and
possession for a term of 5 years.

On 28 January 2025, Greengold Leasing, entered into the
Finance Lease with a limited liability company incorporated
in PRC, an independent third party, to obtain the ownership
of the Assets from this company at a consideration of
RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$32,130,000),
which would be leased back to this company for its use and
possession for a term of 5 years.

On 13 February 2025, Greengold Leasing, entered into the
Finance Lease with a limited liability company incorporated
in PRC, an independent third party, to obtain the ownership
of the Assets from this company at a consideration of
RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$53,300,000),
which would be leased back to this company for its use and
possession for a term of 6 years

GO M BImRRNEE @

44. IREHEFEE @&
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

44. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

(Continued)

On 20 February 2025, Greengold Leasing, entered into the
Finance Lease with two limited liability companies incorporated
in PRC, an independent third party, to obtain the ownership
of the Assets from these companies at a consideration of
RMB35,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$37,380,000),
which would be leased back to these companies for their use
and possession for a term of 3 years.

On 5 March 2025, Greengold Leasing, entered into the Finance
Lease with a limited liability company incorporated in PRC, an
independent third party, to obtain the ownership of the Assets
from this company at a consideration of RMB30,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$32,100,000), which would be
leased back to this company for its use and possession for a
term of 5 years.

On 13 March 2025, Greengold Leasing, entered into the
Finance Lease with a limited liability company incorporated
in PRC, an independent third party, to obtain the ownership
of the Assets from this company at a consideration of
RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$32,220,000),
which would be leased back to this company for its use and
possession for a term of 5 years.

On 13 March 2025, Greengold Leasing, entered into the
Finance Lease with a limited liability company incorporated
in PRC, an independent third party, to obtain the ownership
of the Assets from this company at a consideration of
RMB22,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$23,628,000),
which would be leased back to this company for its use and
possession for a term of 5 years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

44. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

(Continueqd)

On 14 March 2025, the Purchaser — Guangdong Zhongchuang
Xingke Asset Management Co., Ltd.* (BR P A ER & EEIE
AR/AT), Guangdong Nanshan Pharmaceutical Innovation
Research Institute* (EERZEmMEILUEZEAIFAZER), a private
non-enterprise institution (R ##IE 1> 2= B 1) established in the
PRC, Mr. Zhou Rong, the Vendors (three limited partnership
established in the PRC, an independent third party) and the
Target Company entered into the Equity Transfer Agreement,
pursuant to which, among others, the Purchaser conditionally
agreed to purchase from the Vendors, the Sale Shares,
representing 51% of the equity of the Target Company, at
the total Consideration of RMB54,435,300 (equivalent to
approximately HK$58,464,000), subject to adjustment (if any).

On 24 March 2025, Greengold Leasing, entered into the
Finance Leases with the Lessee, to obtain the ownership of
the Assets from the Lessee at an aggregate consideration of
RMB90,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$96,480,000),
which would be leased back to the Lessee for its use and
possession for a term of 80 months.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

254

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

SO MBS HRRNGE @

45. B ATMB R AR KR #iE

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Non-current asset ERENEE
Investment in subsidiaries RRBABZIRE 23,607 23,607
Current assets MENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUW T B A B T IE 1,519,742 1,551,716
Pledged bank deposits EIERIRTTEM - 7,117
Cash and bank balances B4 RIRTTAS R 3,500 1,168
Other receivables Hh U R IE 2,484 308
1,525,726 1,560,309
Current liabilities Pk =N
Borrowings EEN 217,200 834,490
Convertible notes AR ER - 156,251
Other payables HMMENRIE 1,103 8,242
218,303 998,983
Net current assets REEEREE 1,307,423 561,326
Total assets less current liabilities B ERGRFEE 1,331,030 584,933
Capital and reserve % 75 R & 18
Share capital &N 171,233 171,233
Reserves M 191,448 221,437
Equity attributable to owners KANBVEB A
of the Company = 362,681 392,670
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Loan from immediate holding company EBEEZZER AT Z B - 90,000
Loan from subsidiaries B B ZEM 379,561 102,263
Borrowings EEA 448,319 =
Convertible notes AR ER 140,469 =
968,349 192,263
1,331,030 584,933

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 March

2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

HE XIANGMING
Al ER
Director

EF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO MBS HRRNGE @

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 45. x2S IR R R L% =

46.

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Movement in the Company’s reserves EREHEEZES
(Accumulated
Convertible losses)/
Share Contributed note equity retained
Premium surplus reserve earnings Total
AR RE (R&ti518)
Rt BEARE kG RBEF @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 January 2023 RIZZI=F—HF—H 725,199 - 56,616 (516,958) 264,857
Loss for the year rEEHE - - - (43,420) (43,420)
At 31 December 2023 and RZB_=%+-A=+-H
1 January 2024 R-E-_mE—A—H 725,199 = 56,616 (560,378) 221,437
Loss for the year AEERBE - - - (51,087) (51,087)
Cancellation of share premium BUHRMDRE (725,199) 164,821 - 560,378 -
Derecognition of equity OERESERT AN
component of convertible &SR
notes - - (56,616) 56,616 -
Recognition of equity OERESERTOH
component of convertible B
notes - - 28,290 - 28,290
Dividends RE = (7,192) = = (7,192)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE_ME+-A=+—H - 157,629 28,290 5,529 191,448

NATURE AND PURPOSE OF RESERVES

(i) Share premium

46. EBZMHEKRAEN

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue
of shares at a price in excess of their par value per share
and is not attributable but may be applied in paying up
unissued shares of the Company to be issued to the
shareholders of the Company as fully paid bonus shares
or in providing for the premiums payable on repurchases

of shares.

On 26 June 2024, the shareholders of the Company
approved cancelling the Share Premium Account and
transferring to the Contributed Surplus Account which
may be utilised and applied by the Directors in such
manner as they consider appropriate from time to time in
accordance with the applicable laws of Bermuda and the

Bye-laws.

(ii) Statutory reserves

Statutory reserve represents general reserve and
enterprise expansion fund which are set up by
subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC by
way of appropriation from the profit after taxation in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC. The rate of appropriation of the general reserve
and enterprise expansion fund is subject to the decision
of the board of Directors of the PRC subsidiaries, but
the minimum appropriation rate for the general reserve
is 10% of the profit after taxation for the each year, until
when the accumulated balance reaches 50% of the
total registered capital of the subsidiary. Pursuant to the
relevant laws and regulations of the PRC, if approvals are
obtained from the relevant government authorities, the
general reserve can be used in setting off accumulated
losses or to increase the capital, and the enterprise

expansion fund can be used to increase the capital.

(i)

(ii)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

46. NATURE AND PURPOSE OF RESERVES
(Continued)

256

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Hotel property revaluation reserve

Hotel property is revalued annually based on independent
professional valuations on an open market value basis.
Changes in the values of hotel property are dealt with
as movement in the hotel property revaluation reserve.
If the reserve is insufficient to cover a revaluation deficit,
the excess of the deficit is changed to the profit and loss
account.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of the foreign subsidiaries of the Company
whose reporting currency is not Hong Kong dollars. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies of foreign currencies set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Convertible note equity reserve

Convertible note equity reserve represents the value of
the unexercised equity component of convertible note
issued by the Company recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy of Convertible note set out in Note
3 to the consolidation financial statements.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve represented additional contributions made
by the shareholders of the Company’s subsidiaries and,
in case of an acquisition of an additional non-controlling
interest of a subsidiary, the difference between the cost of
acquisition and the non-controlling interest acquired.

Other reserve

Other reserve comprises of gain on partial disposal of
interest in a non-wholly owned subsidiary, Sino Rock.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the remaining balance
after the cancellation of the entire amount standing to the
credit of the share premium account after elimination of all
the accumulated losses.

HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B2 A B2 5]
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46. FEZMHERBEDN =

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

BIEYMEEGEE

BIEMESENRRAARATE
BEETZBIEXEEE M-
BIEMEBEEENASYEE
fhfEETY R E2EEIE - § 5 E
BIEZE F LTS E UBEEG R
B -RBAREBEZEZREBEETR
R0BR-e

BE 52 i

ERREECEMAERBRELAT
DUOFBEE 250985 F RE M
BRRFFELEZERERR - Z#EHE
REBESYBRRM I =
INEE G SR TFREIE ©

AR RIEEG S

DR EEEDEEIE S AN
BT Z PR ESFARITER AP
MZBE DREGFEMBRE
Py sESE P £/ T A R e g
B PRERMBY S ST EURFEST o

BARGHAE

ERNE A EERYNSIN - NS g
ERZEBINHE » R EWE—RE
bt B AR BN IR mAVIE
TR A SR U BB IR I R
ZERR

Hithf# 6

HttEBEEHE—R—ANEA
Bl a2 B e 2 W o

RN
BEXREERBEME R HIR

BoEHEHRDEERNEZEHETS
TRRRRBIERER



Five Years Financial Summary

TR B 22

Year ended 31 December

HET_A=+-HLEE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
%R S S “EC=E —ETmE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BETR  BMTT  EETR #ETRn BNTR
(Restated)
(B7)
RESULTS KA
Revenue XD 293,555 520,846 685,331 821,423 798,962
Profit/(loss) for the year from FEREZ AEERT/
continuing operations 518) (65,508) 10,878 40,054 (23,251) 82,633
Discontinued operations BRIMREER
Profit/(loss) for the year KEERA/ (B (530) 9 2,770 179,187 41,366
Profit/(loss) for the year KEERNBEEA
attributable to owners LR/ (F8) (83,871) (15,500 (21,535) 26,930 60,717
Earnings/(loss) per share REF/ (5E)
From continuing and REFELSER
discontinued operations B&ILEE
Basic S YIN (HK4.90 cents) (HK0.91 cents) (HK1.26 cents) HK1.57 cents HK8.55 cents
Diluted %E (HK4.90 cents) (HK0.91 cents) (HK1.26 cents) HK1.57 cents HK3.55 cents
Year ended 31 December
BE+ZA=1+—HLEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
2% B "B B=f ZB_MfF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETR  BMTR  BETR  #ETR  BETR
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERER
Total assets BEME 6,105,371 8,299,701 9,069,585 9,755,709 7,484,410
Total liabilities BEEE (4,117,039) (6,107,245) (6,976,800) (7,636,412) (5,647,165)
Non-controlling interests RS (843,935) (1,008,167) (1,079,754) (1,139,265) (766,496)
Equity contributable to owners ~ AAFHEE AEGES 1,144,397 1,189,289 1,013,031 980,032 1,070,749

*

operations.

The results for the year 2022 have been restated for the discontinued

*

TR THEZEBENRERILEEEXETE
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Particulars of Major Properties  FEYIFEZFR

Particulars of major properties held by the Group as at 31 December R _ZE_NE+_HA=+—H ' &x&EEFH

2024 are as follows: ZEEMEERFMRUWT !
Total gross
Effective Category floor area Expected year
Name/Location % held of lease Type on completion Stage of completion
ERFA TEREZ TR
o8/ At HEER i BEEme  ERBR  =HER
(sa.m.)
S
Properties for own use
BAYF
Unit No.1, 14 & 15 on 5th Floor, 100 Medium Commercial 429 Existing N/A
Wing On Plaza,
62 Mody Road,
Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon.
NERDHE 100 45 GRS 429  BE TR
3 186257
KR E55E
1 14R15E
12th to 13th Floor of 100 Medium Commercial 3,048 Existing N/A
Phase 1

Guangdong - Hong Kong
Finance & Technology Park
Guicheng Street,

6 Jinke Road,

Nanhai District

Foshan City,

Guangdong Province,

The PRC

mEERE 100 HH GES 3,048 HE TEA
Il EER
ER#E D RK6H
BECRBREIE
12-1318
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Particulars of Major Properties (Continued)

FEYEER @

Total gross
Effective Category floor area Expected year
Name/Location % held of lease Type on completion Stage of completion
ERFA TEREZ TR
28/ ot HEER i wEEmm  ERBR  =HER
(sq.m.)
SN
Properties for own use (Continued)
ERAYWE (&)
Zhen An Village, Luo Le Village, 51 Medium Industrial 466,165 Existing N/A
Li Zhi Village,
Lian Tang Town,
Gao Yao District, Zhaoging City,
Guangdong Province,
The PRC
hEERE 51 i I% 466,165 BAE @R
EETRER
ERE

BZH - BYM - BRE

HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B £ B2 5] 259
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Particulars of Major Properties (Continued)

Effective Category
Name/Location % held of lease
ERFE
218/ 8 Btk HAEER

FEYEER @

Total gross
floor area
Type on completion Stage
TEREZ
il wEEmm  ERBR
(sq.m.)
SN

Expected year
of completion
TR

SR EH

Investment properties

17th Floor 100 Medium
Sing-Ho Finance Building,

166/168 Gloucester Road,

Hong Kong.

BiE 100 #H
ELE

166/1685%%

EMHBAEITE

1st to 11th Floor of 100 Medium
Phase 1

Guangdong - Hong Kong

Finance & Technology Park

Guicheng Street,

6 Jinke Road,

Nanhai District

Foshan City,

Guangdong Province

The PRC

hEERE 100 #H
Il TR g R

ERATB e RE6T

BESRBMREIE

1-1118

Guilin Plaza, 20 Li Jiang Lu 100 Medium
Guilin, Guangxi,

The PRC.

FR B R 7 AT R BR 100 HH#
20 EAE LB R

260 HING YIP HOLDINGS LIMITED B P2 A R 2 7
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Commercial 112 Existing

GES 112 HA

Commercial 15,818 Existing

GES 15,818 HA

Hotel 29,746 Existing

IS 20746 BH

N/A

&R

N/A

&R

N/A

&R
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